629 LECTURE NOTES IN ECONOMICS AND MATHEMATICAL SYSTEMS

Michaela Isabel Höhn

Relational Supply Contracts

Optimal Concessions in Return Policies for Continuous Quality Improvements



Lecture Notes in Economics and Mathematical Systems

629

Founding Editors:

M. Beckmann H.P. Künzi

Managing Editors:

Prof. Dr. G. Fandel Fachbereich Wirtschaftswissenschaften Fernuniversität Hagen Feithstr. 140/AVZ II, 58084 Hagen, Germany

Prof. Dr. W. Trockel Institut für Mathematische Wirtschaftsforschung (IMW) Universität Bielefeld Universitätsstr. 25, 33615 Bielefeld, Germany

Editorial Board:

A. Basile, H. Dawid, K. Inderfurth, W. Kürsten

For further titles in this series: http://www.springer.com/series/300

Relational Supply Contracts

Optimal Concessions in Return Policies for Continuous Quality Improvements



Dr. Michaela Isabel Höhn WHU-Otto Beisheim School of Management Burgplatz 2 56179 Vallendar Germany michaela.hoehn@whu.edu

This publication is based on a dissertation at WHU-Otto Beisheim School of Management.

ISSN 0075-8442 ISBN 978-3-642-02790-1 e-ISBN 978-3-642-02791-8 DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-02791-8 Springer Heidelberg Dordrecht London New York

Library of Congress Control Number: 2009932419

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2010

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilm or in any other way, and storage in data banks. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the German Copyright Law of September 9, 1965, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Violations are liable to prosecution under the German Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

Cover design: SPi Publisher Services

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

Foreword

This book considers a supply chain consisting of one buyer and one supplier. The parties interact over a long time horizon. While the horizon may not be infinite, the parties do not know exactly how long their relationship will last. In each period, the buyer faces stochastic demand and must procure materials from the supplier before demand is realized. Inventory does not carry over from one period to another. The returns from this business depend on the quality of the product, which evolves randomly. However, the parties have some influence on how the quality changes by exerting effort. All benefits from higher quality accrue to the downstream buyer. One issue to consider then is how to induce the supplier to exert effort to improve quality when she does not reap a direct benefit.

Transactions between the parties are governed by an explicit contract that calls for the buyer to pay a predetermined amount per unit and for the supplier to compensate the buyer for unsold units – i.e., returns are allowed. Two contract forms are considered, which differ in how returns are managed. The first is a quantity flexibility contract which calls for the supplier to refund the purchase price on returned units fully, but limits what fraction of the order can be returned. The second is a buy-back contract under which any quantity can be returned but the buyer will only receive a partial refund of the purchase price. Thus, they are both partial returns policies: Quantity flexibility contracts allow returns of part of the order for the full price, while buy backs allow return of the entire order for part of the purchase price.

It is assumed that regardless of the contract form, these explicit contracts are court-enforceable. Effectively, this means that a third party can verify the amount purchased by the buyer and the amount sold to end customers. The third party could consequently determine the financial transfers required by the explicit contract and further verify whether the appropriate transfers have been made.

These assumptions on contract enforceability are fairly reasonable in reality and commonly made in the literature. A partial returns contract, however, does nothing to induce quality-related effort by the supplier. Furthermore, it may be hard for a third party to evaluate whether the buyer or supplier exerted effort in a given period or whether the failure to improve effort was due to chance, despite both players exerting heroic amounts of effort. An outsider may also be unable to properly measure the supply chain's gains from improved effort. Note that these may all be obvious to the buyer and supplier. The important factor is that they cannot be easily measured by a disinterested outsider. It is these concerns that keep the parties from being able to sign an explicit formal contract on exerting effort in sharing the resulting gains.

This leads to the introduction of relational contracts. These are informal agreements that potentially call for transfers or other considerations between the parties that are not enforceable by court. Payments, however, will get made because the parties find it in their interests to do so. Stated another way, a relational contract creates a set of deviations from the formal contract that the parties are willing to carry out because they prefer continuing the informal arrangement to keeping to the formal agreement or abandoning the relationship altogether.

We see three real strengths in this book. The first is the analysis of relational contracts. This is an understudied topic in the supply chain literature. This is not the first research in this area. As mentioned in the book, Plambeck and Taylor were the real pioneers in this area. That said, there has been surprisingly little follow work. Not every interaction within a supply chain is specified by a formal contract vetted by lawyers. Many things are agreed to on an informal basis and it is worth exploring how these informal side agreements relate to formal contracts.

A second feature of this work is the attempt to place its findings in the context of industry practice. To some extent, this is related to the proceeding observation that real supply chains rely on trust and partnerships. The industry studies discussing how firms interact are valuable and do a very solid job motivating the following model.

Finally, we appreciate the comparison of quantity flexibility and buy-back contracts. Again, this is something the literature has been lacking. Too much research has focused on one contract form over another and not carefully considered whether their intricacies matter. It is easy to show that either contract works well in a one period newsvendor setting. That rough equivalence may not carry over to more complex settings but little is known about how the setting impacts the relative performance of the contracts.

Overall, the thesis presents a significant contribution to the Operations Management and Supply Chain Management literature as well as industry practice as outlined in the case study chapter.

June 2009

Arnd Huchzermeier and Martin Lariviere

Contents

| 1 | Intr | oduction | 1 |
|---|------|--|----|
| | 1.1 | Motivation and Objectives | 1 |
| | 1.2 | Structure | 3 |
| | 1.3 | Transactional vs. Relational Procurement | 3 |
| | 1.4 | Relational Procurement in Practice | 7 |
| | | 1.4.1 Consumer Goods Industry | 8 |
| | | 1.4.2 Automotive Industry | 10 |
| 2 | Lite | rature Review on Supply Chain Contracts | |
| | 2.1 | Introduction to Supply Chain Contracts | |
| | | 2.1.1 Supply Chain Structure | |
| | | 2.1.2 Classification of Contracts | |
| | | 2.1.3 The Newsvendor Model | |
| | | 2.1.4 Contract Types | 25 |
| | 2.2 | Quantity Flexibility Contract | 31 |
| | 2.3 | Buy-Back Contract | 32 |
| | 2.4 | Quantity Flexibility vs. Buy-Back Contract | 33 |
| 3 | Rela | ational Contracts | |
| | 3.1 | The Concept | |
| | 3.2 | The Economists' Approach | |
| | 3.3 | Review of Operations and Supply Chain Management Literature | 43 |
| | 3.4 | Analytical Tools | 46 |
| | | 3.4.1 Game Theory | 46 |
| | | 3.4.2 Dynamic Programming | 50 |
| 4 | Rela | ational Contracts and Optimal Quantity Flexibility | |
| | 4.1 | The Quantity Flexibility Model | |
| | 4.2 | Model Analysis | |
| | | 4.2.1 Nomenclature | |
| | | 4.2.2 Discounted Expected Profits | 59 |
| | | 4.2.3 Self-Enforcing Contract | 60 |
| | | 4.2.4 Total Expected Discounted Profit with Perfect Coordination | 61 |
| | | | |

| | | 4.2.5 | Total Expected Discounted Profit under | |
|---|------|---------|--|------|
| | | | an Optimal Relational Contract | . 62 |
| | | 4.2.6 | Convergence | |
| | | 4.2.7 | A Simple Optimal Relational Contract | . 68 |
| 5 | Rela | ational | Contracts and Optimal Buy-Back Price | 77 |
| | 5.1 | The B | uy-Back Model | 77 |
| | 5.2 | Mode | Analysis | 78 |
| | | 5.2.1 | Nomenclature | 79 |
| | | 5.2.2 | Discounted Expected Profits | 80 |
| | | 5.2.3 | Self-Enforcing Contract | |
| | | 5.2.4 | Total Expected Discounted Profit with Perfect Coordination . | 82 |
| | | 5.2.5 | Total Expected Discounted Profit under | |
| | | | an Optimal Relational Contract | . 82 |
| | | 5.2.6 | Convergence | 83 |
| | | 5.2.7 | A Simple Optimal Relational Contract | . 84 |
| 6 | QF | vs. Buy | -Back Contract in Buyer-Supplier Relationships | 89 |
| | 6.1 | | ruction and Analysis of Equivalent Contracts | |
| | | 6.1.1 | Construction of Equivalent Contracts | 89 |
| | | 6.1.2 | The Leeway for Contract Adaptation: A Comparison | |
| | 6.2 | Nume | rical Results | 93 |
| | | 6.2.1 | Impact of Buyer's Profit Share | 94 |
| | | 6.2.2 | Impact of Realized Demand | . 98 |
| | | 6.2.3 | Impact of Market Characteristics | 99 |
| | 6.3 | Summ | nary | .101 |
| 7 | Cas | e Study | : Supplier Relationship Management | |
| | at V | olkswa | gen Group | |
| | 7.1 | Volks | wagen Group | |
| | 7.2 | Key E | Ilements of Supplier Relationship Management | |
| | | 7.2.1 | Supplier Collaboration Platform | 104 |
| | | 7.2.2 | Supplier Management Models | 105 |
| | | 7.2.3 | Incentives and Breach of Trust | 105 |
| | | 7.2.4 | Contracts | 106 |
| | | 7.2.5 | Quality | 106 |
| | | 7.2.6 | VWGroupSupply.com | |
| | | 7.2.7 | Sustainable Development | |
| | 7.3 | Outlo | ok | 108 |

| 8 | Conclusion and Outlook | 109 |
|-----|------------------------|-----|
| Re | ferences | 111 |
| Ind | lex | 119 |

List of Figures

| The key transition from open-market negotiations to collaboration | |
|---|---|
| Relationship evolution in the US auto industry | |
| The basic one-period supply chain model | 20 |
| The trust game | 36 |
| | 50 |
| | 38 |
| Private vs. public offers: relative share of trades initiated | |
| by private offers | 41 |
| The relevance of long-term relations: cumulative | |
| | 40 |
| | 42 |
| Evolution of average effort over time | 42 |
| Succession of events for the quantity flexibility model | 56 |
| State transition from quality level x to quality level z | |
| in the finite, discrete state space \mathcal{X} | 61 |
| | |
| benefit from current quality level | 74 |
| Succession of events for the buy-back model | 78 |
| Leeway for contract adaptation: a comparison of QF and | |
| buy-back contract | 91 |
| | ~ - |
| | 95 |
| • 1 | 05 |
| | 75 |
| $(r = 8, c = 3, k = 0.5, \Delta = 0.9)$ | 96 |
| | OEMs' purchasing philosophies Relationship evolution in the US auto industry The basic one-period supply chain model Payoffs from defection (D), cooperation (C), and punishment (P) Private vs. public offers: relative share of trades initiated by private offers The relevance of long-term relations: cumulative frequency of trades in relationships of different length in the C and the ICF condition The effort consequences of contingent contract renewals: Evolution of average effort over time Succession of events for the quantity flexibility model State transition from quality level <i>x</i> to quality level <i>z</i> in the finite, discrete state space \mathcal{X} Connection between termination probability and cost benefit from current quality level Leeway for contract adaptation: a comparison of QF and buy-back contract Leeway for contract adaptation when Δ takes a low value ($r = 8, c = 3, k = 0.5, \Delta = 0.1$) Leeway for contract adaptation when Δ takes a medium value ($r = 8, c = 3, k = 0.5, \Delta = 0.5$) Leeway for contract adaptation when Δ takes a high value |

| 6.5 | Supplementary transfer payment when Δ takes a low value |
|------|---|
| | $(r = 8, c = 3, k = 0.5, \Delta = 0.1, D_t = 0)$ |
| 6.6 | Supplementary transfer payment when Δ takes a medium |
| | value ($r = 8, c = 3, k = 0.5, \Delta = 0.5, D_t = 0$) |
| 6.7 | Supplementary transfer payment when Δ takes a high |
| | value ($r = 8, c = 3, k = 0.5, \Delta = 0.9, D_t = 0$) |
| 6.8 | Supplementary transfer payment when D_t takes a low |
| | value ($r = 8, c = 3, k = 2, \Delta = 0.5, D_t = 0$) |
| 6.9 | Supplementary transfer payment when D_t takes a high |
| | value with $D_t < Q$ $(r = 8, c = 3, k = 2, \Delta = 0.5, D_t = 0.9Q)$ 99 |
| 6.10 | Supplementary transfer payment when D_t takes a high |
| | value with $D_t \ge Q$ $(r = 8, c = 3, k = 2, \Delta = 0.5, D_t \ge Q)$ |
| 6.11 | Supplementary transfer payment when k takes a low value |
| | $(r = 8, c = 3, k = 0.5, \Delta = 0.9, D_t = 0)$ 100 |
| 6.12 | Supplementary transfer payment when k takes a medium |
| | value ($r = 8, c = 3, k = 1, \Delta = 0.9, D_t = 0$)100 |
| 6.13 | Supplementary transfer payment when k takes a high |
| | value ($r = 8, c = 3, k = 2, \Delta = 0.9, D_t = 0$)101 |
| 7.1 | Volkswagen group's supplier collaboration platform104 |

List of Tables

| 1.1 | Different terms for the continuum of governance modes | 4 |
|-----|--|----|
| 1.2 | Characteristics of buyer-supplier relationships | 6 |
| 6.1 | Leeway for contract adaptation: QF vs. buy-back contract | 94 |
| 7.1 | Incentives for maintaining long-term buyer-supplier relationships1 | 06 |

Symbols

| <i>a</i> . | Buyer's effort for quality in period t |
|----------------------|--|
| a_{bt} | Supplier's effort for quality in period t |
| a _{st} b | |
| | Buy-back price Production cost |
| С | |
| c _b | Buyer's cost from effort in period <i>t</i> |
| C_S | Supplier's cost from effort in period t |
| D_t | Demand realization in period <i>t</i> |
| δ | Discount factor |
| Δ | Quantity flexibility |
| e_{bt} | Buyer's decision to execute the informal transaction at the end of |
| | period t |
| e _{st} | Supplier's decision to execute the informal transaction at the end of |
| | period t |
| F_{xz} | Continuous distribution function of L_t with support $[\underline{l}_{xz}, \overline{l}_{xz}]$ where |
| | $\underline{l}_{xz} < \overline{l}_{xz}$ |
| g | Goodwill cost |
| G | Continuous distribution function of D_t |
| Ybt | Buyer's outside option in period <i>t</i> |
| Yst | Supplier's outside option in period <i>t</i> |
| H^t | Public history of the game at the beginning of period t |
| L_t | Buyer's cost benefit from quality transition in period t |
| L(x,z) | Expected value of L_t given $(X_t, X_{t+1}) = (x, z)$ |
| p_t | Supplementary transfer payment in period <i>t</i> |
| $P_{xz}(a_s, a_b)$ | Probability for a transition from state $X_t = x$ to state $X_{t+1} = z$, |
| | given efforts a_s and a_b |
| Q | Production quantity |
| r | Retail price |
| S | Salvage value |
| t | Period |
| τ_{bt} | Buyer's decision to transact in period t |
| τ_{st} | Supplier's decision to transact in period t |
| WA | Wholesale price of the quantity flexibility contract |
| Wb | Wholesale price of the buy-back contract |
| 0 | 1 |

- \mathcal{X} Finite, discrete state space reflecting quality
- X_t Initial quality level in period t
- ξ_t Degree of reduction of exploitable quantity flexibility in period *t*
- ξ_t Degree of buy-back price reduction in period t

Chapter 1 Introduction

In buyer-supplier relationships, firms often expect a level of performance and adaptability that goes well beyond contractual requirements. In fact, supply relations are often governed by so-called relational contracts. These are informal agreements sustained by the value of future cooperation. Although relational contracts persist in practice, research on these types of contracts is only emerging in Operations and Supply Chain Management. This treatise studies a two-firm supply chain, where repeated transactions via well-established supply chain contracts and continued quality-improvement efforts are governed by a relational contract. We are able to characterize an optimal relational contract, i.e., to develop policies for supplier and buyer that structure investments in quality and flexibility in a way that no other self-enforcing contract generates higher expected joint surplus. For this purpose, we study an infinite horizon dynamic game with Markovian dynamics modelling the stochastic influence of the firms' actions on quality. We examine both quantity-based (quantity flexibility contracts) and price-based returns (buy backs) mechanisms. Hence, a second goal is to compare the performance of different returns mechanisms in the context of relational contracting.

1.1 Motivation and Objectives

Repeated supply chain interactions are often governed by so-called relational contracts. These are informal agreements sustained by the value of future cooperation. Or, like Baker et al. (2002) put it, relational contracts describe "informal agreements and unwritten codes of conduct that powerfully affect the behavior of individuals". For example, firms undertaking a long-term business relationship often expect a level of performance and flexibility that goes well beyond contractual requirements. A formal contract may provide a reasonable starting point here. But the key to success will be the ability of the supply chain partners to adapt to specific circumstances without incessantly insisting on contractual agreements. In the same vein, the literature on vertical supply contracting suggests that adaptability is a key feature of successful long-term relationships (Williamson 1985).

Researchers in Supply Chain Management (SCM) have proposed a number of contracts that coordinate the supplier selling to a newsvendor in a single period

model (see Cachon 2003 and Chen 2003 for surveys on supply chain coordination with contracts). However, long-term buyer-supplier relationships, which offer many opportunities for informal adaptations, have been neglected for a long time. Only recently, researchers have given increased attention to studying relational contracts in supply chain settings, taking into account that real-world supply chain contracting often takes place over long periods of time involving both formal and informal aspects (Debo and Sun 2004; Ren et al. 2006; Tunca and Zenios 2006; Plambeck and Taylor 2006; and Taylor and Plambeck 2007a,b).

The treatise at hand deals with formal and relational aspects of procurement. The goal is to view supply chain contracts in the context of a relational contract environment, where both parties of a two-firm supply chain repeatedly invest in quality-improvement efforts.¹ In particular, the focus lies on quantity flexibility (OF) contracts in the spirit of Tsay (1999) and Tsay and Lovejoy (1999a) and buyback contracts (Pasternack 1985), and the question to which extent the inclusion of relational aspects alters contract design. QF and buy-back contracts are designed to optimize total supply chain profit in a one-period setting by granting to the buyer a certain right to return unsold units to the supplier. In our model, repeated interactions and joint responsibility for quality improvement introduce dynamics into the contracting model, which affect the parameters of the supply chain contract employed. That is, in each period the firms transact, the buyer may informally offer the supplier an adaptation of the supply chain contract to incentivize quality-improvement efforts. This is in sharp contrast to the one-period setting, where such informal promises could never be sustained or where, technically speaking, the only enforceable contracts are court-enforceable ones (Bolton and Dewatripont 2005). Since QF and buy-back contracts differ in the returns mechanism - quantity-based in the case of the quantity flexibility contract and price-based in the case of the buy back a second research question is to understand how an initial contract choice affects adaptability and maintenance of the supply relationship in the future.

According to these research questions, the contributions of our research head for two directions. A first goal is to provide a theoretical framework to study the interplay of formal and informal aspects of a supply relationship. This involves describing optimal action strategies and the impact on the economic outcome for each party involved. Second, the developed framework should inform optimal contract choice.

- **Contribution 1** *Provide a framework for optimal design of QF and buy-back contracts in a relational contract setting.*
- **Contribution 2** *Compare the performance of QF and buy-back contracts in the context of relational contracting.*

The results are established in a general and broadly applicable setting. Dynamic game theory helps enlighten the effect of repeated interaction on contract design,

¹Zhu et al. (2007) highlight that the buyer cannot cede the responsibility of quality improvement to the supplier in many cases.

building on work by Levin (2003) and Plambeck and Taylor (2006). In a first step, recent progress in the fields of supply chain coordination and relational contracting are reviewed in detail. In a second step, a new perspective on relational contracts is developed. The structure chosen to achieve the aforementioned objectives is detailed in the following section.

1.2 Structure

The treatise is organized as follows. The remainder of Chap. 1 introduces the reader to the concept of relational procurement and aims at further motivating our approach by taking up recent developments in the consumer goods and automotive industry. Chapter 2 reviews literature on modelling supply chain contracts in a one-period setting. Special attention is given to the supply chain contracts of interest, the OF and the buy-back contract. Chapter 3 is devoted to relational contracts. The first part of the chapter shows how economists have tried to integrate the concept of relational contracting in their models. The second part demonstrates how relational contracts have found their way into Operations and Supply Chain Management in the last years by reviewing recent research papers in the field. The chapter closes with a discussion of game-theoretic as well as dynamic programming concepts relevant for the analysis of relational contracts. Chapter 4 presents the actual model and the model analysis. Here, two firms interact repeatedly on the basis of a QF contract, making informal adaptations to the contract with the objective to incentivize qualityimprovement efforts and to maintain the supply relationship. An optimal relational contract is determined. Throughout the chapter, interpretations of the employed equations and proofs of the main results are provided. In Chap. 5, the developed model is adapted to integrate buy-backs instead of QF contracts. Again, an optimal relational contract can be characterized. In Chap. 6, differences between QF and buy-back contracts when applying them in long-term buyer-supplier relationships are analyzed. Numerical examples highlight the implications contract choice may have on the leeway for contract adaptation, additional transfer payments needed to sustain the relationship, and therewith the continuance of the supply relationship. Chapter 7 presents a case study on Volkswagen Group, founder of the often-cited marketplace VWGroupSupply.com, showing how Volkswagen Group shapes the interface to its suppliers. The conclusion summarizes managerial insights and shows directions of future research to better understand and optimize the design of supply relationships.

1.3 Transactional vs. Relational Procurement

As an introduction to buyer-supplier relationships, which are in the focus of our analysis, we first discuss differences between transactional and relational procurement. We then proceed to provide a concise overview of the characteristics

| Author(s) | Governance modes | |
|-----------------------|---|--|
| MacNeil (1978) | Discrete exchange – relational exchange | |
| Håkansson (1982) | Exchange episodes – relationships | |
| Williamson (1985) | Markets – relational contracting | |
| Shapiro (1985) | Traditional adversarial approach – new adversarial approach – buyer-supplier partnership – "conduit for innovation" | |
| Heide (1994) | Market governance – non-market governance (unilateral/ hierarchical vs. bilateral) | |
| McIvor et al. (1998) | Adversarial – collaborative | |
| Spekman et al. (1998) | Open market negotiations - cooperation - coordination - collaboration | |

 Table 1.1
 Different terms for the continuum of governance modes (source: Schramm-Klein and Morschett 2006)

of buyer-supplier relationships. Prerequisites, goals, and obstacles connected with successful buyer-supplier relationships are given. Finally, we show how the presented characteristics of buyer-supplier relationships are translated into our model.

One observes that the terms buyer-supplier relationship, buyer-supplier partnership, bilateral relationship, relational contract, or collaboration are often employed interchangeably. In fact, researchers studying the management of business relations have developed several frameworks to classify buyer-supplier relationships and to separate those from other governance modes. Table 1.1 gives an overview of terms used to differentiate between transactional and relational business interactions. Note that these terms generally represent a continuum instead of discrete choices. MacNeil (1978), for example, distinguishes discrete and relational exchanges, while Håkansson (1982) speaks of exchange episodes opposed to relationships. Williamson (1985) contrasts markets with relational contracting, a term which best describes our model approach. Shapiro (1985) considers governance modes as a continuum from traditional adversarial approach, to new adversarial approach, to buyer-supplier partnerships, to "conduit for innovation". Like McIvor et al. (1998), the author emphasizes the adversarial character of transactional procurement.

After a first introduction to the literature on business relations management, our next goal is to approach the outstanding features of buyer-supplier relationships. For this purpose, we take a closer look at the framework proposed by Spekman et al. (1998). Step by step, the authors describe the transition from open market negotiations, to cooperation, to coordination, to collaboration (see Fig. 1.1). After Spekman et al. (1998), open market negotiations are geared above all towards single transactions and price optimization, resulting in adversarial attitudes of the parties involved. Interaction is primarily directed towards arm's-length negotiation of conditions. The business relation may be called cooperative, as soon as fewer suppliers and long-term contracts are present. To take the next step to coordination, the firms need to harmonize their IT systems to provide the basis for regular information exchange. In the state of collaboration, supplier and buyer typically engage in supply chain integration, joint planning, and technology sharing. What this thesis shows is



Fig. 1.1 The key transition from open-market negotiations to collaboration (adapted from Spekman et al. 1998)

that buyer-supplier relationships do not stop here. Spekman et al.'s framework does not consider continuous improvement or joint value creation through innovation. It stops at sharing order information and not customer information. We will pick up on these relationship features in the treatise at hand. Our model approach suggests that partnerial buyer-supplier relationships tend to be unsuccessful unless they are geared towards joint value creation with both firms continuously inducing effort. This is also supported by examples from the consumer goods and automotive industry (see Sect. 1.4, p. 7). Clearly, next phases of Spekman et al.'s framework would be co-development and co-ownership with vertical integration being the ultimate step.

Table 1.2 explores the characteristics of buyer-supplier relationships further. The table shows that as firms emphasize performance over price, they will apply new roles of engagement. In order to deepen their relationships with master suppliers, buyers move towards non-binding, long-term agreements, and cost standards. The scope of the relationship is "long-term-oriented, reciprocal, and extending beyond mere buying and selling" (Li and Dant 1997). Furthermore, both firms assume responsibility for improvement and equitably share risks, costs, and gains of improvement initiatives.

Goals pursued by entering into partnerships include cost reduction, process and quality optimization, enhancement of innovation capability and flexibility, and risk reduction. But both firms have to meet certain conditions to achieve these goals. Frequently cited obstacles to collaboration are, for instance, confidentiality concerns, limited interest by suppliers, legal barriers, and resistance to change (Monczka et al. 2005). As previously indicated, there are structural prerequisites for collaboration, i.e., infrastructure for communication and information sharing. Moreover, there are relational prerequisites like trust and alignment of goals and incentives. Trust² is key, when it comes to relationship commitment. Or, put differently, lack of trust has been identified as a major obstacle for collaboration (Ireland and Bruce 2000).

² Since trust is "a multi-faceted concept" (McEvily et al. 2003), definitions of trust abound (see Rotter 1967; Williamson 1993; Gambetta 1988; Lewicki and Bunker 1996). Throughout this treatise, we will refer to trust as a firm's "confidence in the goodwill" of an exchange partner (Ring and van de Ven 1994).

| Attributes | Transactional procurement | Relational procurement |
|------------------------------------|---|---|
| Contract type | Formal, multiple short-term contracts | Tendency towards informal agreements |
| Time horizon | Short term | Medium to long-term |
| Supplier base | Multiple sources played off against each other | One of a few preferred suppliers for each major item |
| Supplier costs | Low transaction costs and supplier switching costs | Rather high transaction costs and supplier switching costs |
| Focus of exchange | Price and transaction | Increasing importance given to technology, quality, (process) costs, and other services |
| Inter-organizational communication | Ad hoc information exchange | Regular information exchange |
| Problem solving behavior | Re-active conflict-solving behavior | Pro-active avoidance of conflict |
| Cost sharing | Buyer takes all cost savings, supplier hides cost savings | Win-win shared rewards |
| Joint improvement efforts | Little or none | Joint improvement driven by mutual interdependence |

 Table 1.2
 Characteristics of buyer-supplier relationships (adapted from Monczka et al. 2005 and Schramm-Klein and Morschett 2006)

Besides trust, it is indisputable that successful collaboration requires creating the right incentives. Narayanan and Raman (2004) identify three main causes for incentive problems: Hidden actions by partner firms, hidden information like data or knowlege that only some of the firms in the supply chain possess, and badly designed incentives. They say that in the case where misalignment results from hidden actions, executives can bring those actions to the surface, by creating a contract that rewards or penalizes partners based on outcomes. In the same vein, Lee (2004) emphasizes that the best supply chains align the interest of all participating firms. Thus, as each player maximizes its own interest, it optimizes the chain's performance as well.

We close this section by giving an outlook on our buyer-supplier model. Our model studies buyer-supplier relationships with the help of relational contracting theory (see Chap. 3, p. 35). The underlying business relation may be characterized by the right column of Table 1.2. More precisely, we consider two firms, whose business relationship is long-term-oriented and provides room for informal agreements to induce effort. Like in Zhu et al. (2007), the focus of the buyer-supplier relationship is on quality improvement. Speaking in terms of Spekman et al. (1998), the firms have at least reached the stage of cooperation and are heading for collaboration: not only do they have sophisticated quality systems to exchange information on the current quality level, they also engage in joint effort for quality improvement and share resulting rewards. The challenge now lies in designing the buyer-supplier relationship in an optimal way. One might wonder, why the firms do not sign a contract that is contingent on the achieved quality level. In our framework, such contracts might not be enforceable by a third party, i.e., be infeasible, since quality

does not depend deterministically on the induced efforts. Also note that our model makes assumptions on the underlying trust pattern. We assume that supplier and buyer employ trigger strategies. That is, a firm is willing to cooperate as long as the other firm cooperates. If cooperation breaks down, it will not be restored forever after. In terms of trust, our trigger strategy can be interpreted as follows: First of all, trust is a prerequisite for entering into informal agreements (if a firm presumes that the other firm tries to inflict damage on it, it will avoid informal agreements that are harmful for it in case of non-compliance). Second, trust will not be rebuilt, once it has been violated through refusal of cooperation.

1.4 Relational Procurement in Practice

It is no secret that procurement has gained in strategic importance. Globalization and the concentration on core competencies, accompanied by higher degrees of outsourcing, entails that buying firms highly rely on their suppliers as regards product innovation and quality. Adding the fact that these dimensions of procurement are often non-contractible, closer collaborations with strategic suppliers play a decisive role today, especially in competitively intense industries.

Monczka et al. (2005) note that the majority of buying firms within the United States are generally moving towards closer buyer-supplier relationships, yet find it difficult to take the ultimate step to collaboration. But there are also examples like IBM and American Airlines, which have moved aggressively towards collaboration, reducing their supply base and developing closer relations with remaining suppliers. A recent survey of over 350 global executives conducted by The Economist Intelligence Unit confirms that the trend towards supplier consolidation and deeper supplier relationships will continue in future (Jacoby 2005). A full 59% of survey respondents within procurement say that the company's total number of suppliers will have decreased further by 2015. Moreover, leaders responded that they are radically restructuring the nature of their relationships to support more collaborative supply chains, moving towards consensus on mutual objectives and co-investment in a long-term relationship. In this connection, growing emphasis is given to non-binding agreements, or, like the report puts it: "Contracts are out, while covenants are in".

A firm's industry also affects the degree of collaboration a firm establishes with its suppliers. Competitively intense industries, such as semiconductors, automotive, and electronics, tend to maintain deeper buyer-supplier relationships than less competitively intense industries (Monczka et al. 2005). Especially the high-tech industries depend heavily on collaboration with suppliers. Here, the capabilities of suppliers are leveraged to be able to drive product development, innovation, and fast cycle times in the supply chain.

For the aforementioned reasons, the systematic coordination, maintenance, and development of supplier relationships, collectively termed as Supplier Relationship

Management³ (SRM), become the focal point of interest of procurement. Companies constantly refine their concepts for managing strategic supplier relationships (Handfield 2006), while IT providers like SAP and Oracle offer a range of SRM solutions for handling the procurement process.

1.4.1 Consumer Goods Industry

The following examples of relational procurement are taken from the consumer goods industry. The examples make clear that collaboration is on the agenda of both manufacturers and retailers and show how collaboration is actually realized in practice.

The increased efforts for collaboration in the consumer goods industry are reflected in two recent studies by the Global Commerce Initiative (GCI) and ECR *Europe*, both representing bodies of manufacturers and retailers on a global and European level respectively. For the GCI study, companies including Carrefour Group, Coca-Cola, Dairy Farm, DHL, Kraft Foods, Metro Group, Nestlé, Philips, Pick'n Pay, Procter & Gamble, Royal Ahold, Unilever, and Wal-Mart worked together to define a unique vision of the future value chain (Global Commerce Initiative 2006). The companies agreed that future challenges like issues of ecology, new technologies, the regulatory environment, and shifts in the global economy can only be addressed collaboratively by the members of the value chain. Joint efforts of trading partners include substantial changes in culture, collaborative business planning, information sharing, and new measures and rewards. "We can only do this by changing our cultures internally and rethinking the sustainability of the relationships that bind us", comments Ruud van der Pluijm, Vice President B2B eCommerce, Royal Ahold. "This will affect the development of our organizations and the rewards we use to identify new measures of performance. At the heart of the vision for 2016 is a fundamental principle of collaborative commercial trust". The study initiated by ECR Europe focuses on "Jointly Agreed Growth" (ECR Europe 2008). Starting from a consumer-centric approach, the goal is to reduce the time and effort spent negotiating on price, by bundling instead joint resources to bring innovations to market faster and more effectively. The study recommends three-year Jointly Agreed Growth plans (JAGs) with an annual review, which focus both manufacturer and retailer on mutually agreed growth targets. More precisely, joint business planning involves joint definition of the category strategy, the role of innovation, and growth criteria.

³ The marketing counterpart "Customer Relationship Management" (CRM) may be more familiar to the reader. Indeed, the problems investigated in SRM and CRM literature are strongly related. As an example, take van Doorn and Verhoef (2008) who study satisfaction and loyalty issues in long-term customer relationships and show that critical incidents strongly affect the maintenance of customer relationships – an approach which is not too far away from our research considering amongst others the impact of quality on the maintenance of long-term supply relationships.

9

Metro Group has piloted a "Supplier Relationship & Collaboration Management Program" (SRCM) in 2007 (Rode 2008). After the advancement of EDI and RFID standards, Metro identifies SRCM as the next step towards collaboration with its major suppliers. Board member Zygmunt Mierdorf describes SRCM as "a strategic program to deepen supplier relationships and to achieve better solutions for the customers that way". Metro has started the SRCM with Procter & Gamble, Coca-Cola, Kraft Foods, SCA, L'Oréal, Philips, Mattel, Red Bull, and Leifheit. The program has a global and long-term perspective. According to Mierdorf, the midterm target will be to manage the top 100 suppliers. According to the head of procurement, the definition of common goals with suppliers is at the core of the program. Here, the major topics are growth opportunities, expansion in new countries, improved services, new products, coordination of logistics, and quality of exchanged data. Another building block represent "Supplier Interest Groups", where suppliers can propose focus topics for enhanced collaboration. Transparency is another important component, involving exchange of most important parameters and KPIs. The program puts particular emphasis on defined responsibilities: There are dedicated relationship managers per supplier, who meet regularly with the supplier to track and measure the performance on an international level. Not only Metro, but also its suppliers appreciate SRCM. Steve Newiss, Vice President Global Customers at Kraft International, particularly praises "the creation of a structured, long-term relationship". He says that already shortly after the start of the SRCM collaboration, the common scorecard has established for both sides "one version of truth". Similarly, Dr. Stefan Scholl, Vice President Customer Business Development at Procter & Gamble, positively points out that the relationship is geared towards continuity.

Johnson & Johnson has established a similar program, the so-called "Supplier Relationship Management Program", which manages every aspect of the relationship between Johnson & Johnson and its suppliers (Thomson et al. 2008). This program is applied, for instance, in the relationship with its strategic supplier LEK Inc. Recognizing that Johnson & Johnson has as much influence as suppliers on the success or failure of the relationship, the company quarterly reviews the relationship on the basis of a two-way scorecard, enhanced by a quality audit and a review of improvement plans. Moreover, the program offers resource-sharing models for strategic suppliers and annual supplier recognition conferences to expose peer performance and best practices to the supplier base. A two-way scorecard is a bilateral performance measurement tool: It measures supplier and buyer results across a balanced set of categories, thereby enabling both sides to take joint responsibility for improvement. This type of scorecard can be regarded as a tool to achieve "dual accountability between a buyer and its strategic suppliers", a relatively new approach used amongst others by The Home Depot Inc. to improve supply chain relationships (Slobodow et al. 2008).

Creating sustainable supply chains has forced many companies to rethink their relationships with suppliers. *Starbucks Corporation* is an example of how increasing focus on sustainable sourcing brings about fundamental changes in the complete supply chain, including a longer-term view of supply relationships (Lee et al. 2007). Together with Conservation International, an environmental non-profit

organization, Starbucks developed so-called C.A.F.E. Practices (Coffee and Farmer Equity Practices) for environmentally sound, socially responsive, and sustainable supply of high quality coffee beans. Starbucks' main objectives were to reduce price and supply volatility of high quality coffee beans, improve its reputation among suppliers, and thereby gain a competitive advantage over other coffee roasters in the industry. The solution provided by C.A.F.E. Practices was to create longer-term supply relationships with a consistent set of strategic and high quality suppliers, offering preferential contract terms to those suppliers that best met the program's criteria.

1.4.2 Automotive Industry

The automotive industry is currently coined by high degrees of outsourcing and increasing supplier consolidation. OEMs (Original Equipment Manufacturers) depend heavily on suppliers as regards innovation and quality, and at the same time they are challenged to prevail within the limits of product differentiation and cost reduction. Seen against this background, it is particularly interesting to study buyer-supplier relationships in the automotive industry.

First, we will compare OEMs' purchasing philosophies on a global level. The example of the US auto industry makes clear that buyer-supplier relationships are not set in stone, but are constantly redefined. Ro et al. (2008) suggest that the "Big Three", Ford, General Motors und Chrysler, have moved to a hybrid of partnerial and adversarial supplier relationships after a phase of rapprochement in the 1990s. Contrary to this trend in US auto, recent studies predict that deeper relationships with strategic suppliers will be indispensable to stay competitive in future (The Boston Consulting Group 2004; Mercer Management Consulting and Fraunhofer 2004).

OEM–Supplier Relationship Styles

To understand to which degree the automotive industry shares a relationship-based view of procurement, we have collected assessments of leading OEMs. At first sight, all OEMs stress the importance of long-term supplier relationships nowadays. However, as we will see afterwards, OEMs still adopt different approaches to Supplier Relationship Management.

On the occasion of DaimlerChrysler's "Global Supplier Meeting" in July 2006, Dr. Dieter Zetsche, Chairman of the Board of Management, emphasized the company's commitment to foster strong, open and mutually successful relationships with its suppliers. He stressed that the company continued to optimize its organization for even more collaboration and would also be providing excellent business opportunities for top performing suppliers worldwide. Moreover, Thomas Sidlik, Member of the Board of Management of DaimlerChrysler, responsible for Global Procurement and Supply, underlined the importance of innovation and flexibility for mutual success: "Innovation and flexibility are key factors in dealing with global competition and for generating long-lasting, successful partnerships between DaimlerChrysler and its suppliers" (DaimlerChrysler 2006).

According to Dr. Herbert Diess, Member of the Board of Management of BMW AG, responsible for Purchasing and Supplier Network, BMW places particular emphasis on quality in its supplier relationships: "Our primary goal is quality. We perform very good by comparison, but we want to get even better. When we agree on objectives with our suppliers, we talk about quality improvements first and only afterwards about cost reductions" (Automobilwoche 2008).

In his address to the "Porsche Supplier Award 2008", Dr. Wiedeking, President of Porsche AG, pointed out that the Porsche success story could not be imagined without efficient and reliable suppliers. According to Wiedeking, Porsche suppliers take on a high level of responsibility due to the company's low vertical range of manufacture of about 15% (Beschaffung aktuell 2008). Porsche presented the award to Bose Automotive Systems Division, a supplier which has been developing and producing premium sound systems for each model produced by Porsche since 2001. Bose was able to fulfill this responsibility and meet Porsche's highest quality standards and strictest deadlines. Brandon Westley, President of the Bose Automotive Systems Division, underlined that "this achievement is the result of tremendous collaborative efforts, and both companies' mutual commitment to excellence" (Reuters 2008).

A look at Fig. 1.2 helps to better classify the statements just cited. In 2003, suppliers from Europe, Japan, and North America were asked to evaluate the negotiation styles of leading OEMs (The Boston Consulting Group 2004). Each OEM's purchasing philosophy was assessed along two major dimensions: bargaining through market power and bargaining through technology and process analysis.



Fig. 1.2 OEMs' purchasing philosophies (adapted from The Boston Consulting Group 2004)

With the former approach, OEMs use their sourcing volume to exert unilateral price pressure. With the latter approach, OEMs analyze product contents and production processes together with their supplier in order to jointly identify opportunities to reduce costs - apparently an approach more suitable to foster collaboration. The interviews uncovered three types of purchasing philosophies. The first group of OEMS comprised the volume players Ford, GM, and Volkswagen, which ranked high on the dimension "bargaining through market power" and considerably lower on the dimension "bargaining through technology and process analysis". The report does not only capture the critical attitude of suppliers towards such negotiation practices, but also observes that the OEMs of this group were starting to implement product- and process-redesign initiatives with their key suppliers at that time: "Team Value Management" at Ford and "Partner Process Optimization" at Volkswagen. For the second group of OEMs, namely BMW, Honda, Porsche, and Toyota, the picture was totally reversed. In this group, OEMs focused strongly on technology-based negotiation and process analysis. For BMW and Porsche, this is presumably due to their limited volume leverage and strong engineering focus. For Honda and Toyota, this cooperative negotiation style can be attributed to the Japanese "keiretsu" system, characterized by the close ties exhibited between the buying firm and its direct suppliers. The third group contained OEMs such as DaimlerChrysler, PSA Peugeot Citroën, and Renault. In the suppliers' view, these OEMs were adopting a differentiated sourcing approach, practicing a cooperative negotiation style for critical, brand-differentiating systems and components on the one hand, and using more cost-driven negotiations for standard parts on the other hand.

The US Model

Along the same line, Ro et al. (2008) study the dynamics of buyer-supplier relationships in the US automotive industry. Between 1998 and 2001, the authors interviewed senior engineers, managers, and directors in the design, production, and product development departments of first-tier automotive suppliers as well as major US automakers, i.e., the Big Three. The study suggests that there is a new emerging US model of supplier management that can be characterized as "close but adversarial". Apparently, US automakers have moved back to a more adversarial interpretation of supplier management, after a trend towards collaboration in the 1990s. We will summarize the main findings of the study in the following.

Traditionally, Japanese OEM–supplier relationships are characterized as long-term partnerships that provide a solid basis for cooperation in key areas like quality management and product development. By contrast, US OEM–supplier relationships are often described as adversarial relationships resorting to coercive bureaucratic mechanisms. When looking at recent history, however, a far more differentiated picture emerges.

During the 1950s, both Japanese and US automakers were still vertically integrated (Nishiguchi 1994). The Japanese automakers, however, began to adopt a subcontracting strategy with their suppliers. This trend was primarily due to a more



Fig. 1.3 Relationship evolution in the US auto industry (adapted from Ro et al. 2008)

organized labor force, lack of capital, and lack of financing for new capacity at that time. Successively, Japanese automakers established supplier relationships that were governed not primarily by market and hierarchy, but by trust (Bensaou and Anderson 1999). In addition to contract mechanisms, Japanese supplier relationships were strongly supported by equity holdings and the tremendous purchasing power of automakers. Finally, the Japanese automakers gave their suppliers extensive responsibility for the quality of parts and components.

When US automakers noticed the Japanese success in the late 1980s, they started to imitate the partnerial supplier management model. As illustrated by Fig. 1.3, US automakers moved towards closer supplier relationships in the 1990s. In 1998, at the beginning of the study, Chrysler was the closest to the partnerial model with its "Supplier Cost Reduction Effort" program (SCORE), GM stayed closest to the traditional adversarial model, with Ford taking a middle position. At the end of the study, however, the move towards more adversarial relationship styles became apparent, even in relationships with so-called "partner" suppliers. Also favored by the Daimler-Chrysler merger in 1998, that was accompanied by the replacement of most key executives, DaimlerChrysler began to move back towards the adversarial relationship style by the late 1990s and early 2000s. One contributing factor for this reversion was the discovery that some suppliers were opportunistically charging DaimlerChrysler more than their other Big Three customers.

According to Ro et al. (2008), one observes major differences, when comparing buyer-supplier relationships in the American and Japanese auto industries today. US companies concentrate on minimizing risk, use market mechanisms to motivate suppliers to reduce price, and closely monitor suppliers on key performance indicators. Complex tasks that might create a high degree of dependency on an outside supplier tend to be in-housed. Japanese automakers, however, source relatively whole tasks to outside suppliers, and then build effective mechanisms for integrating the suppliers into the product development process. Ro et al. (2008) conclude that the US OEM purchasing strategy is still in a state of transition and describe the current supplier management model as a "hybrid of market control and relational contracting". The authors even worry that the Big Three approach to supplier relationship management will become the dominant organizational design in America. Namely for the following reasons: First, the current American automaker practices seem inappropriate to support the great responsibility assigned to suppliers. For instance, one may still observe adversarial relationships in US auto, when a partnership model is required for true integration of design efforts. Second, the US supplier model has not only resulted in general lack of trust, but has also broken technical and organizational systems that will not go away just by coercive market forces.

The Japanese Model

The Japanese supplier management model demonstrates how companies can create extraordinary value by fostering long-term, partnerial relationships with their suppliers. According to Dyer (1996), the best-practice models for supply chain management from a performance point of view still remain those based on the Japanese "keiretsu" relationships. And, although other OEMs have tried to imitate the Japanese model reinforcing their lean and six sigma programs, Japanese automaker plants continue to outperform the US plants from productivity and quality perspectives (Liker et al. 1999).

As already mentioned above, Japanese automakers are known to outsource large portions of the vehicle, even modules and systems. They put particular emphasis on partnerial relationships with their suppliers, but not surprisingly, the types of supplier relationships may differ. Japanese firms distinguish simple build-to-print component suppliers, module suppliers, and system suppliers. This implies that negotiations with simple build-to-print component suppliers are rather customer dominant. For modules, Japanese firms make an investment in the supplier and do not seem too concerned about risk, and for system suppliers, a partnership model is employed (Ro et al. 2008).

A recent study by The Boston Consulting Group (2007) explores Toyota's approach towards Supplier Relationship Management. The authors observe that Toyota puts considerable effort in helping its suppliers improve their performance. For this purpose, Toyota employs a few key tools:

- 1. Toyota monitors its suppliers' performance extensively and insists that senior managers and key executives of each supplier organization assume responsibility for all quality and performance issues.
- 2. Every six months, Toyota performs thorough quality audits.
- 3. Toyota employs proprietary processes that facilitate the rapid resolution of quality problems and prevent problems from recurring.
- 4. A robust knowledge-sharing network ensures that suppliers share their best practices and thereby enhance their capabilities.

A supplier entering an ongoing relationship with Toyota can be assured that Toyota will take responsibility for helping this supplier develop its capabilities and will ensure this supplier earns reasonable returns. However, suppliers should never take their relationships with the company for granted. Suppliers that perform well, will be rewarded with increased business, but those that disappoint Toyota will lose their business. Moreover, Toyota has repeatedly demonstrated that it cares for suppliers going through difficult times. During the financial crisis in Thailand in 1997, for example, Toyota helped its suppliers financially by making large up-front payments. Toyota also gave its suppliers in Thailand automatic price increases, when urgently needed. Immediately after the crisis, when suppliers were unable to meet their cash-flow requirements, Toyota increased its prices by 8% and then by another 5% half a year later, while other OEMs did not support their suppliers during the crisis.

But what makes the so-called "Toyota Way" of close supplier relationships so successful? And why do US automakers not simply replicate this apparently so successful model? One major reason certainly is that "the Toyota Way is first and foremost about culture [...]. At the core it is about respect for people and continuous improvement, and this has not changed since the company's founding" (Liker and Hoseus 2008). Hence, if American companies want to learn from the Toyota Way, they should take into account that the foundation of this approach is longterm thinking. In fact, Liker and Hoseus (2008) observe that the biggest barriers in American companies wishing to implement the Japanese model result from their short-term orientation and need for every action to pay for itself very quickly.

Future Trends Affecting the OEM–Supplier Interface

The automotive industry is becoming a leaner, fast-paced, and more competitive industry. Automakers are constantly reducing product development cycles and advances in information technology such as the Internet and e-business initiatives have brought greater speed of communication and data exchange (Liker and Hoseus 2008). Today, automakers buy more components and services from suppliers than they used to. According to Mercer Management Consulting and Fraunhofer IPA (2004), there will be another significant shift in the proportions of value-added to suppliers: Globally, automakers will reduce their proportion of value-added from ca. 35% in 2004 to ca. 25% in 2015. All these developments will affect the OEM–supplier interface in the future. On the whole, one may identify ten major trends impacting OEM–supplier relationships over the coming years, suggesting that OEMs will have to reframe their supply relations to become more partnerial (The Boston Consulting Group 2004):

1. Supplier consolidation

The number of tier one and tier two suppliers worldwide is likely to shrink from between 1,500 and 2,000 in 2004 to between 500 and 700 by the end of the decade, of which only some 100 will be system integrators that deal directly with the OEMs.

2. Suppliers as system integrators

As suppliers increasingly assume the role of system integrators, OEMs will need to include engineers in purchasing staffs. Moreover, systems are much harder to price and evaluate than simple parts.

- 3. *Suppliers as drivers of innovation* The suppliers' responsibility for innovation is constantly growing, which increases the dependence of OEMs on their suppliers.
- 4. *Partnership programs* Various partnership programs launched by OEMs to foster closer relationships with suppliers often fail to create the promised value.
- New business models New business models (like pay-on-production models and supplier parks) gain in importance. OEMs will have to develop new competencies to handle these models effectively.
- 6. *Slower-than-anticipated adoption of e-procurement* The share of parts that can be sourced easily by online bidding is much lower than anticipated and processes must become more consistent.
- 7. *Shortening innovation cycles* This trend brings about that OEMs and suppliers get involved in each other's design and development processes much earlier than before.
- 8. *Increasing challenges on quality* To protect the OEMs' brand image as well as suppliers' finances, firms will

have to work together to reduce the number of costly recalls.

- 9. *Increasing product differentiation* Proliferation of vehicle types entails that purchasing organizations must buy smaller lots of components.
- 10. Global sourcing

Major challenges associated with global sourcing range from local supplier development to quality control and logistics.

Recent studies agree that in order to face the challenges ahead, OEMs and suppliers will have to rely increasingly on long-term partnerial relationships that distribute chances and risks in a fair manner (Mercer Management Consulting and Fraunhofer IPA 2004).

Another interesting question is the future interplay between relational procurement and e-marketplaces. First of all, Mitra and Singhal (2008) find that the announcement to form or join industry exchanges has a positive effect on shareholder value. The authors study consortium based industry exchanges and reveal that the abnormal market reaction to a founder's announcement to form an exchange is about 1% and significant. It remains to be answered how firms can reap the benefits of market-based coordination and at the same time preserve the value associated with long-term supply chain relationships - according to Grey, Olavson and Shi (2005) one of the greatest challenges associated with the introduction of e-marketplaces. In fact, buyers benefit from participating in online exchanges through the inventorypooling effects resulting in reduced costs, as Milner and Kouvelis (2007) show. But the authors also suggest that "a supplier acting strategically will counteract such benefits by restricting availability of goods to the spot market, sacrificing short-term spot-market revenue for long-term contract volume".

Chapter 2 Literature Review on Supply Chain Contracts

This chapter gives an introduction to the supply chain contracting literature. Departing from a classic supply chain model, we classify the parameters over which supply chain contracts are usually observed. The focus of this chapter is on contracts coordinating a two-firm supply chain in a single-period newsvendor setting. Hence, a basic newsvendor model as well as contracts coordinating this setting are introduced. Moreover, extensions to the basic newsvendor model and current research on supply chain contracts are presented. Particular attention is given to research on QF and buy-back contracts. The goal is to contrast these two returns mechanisms in the light of formal supply chain contracting to provide a basis for later analysis and discussion in the context of relational contracting.

2.1 Introduction to Supply Chain Contracts

"Supply Chain Management deals with the management of material, information, and financial flows in a network consisting of vendors, manufacturers, distributors, and customers" (Anupindi and Bassok 1999a). Exchange of flows can be regarded as a routine transaction, occurring between any pair of suppliers and buyers in the network. Ideally, the quantity and pricing decisions in the supply chain, as shown in Fig. 2.1, would be made by a single decision maker who has all information at hand. Researchers in Supply Chain Management generally refer to this situation as the *centralized* or *integrated* supply chain and call the single decision maker the integrated firm. Respectively, a supply chain is called *decentralized* if the network consists of multiple decision makers having different information and incentives. Due to globalization and outsourcing, decentralized supply chains are prevalent today. Outsourcing of production, for example, automatically spreads decision rights among multiple decision makers. And often, even highly vertically integrated firms decentralize decision rights to set incentives and structure the flow of information.

To measure the performance of supply chains, coordination is an important assessment criterion. The terms *network, channel* or *supply chain coordination* all refer to the same situation: "A single decision maker optimizes the network with the union of information that the various decision makers



Fig. 2.1 The basic one-period supply chain model (adapted from Tsay et al. 1999b)

have" (Anupindi and Bassok 1999a). Coordination - and hence supply chain performance - is at risk as soon as there are multiple decision makers in the network who may have different private information and incentives. For instance, decision makers are often reluctant to share private information regarding cost and demand, which may lead to suboptimal supply chain performance (Corbett and Tang 1999; Corbett et al. 2004). Even if information asymmetry can be ruled out, lack of coordination and hence suboptimal supply chain performance may still occur. Since each decision maker optimizes a private objective function, the local optima need not be globally optimal for the whole supply chain. The problem of *double marginalization* is a prominent example of this phenomenon, first described by Spengler (1950) in the Economics literature. It can be shown that when operating independently, supplier and buyer will produce less than a vertically integrated monopolist, because they receive less than the total contribution margin at any given quantity (Tirole 1990). This clearly is a case where locally optimal decisions of supplier and buyer do not optimize the global supply chain problem. Or, in other words, the decentralized supply chain is inefficient, since the total expected profit Π^d of the decentralized supply chain is smaller than Π^c , the expected profit of the centralized supply chain.

To enable coordination, the supply chain resorts to contracts. In general, the goal is to write contracts that induce coordination through appropriate provisions for information and incentives such that supply chain performance will be optimized. This type of approach recurs in a broad range of settings. Cachon (2003) and Chen (2003) review the respective research on supply chain contracts. Early overviews on supply chain coordination with contracts were given by Whang (1995), Cachon (1999), Lariviere (1999), and Tsay et al. (1999b). Beyond, similar approaches can be found in related fields of research like the Economics literature on Vertical

Restraints (Mathewson and Winter 1984; Katz 1989) and the Marketing literature on Channel Coordination (Jeuland and Shugan 1983; Moorthy 1987). Tightly linked are the papers by Bergen et al. (1992), and van Ackere (1993), who study agency relationships.

We record that an important objective of supply chain contracts is system-wide performance improvement. Another motive that is pursued by entering into supply chain contracts is sharing the risk arising from the uncertainty in the supply chain (in the contracting model presented in this chapter, the notion of risk should be handled with care, given that the firms are assumed to be risk neutral; the model maximizes expected profits and does not study risk hedging). After Tsay et al. (1999b), another contracting motive is facilitating long-term relationships. By entering persistent business partnerships, supplier and buyer can reduce transaction costs since costly searches and renegotiations are reduced.

The premise of this chapter is that the management of buyer-supplier interactions within a supply chain is governed by formal contracts. Furthermore, most of the papers presented restrict to single-period models. Relaxing this constraint to incorporate more realistic settings with repeated buyer-supplier interactions will be very useful in understanding how to optimally structure the material, information, and financial flows in a supply chain. This perspective on supply chain contracts will be the focus of the following chapters.

2.1.1 Supply Chain Structure

In this section, we describe a one-period supply chain model that forms the basis for a wide range of supply chain analyses (Tsay et al. 1999b). Figure 2.1 depicts two consecutive nodes of the supply chain, here referred to as supplier and buyer, together with the material, information, and financial flows involved. As shown in Fig. 2.1, standard simplifying assumptions in the Supply Chain Management literature can be summarized as follows: In a one-period framework, the supplier produces or acquires a product at a constant unit cost of c and charges the buyer the wholesale or transfer payment w(Q) per delivery, where w(Q) may either be exogenous or a decision variable of one of the parties. On the other side, the buyer sells the product to the market at retail price r per unit.

In reality, market demand D(r) is both price-sensitive and uncertain. Although some models include both features, it is common to fix either the order quantity or the retail price. In the Operations Research literature, the primary decision variable is the order quantity Q, the retail price is often assumed to be fixed, and market demand is stochastic. In the Economics and Marketing literature, however, the decision is primarily the retail price r. In the latter case, a common assumption is a deterministic, downward-sloping demand function. Moreover, most papers on supply chain contracts assume only a one-period problem, since the related models are often too complex to be tractable in a multi-period setting.

2.1.2 Classification of Contracts

Typically, a supply chain contract should capture the three types of flows encountered between the members of a supply chain, i.e., material, information, and financial flows. Yet, classifying supply chain contracts is not straightforward. To date, no commonly accepted taxonomy appears to exist. Anupindi and Bassok (1999a), for example, classify supply chain contracts according to eight contract parameters: Horizon length, pricing, periodicity of ordering, quantity commitment, flexibility, delivery commitment, quality, and information sharing. In contrast, Tsay et al. (1999b) classify the literature on supply chain contracts by eight contract clauses including specification of decision rights, pricing, minimum purchase commitments, quantity flexibility, buy-back or returns policies, allocation rules, lead time, and quality. Without preferring one classification over the other, we specify the latter one here. In addition, we explain the contract terms horizon length, periodicity of ordering, and information sharing, since these play an important role in relational supply contracts:

1. Specification of decision rights

Here, reassigning control of the decision variables is at the center of the analysis. Exemplary agreements are Resale Price Maintenance or Quantity Fixing. Although the buyer typically chooses the order quantity Q and the retail price r given the transfer payment w(Q) specified by the supplier, these mechanisms shift control to the supplier. Moreover, the issue of assigning control to local or global entities may also be interpreted as an issue of decision rights.

2. Pricing

This contract category considers w(Q), the financial component of the contract between the supplier and the buyer. Often, the wholesale price can be written as $w(Q) = F + w_t Q$ for constants F and w_t . Linear Pricing implies F = 0, perhaps the most commonly assumed pricing structure. In contrast, a positive F, also called a franchise fee, results in two-part tariff pricing. Also more complex pricing schemes, such as quantity discounting, may fall into this category.

3. *Minimum purchase commitments* Such an agreement requires the buyer to purchase a minimum quantity, either within each single transaction, or cumulatively over a specific time horizon. The supplier may reduce w(Q) to provide an incentive to the buyer to agree to this arrangement.

4. Quantity flexibility

In this type of supply chain contract, the buyer is granted a certain degree of quantity flexibility in the sense that the ultimate purchasing quantity may deviate from the initial order quantity.

5. Buy-back or returns policies

A buy-back clause specifies that the buyer may return a percentage of unsold goods to the supplier. The buy-back price will typically be less or equal to the wholesale price. As in the case of quantity flexibility, mismatches between the
buyer's purchase and the market demand are only of interest when demand is assumed random.

6. Allocation rules

This stream of contracting literature investigates the allocation of the supplier's available stock or production capacity among multiple buyers in a shortage scenario.

7. Lead time

The lead time for delivery of the product from the supplier to the buyer may also be a contractual clause. In traditional inventory models, the lead time is either treated as a fixed constant or the realization of a random variable.

8. Quality

Quality of the delivered product is a major prerequisite of any supply relationship. The specific dimensions of quality may be specified within the supply chain contract.

9. Horizon length

The horizon length specifies the duration for which the contract is valid.

10. Periodicity of ordering

This contract term specifies how often the buyer can place orders. One distinguishes fixed and random periodicity of ordering. The former term means that the buyer may place orders only on predetermined dates (it is not essential that orders are non-zero). The latter one means that orders can be placed any day of the week.

11. Information sharing

This contract term specifies what type of information will be shared between buyer and supplier.

2.1.3 The Newsvendor Model

One of the standard building blocks for modeling order quantity decisions under stochastic demand is the newsvendor model. Since the newsvendor model represents the starting point for the analysis of supply chain contracts, a standard one-period one-product model will be introduced in this subsection (Cachon 2003). For more extensive treatments of the newsvendor model see Silver et al. (1998) or Nahmias (2008).

The sequence of events is:

- 1. The supplier offers a contract to the buyer.
- 2. The buyer accepts or rejects the contract. Under the assumption that the buyer accepts the contract, the buyer orders a quantity Q.
- 3. The supplier produces and fills the buyer's order before the start of the selling season.
- 4. Season demand materializes.
- 5. Finally, transfer payments are made between the firms according to the agreed contract.

In the newsvendor model, the action to coordinate is the buyer's order quantity. Facing stochastic demand, the buyer must determine an order quantity Q before the start of the selling season. As before, let r be the retail price and D > 0 be the demand realization during the selling season. Let F be the distribution function of demand with f being its density function. Standard assumptions are that F is differentiable, strictly increasing, and F(0) = 0. Furthermore, let E[D] denote expected demand. The supplier's production cost per unit is c_s and the buyer's marginal cost per unit is c_b with $c_s + c_b < r$ (note that these definitions of F, c_s , and c_b only refer to this subsection). Goodwill penalty costs are incurred for every unit of unsatisfied demand: g_b for the buyer and analogously g_s for the supplier. For notational convenience, define $c = c_s + c_b$ and $g = g_s + g_b$. The buyer earns s < c per salvaged unit at the end of the selling season. A standard assumption here is that the supplier's salvage value does not exceed s. Hence, one can assume that all left over inventory is salvaged at the buyer.

To continue with the description of the model, assume that each firm is risk neutral. That is, each firm maximizes expected profit. Let S(Q) denote expected sales $\min(Q, D)$. Then S(Q) can be written in the form:

$$S(Q) = Q(1 - F(Q)) + \int_0^Q yf(y)dy$$
$$= Q - \int_0^Q F(y)dy.$$

Similarly, let I(Q) be the expected left over inventory. Then:

$$I(Q) = (Q - D)^{+} = Q - S(Q).$$

Let L(Q) be the lost sales function:

$$L(Q) = (D - Q)^{+} = E[D] - S(Q).$$

Furthermore, let P denote the expected transfer payment from the buyer to the supplier. This transfer payment will depend on the agreed supply chain contract. The buyer's profit function is:

$$\pi_b(Q) = rS(Q) + sI(Q) - g_bL(Q) - c_bQ - P$$

= $(r - s + g_b)S(Q) - (c_b - s)Q - g_bE[D] - Q.$

The supplier's profit function is

$$\pi_s(Q) = g_s S(Q) - c_s Q - g_s E[D] + P,$$

and the total profit of this two-firm supply chain is

$$\Pi(Q) = \pi_b(Q) + \pi_s(Q) = (r - s + g)S(Q) - (c - s)Q - gE[D].$$

Let Q^c be the supply chain optimal order quantity in the centralized supply chain with $Q^c = \arg \max_Q \Pi(Q)$. Analogously, let Q^d be the buyer's optimal order quantity in the decentralized supply chain, i.e., $Q^d = \arg \max_Q \pi_b(Q)$. Clearly, the buyer's order Q^d will depend on the transfer payment P determined by the agreed contract. It can be shown that the wholesale price contract generally does not optimize total expected supply chain profit. More complex contracts, e.g., buy-back and quantity flexibility (QF) contracts, may achieve coordination. These contracts typically combine a wholesale price with an adjustment depending on realized demand. Various contract types and their ability to coordinate the supply chain will be discussed in the following subsection.

2.1.4 Contract Types

We have already mentioned the drawbacks of wholesale price contracts regarding supply chain coordination. The goal of this subsection is to present supply chain contracts that find a remedy, i.e., that coordinate the newsvendor model presented in the previous subsection. To describe the different contract types, we will refer primarily to Cachon (2003) and adopt the notation introduced above. Moreover, equivalences and parallels between the different contract types will be discussed. The remainder of the subsection touches on related research and recent research papers studying extensions to the standard newsvendor model.

To evaluate a contract's strengths and weaknesses, the following criteria are of particular importance (Cachon 2003):

1. Supply chain coordination

In the standard newsvendor model, the action to coordinate is the buyer's order quantity. That is, the buyer's quantity decision should optimize total supply chain profit and no firm should have a unilateral incentive to deviate from supply chain optimal actions.

2. Arbitrary split of supply chain profit

A supply chain contract should offer sufficient flexibility to allow for any division of total supply chain profit. This is an important contract feature: If contract parameters can be adjusted to allocate rents arbitrarily, there always exists a contract that Pareto dominates a non-coordinating contract.

3. Administrative costs

Not least, there will be a tradeoff between the *efficiency* of a supply chain contract (the ratio of supply chain profit under the respective contract to the optimal supply chain profit) and the administrative costs associated with it. Administrative costs are usually driven by the type and extent of material and informational flows specified by the contract.

Although the newsvendor model presented in Sect. 2.1.3 is not complex, it is sufficiently rich to study these three important criteria. In this framework, several different contract types can be shown to achieve coordination and to arbitrarily divide supply chain profit. As we will see in the following, these include revenue-sharing contracts, buy-back contracts, quantity flexibility contracts, sales-rebate contracts, and quantity discount contracts. As regards administrative costs, the wholesale price contract and the quantity discount contract will turn out to be equally costly to administer, since they only require a single transaction. Other supply chain contracts like revenue sharing, buy-back, or QF contract are more costly to administer, since they require additional material or informational flows between the firms. While the third criterion may explain the selection of a wholesale price contract or a quantity discount contract, it is more difficult to explain contract selection among revenue sharing, buy back or QF contract in practice.

Wholesale Price Contract

With a wholesale price contract, the buyer is charged a wholesale payment of w per unit purchased. Thus, the transfer payment P between buyer and supplier takes a simple form:

$$P_w(Q, w) = wQ.$$

Lariviere and Porteus (2001) provide a complete analysis of the wholesale price contract in the context of the newsvendor problem, while Bresnahan and Reiss (1985) study the contract under the assumption of deterministic demand. It can be shown that the wholesale price contract coordinates the newsvendor problem only if the wholesale price is smaller or equal to the supplier's production cost, i.e., only if the supplier's profit is non-positive, which is clearly not worthwhile for the supplier.

To quantify the performance of wholesale price contracts, researchers in Supply Chain Management have applied several performance measures to this contract type. These are typically worst-case analyses of supply chain performance. Lariviere and Porteus (2001), for example, quantify the efficiency of this contract type under various demand distributions. Perakis and Roels (2007) measure efficiency with the so-called *Price of Anarchy* (PoA). This performance measure computes the ratio of the performance of a centralized system over the worst performance of a decentralized system. The authors define the PoA as

$$\operatorname{PoA} = \sup_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \frac{-cQ^c + rE[\min(Q^c, D)]}{-cQ^d + rE[\min(Q^d, D)]},$$

where Q^c is the optimal solution of the centralized supply chain, Q^d the quantity decision in the decentralized supply chain, and \mathcal{F} the set of nonnegative demand distributions that have the IGFR property.¹ Perakis and Roels show that the PoA is at least 1.71 for a two-firm supply chain model, concluding that the inefficiency

¹ IGFR stands for increasing generalized failure rate. This assumption is commonly imposed on the demand distribution because it guarantees that the supplier's profit is well-behaved in the newsvendor problem (see Lariviere and Porteus 2001; Lariviere 2006).

of wholesale price contracts has not been overstated in the literature and justifies the whole stream of research on the design of more elaborate contracts improving coordination in supply chains.

Contrary to one-period models, Debo and Sun (2004) show that with repeated interaction, supply chain efficiency can be achieved with the wholesale price contract, given a sufficiently high discount factor. Cui et al. (2007) in turn consider fairness concerns. They demonstrate that when channel members are concerned about fairness, the supplier can use a wholesale price above her marginal cost to coordinate the channel both in terms of achieving the maximum channel profit and in terms of attaining the maximum channel utility.

Buy-Back Contract

With a buy-back contract, the buyer purchases Q units for the price w_b per unit at the start of the season and may return up to Q units at the end of the season for a refund of $b < w_b$ per unit. This yields:

$$P_b(Q, w_b, b) = w_b Q - bI(Q) = bS(Q) + (w_b - b)Q.$$

Pasternack (1985) was the first to identify that buy-back contracts coordinate the fixed-price newsvendor, while allowing for any split of total supply chain profit. For the set of buy-back parameters $\{w_b, b\}$ such that for $\lambda \ge 0$,

$$r - s + g_b - b = \lambda(r - s + g)$$
$$w_b - b + c_b - s = \lambda(c - s)$$

it can be shown, that the buy-back contract coordinates the supply chain as long as $\lambda \leq 1$ (also see Cachon 2003). Moreover, Cachon and Lariviere (2005) show that buy backs are equivalent to revenue-sharing contracts, when the retail price is fixed. Interestingly, the two contracts are no longer equivalent under the assumption of a price-setting newsvendor. There is a substantial literature on buy-back contracts, which will be discussed in Sect. 2.3.

Revenue-Sharing Contract

With a revenue-sharing contract, the buyer pays w_r per unit purchased. In addition, the supplier is granted a fraction $(1 - \phi)$ of the buyer's revenue. The buyer, in turn, keeps a fraction ϕ of his revenue. Under the assumption that all revenue is shared, including the salvage revenue, the transfer payment with revenue sharing is

$$P_r(Q, w_r, \phi) = (w_r + (1 - \phi)s)Q + (1 - \phi)(r - s)S(Q)$$

Like buy backs, revenue-sharing contracts are able to coordinate the fixed-price newsvendor and arbitrarily divide the resulting profits. Consider the set of revenue-sharing parameters $\{w_r, \phi\}$ such that for $\lambda \ge 0$,

$$\phi(r-s) + g_b = \lambda(r-s+g),$$

$$w_b + c_b - \phi s = \lambda(c-s).$$

This set of revenue-sharing contracts induces the buyer to choose the optimal order quantity as long as $\lambda \leq 1$. Moreover, revenue-sharing contracts are equivalent to buy backs under the assumption of a fixed-price newsvendor. With revenue sharing, the buyer pays $w_r + (1 - \phi)s$ for each unit purchased and $(1 - \phi)(r - s)$ for each unit sold. This is equivalent to the coordinating buy-back contract $\{w_b, b\}$, which can be interpreted as paying $w_b - b$ for each unit purchased and an additional b per unit sold. (The usual description has the buyer paying w_b per unit purchased and receiving b per unit not sold to the market.) Consequently, revenue-sharing and buy-back contracts are equivalent when

$$w_b - b = w_b + (1 - \phi)s$$
$$b = (1 - \phi)(r - s).$$

Cachon and Lariviere (2005) provide a detailed analysis of revenue sharing and show that revenue sharing still coordinates the price-setting newsvendor, while buy backs, quantity flexibility contracts, and sales rebates cannot. Other analytical papers on revenue-sharing contracts include Dana and Spier (2001), Pasternack (2002), and Gerchak et al. (2006). The benefits of revenue-sharing are also observed in practice. Mortimer (2008), for example, estimates that the introduction of revenue sharing in the video rental industry increased total profit by 7%.

Quantity Flexibility Contract

With a QF contract, the supplier charges w_q per unit purchased but then compensates the buyer for his losses on unsold units up to ΔQ , where $\Delta \in [0, 1)$ is a contract parameter and Q is the number of units purchased. In the newsvendor model presented in Sect. 2.1.3, the buyer receives a credit from the supplier at the end of the season equal to $(w_q + c_b - s) \min(I, \Delta Q)$, where I is the amount of left over inventory.

With the QF contract, the transfer payment is

$$P_q(Q, w_q, \Delta) = w_q Q - (w_q + c_b - s) \int_{(1-\Delta)Q}^Q F(y) dy.$$

Compared to the buy-back contract, the QF contract fully protects the buyer on a portion of his order, whereas the buy back contract gives partial protection on the buyer's entire order. QF contracts also coordinate the fixed-price newsvendor and

arbitrarily allocate profit (Tsay 1999). But unlike coordinating buy backs, coordinating QF contracts are not independent of the buyer's demand distribution.

Tsay and Lovejoy (1999a) study quantity flexibility contracts in a more complex setting than the one considered here: they have multiple locations, multiple demand periods, lead times, and demand forecast updates. Bassok and Anupindi (2008) provide an in-depth analysis of these contracts for a single stage system with more general assumptions than in Tsay and Lovejoy (1999a). Since our research focuses on QF contracts, this contract type will be discussed more in detail in Sect. 2.2.

Sales-Rebate Contract

Here, the supplier charges the buyer a per unit wholesale price w_s , but then gives the buyer a rebate *m* per unit sold above a fixed threshold *n*. So, the transfer payment with the sales rebate contract is

$$P_s(Q, w_s, m, n) = \begin{cases} w_s Q & Q < n, \\ (w_s - m)Q + m(n + \int_n^Q F(y)dy) & Q \ge n. \end{cases}$$

This contract type is studied by Krishnan et al. (2004) and Taylor (2002). Like buy backs or QF contracts, sales-rebate contracts coordinate the fixed-price newsvendor when properly designed, but struggle with the price-setting newsvendor. The authors give numerous examples for the prevalence of sales rebates in the hardware, software, and auto industries.

Quantity Discount Contract

There are many types of quantity discount schedules (Moorthy 1987). One example is an "all unit" quantity discount contract. In this case, the supplier charges the buyer $w_d(Q)$ per order, where $w_d(Q)$ is the per unit wholesale price that is decreasing in Q. Hence, the transfer payment is

$$P_d(Q) = w_d(Q)Q.$$

For the fixed-price newsvendor, the quantity discount achieves coordination and allows to allocate supply chain profit arbitrarily. Quantity discount contracts are similar to revenue-sharing contracts, because with both contracts, the buyer's expected profit is proportional to the supply chain's expected profit. Still, these contract types are not equivalent (Cachon and Lariviere 2005).

Comprehensive literature reviews on quantity discounts are given by Dolan and Frey (1987) and Boyaci and Gallego (1997). Wilson (1993) provides a broad discussion of non-linear pricing, while Tomlin (2003) examines both quantity discount and quantity premium contracts.

Model Extensions and Other Contract Types

There are several model extensions of the classic newsvendor problem that prove insightful, but have not been addressed so far. We have already mentioned the pricesetting newsvendor, i.e., the case where the buyer chooses his retail price in addition to his stocking quantity. Moreover, one may consider costly retail effort, that increases demand. Coordination becomes more challenging in this case if the buyer's effort is non-contractible. On the one hand, the model can be extended to incorporate multiple competing buyers. On the other hand, one may want to let the buyer choose between different replenishment opportunities. Making the supplier hold inventory is another extension to the model, which is not trivial to coordinate. Finally, it remains the whole issue of asymmetric information and information sharing, which was already referred to in the introduction of this chapter. Cachon (2003) gives an extensive overview of research papers approaching these model extensions. One example for recent enhancements in this area is Chen (2007) who applies auction theory to a newsvendor problem with supply-side competition to study well-known supply chain contracts in procurement auctions.

Likewise, our review is not intended to present all possible types of supply chain contracts. We can only present an extract of contracting literature here, without claiming to be exhaustive. One type of supply chain contract that has been neglected so far is the two-part tariff. With a two-part tariff, the supplier charges a per unit wholesale price w_t and a fixed fee F. Here, the fixed fee serves to allocate profit between the supplier and the buyer. It can be shown that coordination is achieved with marginal cost pricing, because then the buyer's profit is total supply chain profit minus F. Since two-part tariffs achieve the same results as revenue-sharing contracts in the classic newsvendor model (Cachon and Lariviere 2005), we do not provide a detailed description of this contract type. Also price-discount contracts were not considered so far. Like a buy-back contract, a price-discount contract has a wholesale price and a buy-back rate. However, both contract terms are conditional on the chosen retail price which achieves coordination (Bernstein and Federgruen 2005). Furthermore, Cachon and Lariviere (2005) show that revenue sharing and pricediscount contracts are equivalent in the price-setting newsvendor model. Another set of research papers that is not addressed is the literature on franchise contracts. A franchise contract combines revenue sharing with a two-part tariff. That is, the supplier charges a fixed fee, a per-unit wholesale price, and a revenue share per transaction. See Lafontaine (2001) for a review on this stream of literature.

Finally, we will address supply chain contracts with options. Similar to financial options (Black and Scholes 1973; Hull 2008), options used in supply chain contracts constitute the right, but not the obligation to receive or deliver a good, product, or service by a certain date and predetermined price. Options involving real assets are also called real options (Kester 1984). These are usually classified by the type of flexibility that they offer (Trigeorgis 1995) and include, for instance, the option to defer, the option to abandon, the option to switch, and the option to improve (Huchzermeier and Loch 2001). Under certain conditions, supply options achieve coordination and allow for an arbitrary split of total supply chain profit (Cachon and Terwiesch 2005). Barnes-Schuster et al. (2002) investigate supply chain contracts with options in a two-period model, where the buyer has to make quantity commitments, but may purchase ahead of time some options. Options enable the buyer to procure in a future period additional quantity of goods at the exercise price. The authors show, inter alia, that OF contracts are special cases of their general model. Similarly, Cheng et al. (2008) consider a combination of quantity commitments and options. By considering call and put options, the authors point out the analogy to buy-back and return policies. In a real options approach, Kamrad and Siddique (2004) study supply chain contracts in a setting with exchange rate uncertainty, supplier-switching options, order-quantity flexibility, profit sharing, and supplier reaction options. Although most of the literature on supply chain contracts is concerned with the buyer's decisions, the authors concentrate on the supplier's decisions and show how flexibility can be mutually beneficial to both the buyer and the suppliers. Recent research on supply options include Lee and Whang (2002), Wu et al. (2002), Kleindorfer and Wu (2003), Spinler (2003), Jaillet et al. (2004), and Martínez-de-Albéniz and Simchi-Levi (2007).

2.2 Quantity Flexibility Contract

Tsay et al. (1999b) summarize the motives for entering a QF contract as follows: "[...] a QF clause has risk-sharing intent, and the hope is that the agreement can make both parties better off". Indeed, a QF contract achieves coordination of the fixed-price newsvendor problem by compensating the buyer for a certain amount of unsold goods. On the one hand, the benefit for the buyer clearly is a gain in quantity flexibility. On the other hand, the buyer should be prepared to pay a higher cost per unit compared to a pure wholesale price contract to compensate the supplier for the increased exposure to demand uncertainty. QF contracts can bring about further benefits for a supplier: Often, buyers benefit from over-production without bearing the immediate costs, hence provide higher planning forecasts. If supplier and buyer agree that the final order must be in a range predefined by a QF contract, this may be a means to improve forecasts.

QF contracts have emerged as a response to certain supply chain inefficiencies (Lee et al. 1997) and their widespread use has been documented in literature (see for example Bassok and Anupindi 1997; Li and Kouvelis 1999; Tsay and Lovejoy 1999a; Cachon and Lariviere 2001; and Barnes-Schuster et al. 2002). Farlow et al. (1996), for example, report the use of QF contracts at Sun Microsystems for the purchase of various workstation components. QF-type contracts have also been used by Toyota Motor Corporation (Lovejoy 1999), IBM (Connors et al. 1995), Hewlett Packard, and Compaq (Tsay 1999). They even appear internally at the interface between the manufacturing and marketing functions (Magee and Boodman 1967).

Models studying QF contracts typically require at least two decisions on the part of the buyer: An initial inventory decision, and then a revision conditional on whatever new information becomes available. Tsay (1999) study a model similar to the newsvendor model presented in this chapter. They determine optimal parameters of a coordinating contract and show that the profit share increases in the responsibility a firm takes for excess inventory. Bassok and Anupindi (2008) consider the buyer's side of the contract, where the planning for multiple future periods is performed in a rolling-horizon model. Tsay and Lovejoy (1999a) study a more complex variant of Tsay (1999) with multiple locations, periods, lead times, and forecast updates. In these multiperiod models, it is observed that QF contracts decrease order variability, thus retard the bullwhip effect. Cachon and Lariviere (2001) and Lariviere (2002) study the interplay of QF contracts and forecast sharing. In Cachon and Lariviere (2001), the buyer has to convince the supplier that the own forecast is better. In Lariviere (2002), the supplier wishes to incentivize forecasting effort. Cachon and Lariviere (2005) compare OF contracts to revenue-sharing and demonstrate several differences. Unlike the revenue-sharing contract, the OF contract cannot coordinate the price-setting newsvendor. Moreover, a coordinating QF contract depends on the demand distribution, which implies that one cannot simply write down a contract that works for all markets. Plambeck and Taylor (2007b) consider renegotiation in a system with one supplier and two buyers and identify conditions under which QF contracts achieve coordination.

2.3 Buy-Back Contract

As previously indicated, buy-back contracts are able to coordinate the fixed-price newsvendor (Pasternack 1985) and are equivalent to revenue-sharing contracts under the assumption of a fixed retail price (Cachon and Lariviere 2005). But unlike revenue sharing, the coordinating buy-back parameters depend on the retail price. Hence, it is not surprising that in contrast to revenue sharing, buy backs struggle with the price-setting newsvendor. In this case, as Kandel (1996) notes from an economist's perspective, buy backs cannot achieve coordination unless the supplier can impose resale price maintenance. In addition, Marvel and Peck (1995) and Bernstein and Federgruen (2005) demonstrate that buy backs coordinate the price-setting newsvendor only if the supplier earns zero profit. Emmons and Gilbert (1998) also study buy-back contracts with a price-setting newsvendor, while Taylor (2002) and Krishnan et al. (2004) combine a buy-back contract with a sales-rebate contract to coordinate the newsvendor with effort-dependent demand.

Padmanabhan and Png (1995) highlight applications of buy backs for products with a limited life expectancy, for example pharmaceuticals, computer hardware and software, magazines, newspapers, or books. Furthermore, the authors describe several motivations for entering buy-back contracts that are not included in the newsvendor model. One reason may be the supplier's wish to protect his brand image. By offering a buy-back contract, he makes the buyer return left over items instead of discounting them. Another motive may be the supplier's wish to rebalance inventory among several buyers (for literature on stock rebalancing see Lee 1987; Tagaras and Cohen 1992; Rudi et al. 2001; and Anupindi et al. 2001).

Padmanabhan and Png (1997) demonstrate how a supplier can use a buy-back contract to manipulate the competition between buyers. The buy-back model of Donohue (2000) incorporates multiple production opportunities and improving demand forecasts. Anupindi and Bassok (1999b) consider a two-buyer supply chain with consumers searching for inventory among those buyers and demonstrate that buy-back contracts can coordinate this setting. Strongly connected to the literature on buy-back contracts are the papers by Lee et al. (2000) and Taylor (2001) on price protection. Taylor (2001) shows that under the assumption of a declining retail price, coordination with arbitrary allocation of profit requires price protection in addition to a buy-back contract.

As Cachon (2003) notes, there are parallels between buy-back contracts and supply options studied in the context of capital intensive industries. In the two-firm supply chain of Wu et al. (2002), for example, the buyer reserves Q units for a fee hand pays a fee u for each unit of capacity utilized. If the spot price is less than u, the buyer does not exercise his option. But if the spot price is higher, the buyer has to determine an optimal mixture of capacity reservation and spot market. A buy-back analogous to the contract studied by Wu et al. (2002) would have a wholesale price $w_b = h + u$ and a buy-back price b = u, paying h + u for each unit of capacity reserved and receiving u per unit of capacity not utilized. Cheng et al. (2008) consider quantity commitments with options and also highlight the analogy to buy-back contracts.

2.4 Quantity Flexibility vs. Buy-Back Contract

We have already noted that well-designed QF and buy-back contracts can greatly improve the performance of a supply chain for a short life-cycle product. Insofar, it is not surprising that these contracts have found numerous applications in industry such as the computer industry or publishing. But are there any reasons to say that one contract is better than the other? Although the literature on supply chain contracts has studied both contract types, answers to this question are scarce (see Lariviere 1999 and Lariviere 2002 for exceptions). The goal of this section is to identify circumstances under which one contract type might be preferable to the other.

First of all, both contract types are partial returns policies. While the buy-back contract is a price-based returns mechanism, the QF contract is a quantity-based one. In contrast to the wholesale price contract, both contracts are able to coordinate the fixed-price newsvendor and to split profits arbitrarily. Furthermore, both struggle with the price-setting newsvendor. However, there is a clear difference between coordinating buy-back and coordinating QF contracts: While optimal contract parameters of the buy back do not depend on the demand distribution, this is the case with QF contracts (which can be relaxed for some distributional families). One may argue, if dependence on the distribution is rather an advantage or a disadvantage, since the supplier does not need to know a buyer's demand distribution to coordinate

the supply chain with a buy back contract. Consider another example: A supplier is generally obliged to offer the same contractual terms to all buyers. If only one contract is offered, coordination can only be achieved if the contract does not depend on parameters that differ from buyer to buyer. Hence, in such a situation where buyers face different demand distributions, the buy back would clearly be the contract of choice (Cachon 2003). On the other hand, the dependence of a contract on the demand distribution may also be advantageous. Lariviere (2002) studies a model with one supplier selling to a buyer that may exert effort to improve his demand forecast. It is in the interest of the supplier to screen the buyers who are capable of forecasting from those who are not. Since coordinating buy backs do not depend on the demand distribution, they cannot be used to differentiate between forecasters and nonforecasters, while coordinating QF contracts can. Furthermore, the author shows that the supplier is better off using a buy back if forecasting is inexpensive.

Despite their obvious power, returns mechanisms have not completely displaced non-coordinating contracts like the wholesale price contract in practice. Researchers have found several explanations for this. First, although returns mechanisms are simple contractual forms, they are more costly to administer than wholesale price contracts. Second, Cachon and Lariviere (2001) raise the question of the enforcement mechanism. They distinguish forced compliance (where the supplier must fill every order that is feasible under the agreed contract) and voluntary compliance regimes (where the supplier cannot be forced to fill an order). In a setting with symmetric information, the authors show that returns policies can collapse under voluntary compliance. Marvel and Peck (1995) offer another explanation. They note that a buyer has to cope with two forms of market uncertainty: the number of customers in the store and the price they are willing to pay for the product. The newsvendor model presented in this chapter only takes the first form of uncertainty into account, completely neglecting the second one. Assume that the number of customers was deterministic and the price they are willing to pay uncertain. Then a buyer might set higher prices resulting in declining sales and higher returns which would clearly hurt the supplier.

Our research shows that optimal contract parameters of returns policies may change in the face of long-term buyer-supplier relationships with quality improvement efforts. The model predicts that buyers will incentivize their suppliers to induce effort for quality improvement, for example in the form of contract adaptations or transfer payments. Moreover, we investigate if QF or buy-back contracts have a relative advantage when applied in long-term business relationships. The numerical studies carried out in Chap. 6 do not advocate exclusively one type of contract in any circumstance, but disclose differences of QF and buy-back contract regarding the leeway for contract adaptation and the continuance of the supply relationship. We will see, for example, that a buy back tends to offer more leeway than the QF contract when actual demand is low and that a QF contract tends to be better for higher values of the demand realization.

Chapter 3 Relational Contracts

While relational contracts have been vastly studied in Sociology, Law, and Economics, these kinds of contracts represent a rather new stream of research in the Operations and Supply Chain Management literature. Hence, the main objectives of this chapter are to shed light on the concept of relational contracting and to give an overview of recent developments in this field. The first section aims at explaining the general concept of relational contracting. The second section addresses the roots of relational contracts in Economics. The third section presents recent publications in the field of Operations and Supply Chain Management. The last section provides an introduction to the game-theoretic background of relational contracts.

3.1 The Concept

Over the last 25 years, a great deal has been written about relational contracts, especially in Sociology, Law, and Economics. As there are various definitions of what a relational contract is depending on the respective discipline, it is important to clarify that the present treatise refers to the following characterization of relational contracts. Baker et al. (2002) describe relational contracts as "informal agreements and unwritten codes of conduct that powerfully affect the behavior of individuals", clearly emphasizing the informal nature of the contracts.

Relational contracts help firms to overcome difficulties in formal contracting. A formal contract must be specified ex ante in a way that terms can be verified ex post by a third party. By contrast, a relational contract can be based on aspects that are observed only by the contracting parties ex post or are too costly to be specified ex ante. For the same reasons, relational contracts cannot be enforced by a third party, hence must be self-enforcing.

Self-enforcement is essential to sustain a relational contract. When the relation between the contracting parties is finite, the only enforceable contracts are formal court-enforceable contracts (see, for example, Bolton and Dewatripont 2005). But when the contracting parties are engaged in a repeated, open-ended relationship, the situation changes. Now, any formal court-enforceable contract can be extended with informal self-enforced provisions and become a self-enforced relational contract.

To create a basic understanding for relational contracts, we follow Gibbons (1997) and Gibbons (2008). The author gives a concise formalization of relational contracts, by developing a very simple repeated-game model. Gibbons first describes a one-time interaction between two parties, the so-called *Trust Game* (Kreps 1990), and then analyzes the associated relational contract, an ongoing relationship in which these interactions occur repeatedly.

The Trust Game

We start with the description of the trust game. As depicted in the game tree of Fig. 3.1, the trust game begins with a decision of player 1, who can choose either to trust or not to trust player 2. If player 1 chooses "Not Trust", he automatically terminates the relationship, i.e., the game ends. If player 1 chooses "Trust", then player 2 can choose to either honor or betray player 1's trust. The numbers at the end of each branch denote the players' payoffs for every outcome of the game. That is, in the case where player 1 ends the relationship, both players' payoffs are zero. If player 1 chooses to trust player 2 and player 2 honors player 1's trust, then both players receive payoffs of one. In the case where player 2's trust, player 1's trust, player 1 receives -1 and player 2 receives two.

Backwards induction yields that player 1 will end the relationship right in the beginning, by choosing not to trust player 2: If player 2 is given the move, he will prefer a payoff of two to a payoff of one, hence betray player 1's trust. Consequently, player 1 will receive zero if he chooses "Not Trust" and will receive -1 if he chooses "Trust". Since zero exceeds -1, player 1 should choose "Not Trust" and end the relationship.

The Relational Contract

Suppose the two players play the trust game repeatedly, with all previous outcomes observed by both players before the next period the game is played. Now, the sharp contrast between a one-period interaction and repeated long-term interactions



| | | Player 2 | |
|----------|-----------|----------|--------|
| | | Honor | Betray |
| Player 1 | Trust | 1,1 | -1,2 |
| | Not Trust | 0,0 | 0,0 |
| | | | |

Fig. 3.1 The trust game (adapted from Gibbons 1997)

becomes evident. In repeated interactions, the players will make a tradeoff between their short-term and long-term interests. Hence, player 1 will not necessarily end the relationship right in the beginning, but will weigh up instead if choosing "Trust" may be beneficial to him in the long run. Likewise for player 2, to whom choosing "Betray" in the first period may no longer be attractive due to the prospect of future benefits.

Formally, Gibbon's relational contract is an infinitely repeated trust game, in which the players share an interest rate r and payoffs are discounted across periods (for an introduction to game-theoretic concepts, we refer the reader to Sect. 3.4.1 starting on p. 46). One interpretation for the "infinite" horizon of the game is that the game ends at a random date. Under this interpretation, the interest rate r reflects not only the time value of money but also the probability that the players will meet again after the current period.

Before we start analyzing this very simple relational contract, we make assumptions on the players' strategies. Mostly for analytical simplicity, we will consider the following trigger strategies:

- **Player 1** In the first period, play "Trust". Thereafter, if all moves in all previous periods have been "Trust" and "Honor", play "Trust"; otherwise, play "Not Trust".
- Player 2 If player 1 plays "Trust" this period, play "Honor" if all moves in all previous periods have been "Trust" and "Honor"; otherwise, play "Betray".

As already mentioned before, these types of strategies are "not forgiving": If cooperation breaks down once, it will not be restored forever after. Or, in other words, the players react to a breakdown of cooperation with a reversion to short-term self-interest for the rest of the game.¹ Gibbons shows that these trigger strategies are a Nash equilibrium of the infinitely repeated game, provided that player 2 is sufficiently patient. That is, given that player 1 is playing his trigger strategy, it is in player 2's interest to play his trigger strategy as well, provided that the interest rate r is sufficiently small. To see that, suppose that player 1 follows his trigger strategy and chooses "Trust" in the first period. Player 2 then faces the following decision: He may choose "Betray", which maximizes his payoff in the first period of the game. In this case, player 1 will react by playing "Not Trust" forever after, resulting in a payoff of zero for player 2 in each subsequent period. Otherwise, player 2 may choose "Honor", in which case his payoff in the first period is smaller. But as player 1 is playing a trigger strategy, he will react by playing "Trust" in the next period, enabling player 2 to obtain non-zero payoffs in subsequent periods. Hence, player 2 has to trade off the short-term temptation of receiving 2 instead of 1 against the long-term cost of receiving 0 instead of 1 forever after. His decision will depend on the interest rate r. Given a sufficiently low interest rate r, the long-term self-interest will dominate, inducing player 2 to honor the relationship.

¹ The assumption of trigger strategies is not farfetched. Schweitzer, Hershey and Bradlow (2006) performed a laboratory study using a repeated trust game, which confirms that a subject actually refuses to cooperate in all subsequent periods once it has been deceived by the other party.

The repeated trust game illustrates how the prospect of future cooperation may induce two parties to sustain a relationship. The amount of payoffs per period as well as the interest rate r play a decisive role for the players' actions. To get a clearer picture of the players' willingness to cooperate, suppose that the players' payoffs per period are C from cooperation, D from defection, and P from punishment with D > C > P. Here, punishment means that the other player reacts to defection with non-cooperation forever after. As before, a potential defector must weigh the present value of continued cooperation against the short-term gain from defection followed by the long-term loss from punishment. Now, the players' decisions amount to evaluating two time paths of payoffs. The players have to trade off the case of continued cooperation (C, C, C, ...) against the case of non-cooperation (D, P, P, P, ...), as depicted in Fig. 3.2.

The time path of payoffs (C, C, C, ...) yields a higher present value than the time path (D, P, P, P, ...) if

$$1 + \frac{1}{r}C > D + \frac{1}{r}P,$$

since the present value of \$1 received every period starting tomorrow is $\$\frac{1}{r}$. Rearrangement of this inequality implies that it is optimal for a player to cooperate if r < (C - P)/(D - C). If this is the case, the players will forego the short-term temptation D - C for the long-term gain C - P in every subsequent period.

Even this simple relational contract offers one lesson: The higher the value of the relationship C - P, the more likely the relationship will continue. To allow for further conclusions about relational contracts, we can extend this model to incorporate fluctuating payoffs over time. Hence, suppose that at the beginning of period *t* the parties observe the payoffs C_t , D_t , and P_t . Also assume that each period's payoffs are independently drawn from a given joint probability distribution H(C, D, P).



Fig. 3.2 Payoffs from defection (D), cooperation (C), and punishment (P) (adapted from Gibbons, 2008)

Then, one can show that cooperation is optimal for a player in period t if

$$\mathsf{C}_t + \frac{1}{\mathsf{r}} E[\mathsf{C}] > \mathsf{D}_t + \frac{1}{\mathsf{r}} E[\mathsf{P}].$$

Here, E[C] and E[P] denote the expected values of C and P respectively. This enriched model offers a second lesson: the relationship is particularly in danger, when the defection temptation (or the gain $D_t - C_t$ associated with defection) is largest relative to the cooperation payoff.

To summarize, Gibbon's model illustrates the core feature of a relational contract: "When people interact over time, threats and promises concerning future behavior may influence current behavior" (Gibbons 2008). Unlike one-time interactions, repeated interactions allow the parties involved to enforce cooperation without formal contracts. Thereby, the parties' actions will be guided by the tradeoff between shortterm and long-term interests. In particular, parties will be more likely to honor a relationship, the higher the value of the relationship and the smaller the short-term gain from defection.

3.2 The Economists' Approach

The concept of relational contracts has its roots in Law, where by definition complex contracts are just regarded as frameworks to govern transactions. We will focus on the way economists try to integrate this notion of relational contracts in their models, differentiating between Transaction Cost Economics, Principal Agent, and Incomplete Contract Theory. We will see that in terms of classic Principal Agent and Incomplete Contract Theory, relational contracts are introduced as repeated games. As an illustration, two approaches by Levin (2003) and Baker et al. (2002) will be highlighted. The former is an extension of the classic Principal Agent model, while the latter is closer to the incomplete contract model according to Grossman and Hart (1986). Finally, recent findings by Brown et al. (2004) will be presented. Their experimental study gives rise to understanding, how the absence of third party enforcement actually fosters the adoption of long-term relationships.

Transaction Cost Economics

Transaction Cost Economics relate relational contracts to the notion of incompleteness. The incompleteness of a contract has the following meaning: There are decisions that have to be made ex post, e.g., by negotiation among the contracting parties. Therefore, contracts in Transaction Cost Economics are already designed to allow for adaptations and to simultaneously impede opportunism. As an application, Crocker and Masten (1991) present a price formula for long-term contracting in the gas industry (also see Masten and Crocker 1985). More precisely, the authors apply relational contracting theory to explain the price adjustment processes adopted in a sample of long-term natural gas contracts. Based on the contract data, the authors show that price adjustment processes tend to be more flexible the longer the duration of the contract (which is presumably due to the greater uncertainty associated with performance at more distant dates). Moreover, their work predicts that the contracting parties will value flexible arrangements most, when uncertainty about circumstances at the time of performance is greatest. In environments where opportunism is prevalent or where economic conditions are relatively simple and static, parties will tend to favor more precise and rigid agreements over flexible ones.

Principal Agent Theory

Principal Agent Theory views contracts and especially relational contracts differently. Provided that agents are rational, they can implement complete contracts, i.e., contracts that do not require revision. The main concern consists in the ex ante incentive alignment of the parties. This can be ensured if some relevant variables are assumed to be verifiable by a third party. In this case, the contract only comprises the verifiable variables and neglects relational aspects of the arrangement. Thus, relational contracts can only be introduced by considering repeated interactions among agents. Accordingly, Levin (2003) studies an infinitely repeated agency relation, where the incentive contract contains both court-enforced provisions and informal components. Performance measures are assumed to be non-verifiable. One main result of the paper is that the design of the optimal contracts often can take a simple stationary form, but that the absence of third party enforcement limits promised compensation and affects incentive provision. In his moral hazard model, optimal contracts terminate following poor performance.

Incomplete Contracts

The concept of Incomplete Contracts represents a similar approach. A contract is called incomplete when some relevant variables are non-verifiable, hence non-contractible. The corresponding model neglects ex post renegotiation because, even if renegotiations are necessary, those are assumed to be cost-free. The ex ante allocation of property rights plays an important role, as it affects the parties' incentives to invest in a specific asset. Like in the case of Principal Agent Theory, the relational aspect becomes irrelevant in the classic incomplete contract framework, and one can only establish relational contracts by considering repeated interactions. In the same line, Baker et al. (1994) introduce relational contracts in the incomplete contract framework of Grossman and Hart (1986). Baker et al. (2001, 2002) show that parties may shape their interactions through transfer payments and derive that the extent of the parties' incentives to renege and therewith the optimal relational contract depends on the ownership structure. Baker et al. (2002), for example, combine asset

ownership with relational contracting. The authors develop repeated-game models that illustrate why optimal relational contracts differ, depending on whether firms are vertically integrated or not. Their research proposes that integration changes the parties' temptations to renege on a given relational contract and thus affects the optimal relational contract the parties can sustain. In fact, the relational contract produces the same actions and total surplus under either ownership structure, but the maximum total reneging temptation may differ: In some situations, the reneging temptation is lower between integrated parties. In others, the reneging temptation is lower between nonintegrated parties. As a result, Baker et al. derive that vertically integrated firms cannot replicate spot-market outcomes.

A vast literature suggests that repeated interactions may affect the structure of economic relationships by allowing implicit contracts to be sustained (see Klein and Leffler 1981; Williamson 1985; Shapiro and Stiglitz 1984; Bull 1987; MacLeod and Malcomson 1988; Baker et al. 1994; Klein 1996, 2002; and Gibbons 2005). Using an experimental approach, Brown et al. (2004) provide evidence that the absence of third party enforcement (entailing the use of incomplete contracts) results in fundamental changes in the nature of market interactions: "In the absence of third party enforcement, markets resemble a collection of bilateral trading islands rather than a competitive market". The researchers distinguish three different contract environments: Complete contracts enforceable by a third party (C), incomplete contracts under the absence of third party enforcement (ICF), and ICF contracts with the restriction that long-term relations between contracting parties are forbidden (ICR). In an experiment with over 200 participants, Brown et al. observe that in the ICF condition, the vast majority of trades are initiated with private offers (see Fig. 3.3, p. 41). By contrast, public offers dominate in the C condition. Hence, when third party enforcement is absent, participants use private offers to establish long-term relationships, which is not the case in a complete contract environment. As Fig. 3.4



Fig. 3.3 Private vs. public offers: relative share of trades initiated by private offers (adapted from Brown et al. 2004)



Fig. 3.4 The relevance of long-term relations: cumulative frequency of trades in relationships of different length in the C and the ICF condition (adapted from Brown et al. 2004)



Fig. 3.5 The effort consequences of contingent contract renewals: Evolution of average effort over time (adapted from Brown et al. 2004)

shows, long-term relationships emerge endogenously under the absence of third party enforcement. Again, one observes that long-term relationships develop under the absence of third party enforcement, whereas long-term relationships rarely occur when complete contracts can be written. As regards relationship maintenance under self-enforcement, Brown et al. show that low effort (or bad quality) is penalized by the termination of the relationship. And finally, long-term relationships exhibit generous rent sharing and relatively high effort, as illustrated by the difference between the ICF and the ICR condition in Fig. 3.5 (clearly, the C condition).

3.3 Review of Operations and Supply Chain Management Literature

Having addressed the roots of relational contracts in Economics, we proceed to a literature survey in Operations and Supply Chain Management. Although relational contracts persist in practice, research on these types of contracts is only emerging in this field. Therefore, much of the material in this section draws on fairly recent research. The concepts and methods presented may well evolve significantly in response to future research breakthroughs.

As illustrated in Chap. 2, research in Operations and Supply Chain Management has identified a number of contracts that coordinate the supply chain in a newsvendor setting. However, current models often turn out to be too dependent on one-time contracting and neglect supply chain interactions occurring over long periods of time. Therefore, recent publications like Cachon (2003) and Terwiesch et al. (2005) postulate the analysis of repeated interaction:

First, we believe additional research is needed to analyze supply chain coordination in repeated game settings. While repeated games have been extensively studied in the economics literature, most of the contracting research in operations management has taken a rather static perspective, ignoring effects of trust building and reputation. (Terwiesch et al. 2005)

Researchers making first steps in this direction are for example Kranton and Minehart (2001), who analyze buyer-supplier networks and long-term relationships, and Plambeck and Zenios (2000), who investigate performance-based incentives in a dynamic principal agent model. Several papers explore renegotiation of formal contracts (see Laffont and Tirole 1990; Plambeck and Taylor 2007a,b). At the same time, a growing number of papers apply game theory to supply chain analysis, thereby demonstrating how repeated interactions may influence supply chain contracting. Cachon and Netessine (2004) summarize such approaches up to the year 2003.

The treatise at hand follows the framework constituted by recent papers on relational contracts in the field of Operations and Supply Chain Management. These papers will be reviewed in detail in the following. The reader will notice that especially Plambeck and Taylor have shaped this area of research significantly over the past years (Plambeck and Taylor 2006; Taylor and Plambeck 2007a,b).

We will start with a paper that examines the wholesale price contract in a setting with repeated interaction. More precisely, Debo and Sun (2004) investigate how repeated interaction affects coordination with wholesale price contracts. Although wholesale price contracts cannot achieve supply chain coordination in a single period interaction (Lariviere and Porteus 2001), Debo and Sun show that this is possible with repeated interaction if the supply chain members share a sufficiently high discount factor. In this case, the supplier decreases the wholesale price in return for a larger order quantity from the buyer. Moreover, Debo and Sun consider the impact of fluctuating demand on the parties' expected profits, the ability to coordinate, and the reneging temptation. They reveal that information about a parameter of the demand distribution available to both players in the beginning of each period may decrease the buyer's expected profit.

Ren et al. (2006) study relational contracts in the context of demand forecasting. They show that truthful information sharing can be achieved via a repeated forecasting game. Assuming that the buyer-supplier relationship is long-term, Ren et al. establish conditions under which a buyer operating with a linear price contract reveals demand information truthfully.

Tunca and Zenios (2006) model the competition between relational contracts and supply auctions emerging from the increased usage of electronic marketplaces. They investigate the interplay between price-based reverse auctions for low-quality parts and relational long-term contracts for high-quality parts, with multiple suppliers differing in quality. Market and product parameters that increase the economic value of both procurement modes are determined. Tunca and Zenios show that the competition from the auction market can either facilitate or undermine the relational contract, implying that the interplay of the different procurement modes plays an important role in the supply of high-quality products.

Plambeck and Taylor (2006) determine an optimal relational contract for joint production in a dynamic system with double moral hazard. Here, the output of joint production depends on the actions of both firms. These actions are unobservable and the output uncontractible with finitely many states characterizing system dynamics. Plambeck and Taylor provide an optimal relational contract that has a simple contract design and does not depend on the past history. Formal payments may be extended by discretionary ones to induce costly actions from the supplier's side. Moreover, the relational contract may require termination of the relationship with positive probability following poor performance. The authors show that process visibility can substantially improve system performance.

Taylor and Plambeck (2007a) consider repeated new product introduction and capacity investment and give guidance when to use relational price-only or relational quantity commitment contracts. In their framework, a supplier must invest in capacity when the product development effort is ongoing. Because the product is still ill-defined at this point of time, the buyer informally promises future terms of trade to provide incentives for capacity investment. Taylor and Plambeck show that the value of future relationship creates an incentive for the buyer to pay the supplier as promised. In a similar vein, Taylor and Plambeck (2007b) study relational contracts for capacity during the design and production process of an innovative product. The authors show that the gain from relational contracting is substantial over a broad range of parameter values and is greatest when the capacity cost is moderate and the bargaining power is evenly distributed. They conclude that by properly structuring informal procurement agreements, the firms can avoid having the buyer monitor the supplier's capacity.

When it comes to relational contracting, an important question is how the parties deal with noncooperative behavior. Experimental and empirical research suggests that breaking a promise may have a significant negative impact on the business relationship: Helper (1991), for example, supports the prevalent assumption of trigger

strategies by highlighting that US auto manufacturers that broke relational contracts for capacity investment in the 1970s had great difficulty building trust and cooperative relationships with suppliers later on. Yet, Atkins et al. (2006) have considered a richer behavioral model where the duration of punishment length is proportional to the magnitude of the deviation from the agreement.²

We conclude this section by sorting our model into the stream of literature presented. First of all, the aim of our research is to extend the analysis of wellestablished supply chain contracts like QF and buy-back contracts to a framework with repeated interactions, where joint effort for quality improvement and the prospect of future trade influences the parties' actions. In this sense, the model directly pursues current research on relational contracts and especially the work by Debo and Sun (2004), who consider wholesale price contracts in a setting with repeated interactions. Our model is closest to the double moral hazard problem of Plambeck and Taylor (2006). It also incorporates a Markov decision process, but introduces more complex supply chain contracts between the contracting parties as well as demand uncertainty. Another important aim is to gain more insights into the differences between QF and buy-back contracts in a relational contracts for inducing forecast revelation).

Like most of the papers presented, we assume trigger strategies. That is, noncooperation is punished by excluding the unreliable party from trade in all subsequent periods. In conformity with Plambeck and Taylor (2006), a limit on the value the firms are willing to destroy in order to punish noncooperation can be captured in the model, whereas introducing a finite punishment length in terms of Atkins et al. (2006) will significantly complicate the relational contract.

To explain the role of renegotiation in our model, we draw on Plambeck and Taylor (2007b). In their setting, two buyers contract for capacity with a common supplier. The buyers invest in innovation and the supplier builds capacity. Finally, the firms may renegotiate to allow a buyer facing poor (favorable) market conditions to buy less (more) as contracted. Their objective is to design QF contracts that anticipate renegotiation, so-called *renegotiable* QF contracts. Our research, in contrast, examines the relational aspect of a long-term buyer-supplier relationship and its impact on the design of *relational* QF contracts. The objective is to show how longterm business relationships may allow for adaptation of QF contract parameters to induce effort for quality improvement from the supplier's side. Still, renegotiation is not disregarded in our model. According to Laffont and Tirole (1990) and Rey and Salanie (1996), allowing renegotiation is equivalent to considering long-term contracts that are immune to renegotiation (in the sense that in every period the parties cannot achieve greater profit by substituting the contract). This immunity to renegotiation can be imposed in our model, too. Also note that the potential benefit of renegotiation is greatest if new information becomes available or if the parties

 $^{^{2}}$ For an introduction to the Economics literature on renegotiation, we refer the reader to Abreu and Pearce (1991).

can overcome an existing information asymmetry. If the access to new information is limited, the potential benefit from renegotiation may be relatively small like in Cachon and Zhang (2006).

This section was meant to illustrate how relational contracts have found their way into Operations and Supply Chain Management in recent years and to relate our work to existing literature. The next section will address the game-theoretic background.

3.4 Analytical Tools

In general, designing an efficient relational contract means selecting and supporting a particular equilibrium of an infinitely repeated game (an infinite game without time dependence where the exact same game is played repeatedly). In our case, the analyzed game is actually time-dependent in the sense that it incorporates a Markov decision process. Since repeated games play an important role in the formulation and analysis of relational contracts, we present these games and discuss their strengths and limitations when applying them to SCM settings. The action strategies of the optimal relational contracts developed in this treatise boil down to a dynamic programming recursion. For this reason, the last subsection gives a brief introduction into infinite horizon dynamic problems.

3.4.1 Game Theory

In this subsection, game-theoretic notation is introduced exemplifying infinitely repeated games, followed by a brief discussion of strengths and limitations of applying repeated games and dynamic games with Markovian dynamics to Supply Chain Management issues.

3.4.1.1 Introduction to Game Theory

Game theory aims at mathematically capturing behavior in strategic situations, in which an individual's success in making choices is influenced by the choices of others. Modern game theory resides on the work by von Neumann and Morgenstern (1944) who summarize the basic concepts existing at that time. In the 1950s, the theory was advanced significantly by many scholars. Milestones in the development of game theory include the concept of equilibrium (Nash 1950), games with imperfect information (Kuhn 1953), cooperative games (Aumann 1959; Shubik 1962) and auctions (Vickrey 1961) inter alia. Nowadays, game theory is widely recognized as an important analytical tool in many fields, including Social Sciences (especially Economics), Biology, Engineering, Political Science, Computer Science, and Philosophy.

Exemplifying infinitely repeated games, we introduce basic game-theoretic notation and concepts in line with Gibbons (1992). For an elaborate treatment of game theory we refer the reader to texts like Friedman (1986) and Fudenberg and Tirole (1991).

We start by introducing static games to construct repeated games later on. Let (s_1, \ldots, s_n) denote a combination of strategies, one for each player, and let u_i denote player *i*'s payoff function, i.e., $u_i(s_1, \ldots, s_n)$ is the payoff to player *i* if the players choose the strategies (s_1, \ldots, s_n) . Then, we can represent a game *G* as follows:

Definition 3.1 (Normal-Form Representation). The normal-form representation of an n-player game specifies the players' strategy spaces S_1, \ldots, S_n and their pay-off functions u_1, \ldots, u_n . We denote this game by $G = \{S_1, \ldots, S_n; u_1, \ldots, u_n\}$.

Now, we can define the Nash equilibrium for the game G:

Definition 3.2 (Nash Equilibrium). In the n-player normal-form game $G = \{S_1, \ldots, S_n; u_1, \ldots, u_n\}$, the strategies (s_1^*, \ldots, s_n^*) are a Nash equilibrium if for each player i, s_i^* is player i's best response to the strategies specified for the n-1 other players, $(s_1^*, \ldots, s_{i-1}^*, s_{i+1}^*, \ldots, s_n^*)$:

$$u_i(s_1^*,\ldots,s_{i-1}^*,s_i^*,s_{i+1}^*,\ldots,s_n^*) \ge u_i(s_1^*,\ldots,s_{i-1}^*,s_i,s_{i+1}^*,\ldots,s_n^*)$$

for every feasible strategy s_i in S_i ; that is, s_i^* solves

$$\max_{s_i \in S_i} u_i(s_1^*, \dots, s_{i-1}^*, s_i, s_{i+1}^*, \dots, s_n^*).$$

In other words, saying that the strategies (s'_1, \ldots, s'_n) are not a Nash equilibrium of the game G means that there exists a player *i* such that s'_i is not a best response to $(s'_1, \ldots, s'_{i-1}, s'_{i+1}, \ldots, s'_n)$. In fact, there exists some strategy s''_i in S_i such that

 $u_i(s'_1,\ldots,s'_{i-1},s'_i,s'_{i+1},\ldots,s'_n) < u_i(s'_1,\ldots,s'_{i-1},s''_i,s'_{i+1},\ldots,s'_n).$

Consequently, strategies prescribed by a convention of how to play a given game must be a Nash equilibrium. Otherwise, at least one player will have an incentive to deviate from the convention.

To construct an infinitely repeated game, we consider a static game of complete information *G* that is repeated infinitely in every stage *t*, *t* = 1, 2, 3, ..., with the outcomes of all previous stages observed before the current stage begins. Note that complete information means that the players' payoff functions are common knowledge. *G* will also be called the *stage game* of the infinitely repeated game. Before giving the exhaustive definition of the infinitely repeated game, let's first specify the discount factor δ and the players' payoffs from the infinitely repeated game. The discount factor $\delta = \frac{1}{1+r}$ is generally defined as the value today of a dollar to be received one stage later, where **r** is the interest rate per stage. Then the players' payoffs from the infinitely repeated games:

Definition 3.3 (Present Value). Given the discount factor δ , the present value of the infinite sequence of payoffs $\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3, \ldots$ is

$$\pi_1 + \delta \pi_2 + \delta^2 \pi_3 + \dots = \sum_{t=1}^{\infty} \delta^{t-1} \pi_t.$$

Definition 3.4 (Infinitely Repeated Game). Given a stage game G, let $G(\infty, \delta)$ denote the infinitely repeated game in which G is repeated forever, and the players share the discount factor δ . For each t, the outcomes of the t - 1 preceding plays of the stage game are observed before the t-th stage begins. Each player's payoff in $G(\infty, \delta)$ is the present value of the player's payoffs from the infinite sequence of stage games.

In any game, be it static or repeated, a player's strategy is a complete plan of action. More precisely, a player's strategy specifies a feasible action for the player in every event the player might be called upon to act. Before we define the term strategy in the context of repeated games, we will clarify what the term history of the game stands for:

Definition 3.5 (History of the Game). In the infinitely repeated game $G(\infty, \delta)$, the history of the game through stage *t* is the record of the players' choices in stages 1 through *t*.

Definition 3.6 (Strategy). In the infinitely repeated game $G(\infty, \delta)$, a player's strategy specifies the action the player will take in each stage, for each possible history of play through the previous stage.

A widely accepted assumption when dealing with repeated games (or relational contracts) is that players adhere to trigger strategies. Therefore, we pick up the term at this point. Since in repeated games players can choose their current action contingent on observed actions in previous periods, they may choose one strategy until the opponent changes his play and then react by reverting to a different strategy:

Definition 3.7 (**Trigger Strategy**). If a player cooperates until someone fails to cooperate, which triggers a switch to noncooperation forever after, this is called a trigger strategy.

The threat of reverting to a different strategy must be credible though, i.e., the players' strategies should represent an equilibrium for the whole horizon of the game. To distinguish between credible and non-credible threats, Selten (1965) introduced the subgame and the related notion of subgame-perfect equilibrium:

Definition 3.8 (Subgame). In the infinitely repeated game $G(\infty, \delta)$, each subgame beginning at stage t + 1 is identical to the original game $G(\infty, \delta)$. As in the finite-horizon case, there are as many subgames beginning at stage t + 1 of $G(\infty, \delta)$ as there are possible histories of play through stage t.

Definition 3.9 (Subgame-Perfect Nash Equilibrium, Selten 1965). A Nash equilibrium is subgame-perfect if the players' strategies constitute a Nash equilibrium in every subgame.

We can now proceed to the famous Folk Theorem (its source is unknown with Friedman being one of the first to treat the Folk Theorem in detail). Before stating the theorem, we define the term average payoff:

Definition 3.10 (Average Payoff). Given the discount factor δ , the average payoff of the infinite sequence of payoffs $\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3, \ldots$ is

$$(1-\delta)\sum_{t=1}^{\infty}\delta^{t-1}\pi_t.$$

Theorem 3.1 (Friedman 1971). Let G be a finite, static game of complete information. Let (e_1, \ldots, e_n) denote the payoffs from a Nash equilibrium of G, and let (f_1, \ldots, f_n) denote any other feasible payoffs from G. If $f_i > e_i$ for every player i and if δ is sufficiently close to one, then there exists a subgame-perfect Nash equilibrium of the infinitely repeated game $G(\infty, \delta)$ that achieves (f_1, \ldots, f_n) as the average payoff.

The theorem proves that any convex combination of the feasible payoffs is attainable in the infinitely repeated game as an equilibrium. Hence, on the one hand, the study of subgame perfect equilibria reduces the set of equilibria when treating repeated games. On the other hand, the Folk Theorem suggests that infinitely repeated games feature multiplicity of equilibria.

3.4.1.2 Game Theory in Supply Chain Analysis

This subsection is named after a publication by Cachon and Netessine (2004), in which the authors survey the applications of game theory to supply chain analysis and sound out the potential of game-theoretic concepts for future application. Since the nature of game-theoretic concepts may influence the design and tractability of SCM models significantly, we will summarize some main observations here.

Game-theoretic models help to better understand the interactions of independent agents within and across firms. Accordingly, the application of game-theoretic concepts to Operations and Supply Chain Management has gained in importance significantly over the last years, suggesting that these fields are ideal candidates for game-theoretic applications (see literature surveys by Li and Whang 2001 and Cachon and Netessine 2004). While many SCM models like newsvendor-based models are static, a significant portion of literature examines dynamic models in which decisions are made over time. Often, the solution concept for these dynamic games are comparable to – but still differ from – the backwards induction used when treating dynamic programming problems.

The focus of this treatise is on dynamic games and especially those types of dynamic games that are used in the analysis of relational contracts. We have learned in the beginning of this chapter, that self-enforcement is essential to sustain a relational contract. Since informal agreements characteristic for relational contracts cannot be enforced when considering a finite number of periods, the games used to model relational contracts typically exhibit an infinite number of periods. Like many economists doing research on relational contracts, Debo and Sun (2004) apply infinitely repeated games to their study of relational wholesale price contracts. Other researchers studying relational contracts in SCM settings incorporate a Markov decision process into their game-theoretic models (see Plambeck and Taylor 2006).

These are exactly the two types of dynamic games of major interest in the analysis of relational contracts: infinitely repeated games and Markov games. Unlike the well-known Stackelberg game (the simplest possible dynamic game which has found many applications in SCM), these games look at situations where both players take actions not only once, but in multiple periods. The major difference between these types of games is that Markov games are time-dependent, while infinitely repeated games are not – a fundamental difference when it comes to modeling SCM problems.

We will take a closer look at the infinitely repeated game first. An interesting property of this game is that the set of equilibria is much larger than the set of equilibria in a static game. Furthermore, it may include equilibria that are not possible in the static game. Although concentrating on subgame-perfect equilibria may reduce the number of equilibria, their multiplicity still poses a major problem, as already mentioned in the previous section (see the Folk Theorem on p. 49). Another drawback of repeated games when applying them to SCM settings is that typical components of SCM models like the transfer of inventory cannot be modeled, since this would require time dependence of the game.

The other type of games allowing for time dependence is the so-called stochastic or Markov game, which essentially combines a static game with a Markov decision process. That is, the set of players with strategies and payoffs is supplemented by a set of states and a transition mechanism p(x'|x, y), describing the probability for a transition from state x to state x' given action y. These games exhibit similar difficulties like non-stationary inventory models. Hence, a standard simplifying assumption is that demands are independent and identical across periods. Similar to repeated games, these games get rather complicated as soon as there is more than one decision maker involved. So, a standard approach is to focus on stationary equilibria, since non-stationary policies are hard to implement in practice.

In summary, this subsection revealed several implications for modelling relational contracts by means of game theory. Especially in SCM applications, special attention should be given to modelling time dependence, to making assumptions on the demand distribution, and to handling multiplicity of equilibria.

3.4.2 Dynamic Programming

Dynamic Programming looks at a very wide range of problems where decisions are made in stages. Characteristically, the outcome of each decision is not fully predictable but can be observed before the next decision is made. Another key aspect of such problems is that decisions cannot be viewed in isolation because low costs in earlier stages may imply high costs in later stages.

Dynamic Programming comprises deterministic and stochastic dynamic programming. In deterministic dynamic programming, given a state and a decision, both the immediate payoff and the next state are deterministic. In stochastic dynamic programming by contrast, either of these are stochastic. In the following, we will present a general stochastic dynamic programming definition and the respective solution algorithm.

3.4.2.1 Basic Dynamic Problem

For many optimization problems, the following principle of optimality applies: The partial solution of an optimal solution is itself optimal. Dynamic Programming takes advantage of this property by successively composing the optimal solution of partial solutions.

Formally speaking, the procedure can be described as follows (Bertsekas 1987). We consider a discrete-time dynamic system

$$x_{k+1} = f_k(x_k, u_k, w_k), \quad k = 0, 1, \dots, N-1,$$

where in every period $k = \{0, 1, ..., N-1\}$ the system assumes a state x_k (e.g., the current inventory level). The decision variable u_k denotes the control to be selected at time k with knowledge of the state x_k (e.g., u_k may denote the current order quantity). The parameter w_k is stochastic and captures disturbance or noise (e.g., the current demand realization). N describes the time horizon of the system or the number of times control is applied.

Likewise, there is a cost functional that is to be minimized. This cost functional is additive over time. That is, a cost $g_k(x_k, u_k, w_k)$ is incurred in each period k and the total cost results from

$$g_N(x_N) + \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} g_k(x_k, u_k, w_k),$$

where $g_N(x_N)$ is a terminal cost incurred at the end of the process. Since cost is generally a random variable, the model formulation aims at minimizing expected cost $E\left[g_N(x_N) + \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} g_k(x_k, u_k, w_k)\right]$ by determining an optimal policy $\pi = \{\mu_0^*, \dots, \mu_{N-1}^*\}$, which maps the states x_k into controls $u_k = \mu_k(x_k)$.

The principle of optimality can thus be applied by constructing optimal partial controls starting at time N - 1 and putting these recursively together. The following proposition states the DP algorithm for the basic problem and shows its optimality.

Proposition 3.1 (Optimality of the DP Algorithm). Let $J^*(x_0)$ be the optimal cost. Then

$$J^*(x_0) = J_0(x_0),$$

where the function J_0 is given by the last step of the following algorithm, which proceeds backward in time from period N - 1 to period 0:

$$J_N(x_N) = g_N(x_N)$$
(3.1)
$$J_k(x_k) = \min_{u_k \in U_k(x_k)} E_{w_k} \Big[g_k(x_k, u_k, w_k) + J_{k+1} [f_k(x_k, u_k, w_k)] \Big]$$

$$k = 0, 1, \dots, N - 1. \tag{3.2}$$

Furthermore, if $u_k^* = \mu_k^*(x_k)$ minimizes the right-hand side of (3.2) for each x_k and k, the control law $\pi^* = \{\mu_0^*, \dots, \mu_{N-1}^*\}$ is optimal.

3.4.2.2 Infinite Horizon Dynamic Problems

The remainder of the chapter covers infinite horizon dynamic problems, i.e., dynamic problems with an infinite number of stages (Bertsekas 1987). The focus is on problems where the system is stationary in the sense that the system equation, the cost per stage, and the random disturbance statistics remain unchanged from one stage to the next. Clearly, the assumption of an infinite number of stages is a mathematical formalization. For problems involving a finite but very large number of stages it represents a reasonable approximation. The second assumption, stationarity, is often fulfilled in practice, and in other cases it constitutes a reasonable approximation for situations where the system parameters vary slowly with time.

The analysis of infinite horizon problems is much more complex than the analysis of the finite horizon counterparts. The analysis involves the study of limiting behavior which is often nontrivial. The convergence of the DP algorithm and the corresponding optimal policies for example need special attention, a crucial point in Chaps. 4 and 5 as well. Nevertheless, the analysis of infinite horizon problems has also several advantages. The analysis is often elegant and the implementation of optimal policies is often simple, because they are typically stationary, i.e., do not change from one stage to the next.

We will see in the following that especially the form of the cost functional may substantially affect tractability of an infinite horizon dynamic program. Thus, when dealing with this type of problems (like in our relational contracting model), special attention should be paid to the design of the cost functional.

Classes of Problems

Traditionally, three classes of infinite horizon problems have been of major interest:

(a) In the discounted case with bounded cost per stage, the cost functional takes the form

$$J_{\pi}(x_0) = \lim_{N \to \infty} E_{w_k, k=0,1,\dots} \left[\sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \delta^k g[x_k, \mu(x_k), w_k] \right],$$
(3.3)

where $J_{\pi}(x_0)$ denotes the cost associated with an initial state x_0 and a policy $\pi = \{\mu_0, \mu_1, \ldots\}$, and δ is a scalar with

$$0 < \delta < 1, \tag{3.4}$$

called the discount factor. The cost per stage g(x, u, w) is uniformly bounded from above and below. More precisely, the cost per stage g satisfies

$$0 \le g(x, u, w) \le M, \text{for all } (x, u, w), \tag{3.5}$$

where M is some scalar.

Due to the presence of a contraction mapping underlying the Dynamic Programming recursion, case (a) is the simplest infinite horizon problem. There are no pathologies here, and effective computational methods are available for solution.

- (b) In this class of problems, the costs per stage are allowed to be unbounded either from above or from below. The cost functional has the same form as in (a) except that δ may be a positive scalar greater or equal to 1. The resulting complications are substantial, and the analysis is much more complex compared to case (a).
- (c) In the last class of problems, it cannot be guaranteed that $J_{\pi}(x_0)$ is finite, although minimization of $J_{\pi}(x_0)$ makes sense only if $J_{\pi}(x_0)$ is finite for at least some admissible policies π and some initial states x_0 . The problems of interest have $J_{\pi}(x_0) = \infty$, but the limit

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} E_{w_k, k=0,1,\dots} \left[\sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \delta^k g[x_k, \mu(x_k), w_k] \right]$$
(3.6)

is finite for every policy $\pi = {\mu_0, \mu_1, ...}$ and initial state x_0 . In this case, one tries to minimize the above expression, interpreted as an average cost per stage.

Computational Methods

The class of problems (a) being most relevant in the later analysis of our model, this subsection presents approaches for solving the infinite horizon problem (a) with cost functional (3.3) under assumptions (3.4) and (3.5). Computational methods for classes (b) and (c) are treated in Bertsekas (1987) for example.

The first approach is successive approximation. Essentially, it is the DP algorithm from Sect. 3.4.2.1, but the algorithm proceeds from lower to higher values of the index k (see Bertsekas 1987, p. 180). Starting from an arbitrary bounded function J, the DP algorithm yields in the limit the function J^* , and the rate of convergence is equal or faster than the rate of convergent geometric progression. Therefore, the DP algorithm is adequate for computing or at least approximating the function J^* . Policy iteration and linear programming offer possibilities to accelerate

the computation in a finite number of iterations under the condition that the involved spaces are finite sets. If the number of states is large, this approach is not advisable due to a large overhead per iteration. The best features of both approaches successive approximation and policy iteration can be combined by adaptive aggregation (Bertsekas and Castanon 1989).

Chapter 4 Relational Contracts and Optimal Quantity Flexibility

So far in this treatise, we have seen that relational contracts persist in practice. A reason for this is that unobservable or uncontractible performance is hard to capture in formal contracts. In this case, relational contracts may provide an effective remedy. More precisely, in long-term business relationships, these contracts help to overcome the problem of incentivizing performance by introducing informal agreements. We have also learned that formal court-enforceable contracts are the only enforceable contracts when the relation between the contracting parties is finite. But in the case of a repeated, open-ended relationship, the situation changes. Now, any formal court-enforceable contract may be extended with informal self-enforced agreements, and hence become a relational contract. That is exactly what we will do in this chapter: A supplier and a buyer contract on the basis of a formal quantity flexibility (QF) contract. With the goal of preserving and improving quality, they engage in a long-term business relationship, thereby making room for informal agreements on the actual utilization of quantity flexibility. We will see that an optimal relational contract exists. Moreover, a simple stationary contract design can be determined giving guidance to the supply chain partners to organize their business relationship in an optimal way.

4.1 The Quantity Flexibility Model

The model which will be presented and analyzed in the following combines a formal QF contract with relational aspects of a buyer-supplier relationship. Figure 4.1 illustrates the succession of events. At the start of the relationship, the two parties negotiate a formal QF contract, which is enforceable by a third party. This QF contract regulates that the retailer purchases Q units for the price w_{Δ} per unit at the start of the period and may return up to ΔQ units at the end of the period for a full refund, $\Delta \in [0, 1)$. The scope of this contract is long-term. Moreover, buyer and supplier collaborate with the joint objective of improving quality. But their efforts for quality are unobservable and uncontractible (such that the firms cannot write a contract contingent on actions or quality level). In order to induce effort from the supplier's side, the buyer holds out the prospect of reducing his quantity flexibility,



Fig. 4.1 Succession of events for the quantity flexibility model

thus of increasing his responsibility for excess inventory. In addition, the buyer can offer a supplementary transfer payment. These promises are informal and cannot be enforced by court.

Hence, the relational contract we are studying consists of four parts:

- 1. A formal (court-enforceable) QF contract
- 2. An *informal* agreement on the actual utilization of quantity flexibility, possibly supplemented by an informal transfer payment (not enforceable by a third party)
- 3. A *strategy for the supplier* regarding effort decisions and relationship management
- 4. A strategy for the buyer regarding effort decisions and relationship management

After a first model description, we will now take a closer look at the sequence of events. At the beginning of the buyer-supplier relationship, the parties negotiate a formal QF contract { w_{Δ} , Q, Δ } whose scope is long-term. In the following business relationship, the stage game, i.e., steps 2–5 in Fig. 4.1, is repeated infinitely often. In period *t* of the game, the sequence of events looks as follows:

- In step 2, both firms decide whether to transact in the current period.
- In step 3, the supplier produces Q units. Knowing the history of the game H^t including the current quality level X_t , supplier and buyer decide how much effort a_{st} and a_{bt} to induce for quality.
- In step 4, both parties observe the impact of their effort decisions, i.e., the transition to the new quality level X_{t+1} and the associated cost benefit for the buyer L_t.
- In step 5, the buyer observes the actual demand D_t and chooses the degree of reduction $\xi_t \in [0, 1]$ of exploitable quantity flexibility and the amount of the supplementary transfer payment p_t .

In this dynamic game, assume that both parties employ trigger strategies, as is standard in the Economics literature on relational contracts (Baker et al. 2001, 2002; Levin 2003). A trigger strategy is to adhere to the relational contract in every period

until the other firm does not stick to its promise for the first time and then to refuse to transact for the rest of the game. To a large extent, these strategies reflect behavioral realism: if cooperation breaks down, then it is finished and replaced by spot contracting forever after.

An interpretation for the "infinite" horizon of the game is that the relationship is open-ended, i.e., the firms do not know in advance the exact number of times the stage game will be played. If the game is repeated only a finite number of times, no cooperation will take place. Or, put differently, when the relation between the contracting parties is finite, a relational contract is not enforceable. To see that, consider playing the trust game from Chap. 3 exactly N times. If the number of times the stage game is repeated was known in advance, player 2 would opportunistically play "Betray" in the last period of the game. By backwards induction, one can show that player 1 will anticipate this behavior by playing "Not Trust" in the first period. Hence, no cooperation takes place.

We close the introduction to the model with a summary of the most important model assumptions. First, we consider a two-firm supply chain with one supplier, one buyer, and one product. In the dynamic game, the stage game is repeated infinitely with market demand materializing at the end of each period. In period t, every firm observes X_t and X_{t+1} , the old and the new quality level, and the cost benefit L_t , but cannot observe the other firm's action. The history of the game, the action sets, cost functions, and the transition matrix specifying the transition from quality level to quality level are common knowledge. Furthermore, it is assumed that both firms maximize expected profits, discount future profit streams, and employ trigger strategies. For tractability reasons, there is no carry-over of inventory between periods and demand is assumed to be independent and identically distributed across periods. And finally, quality is modeled dynamically (via Markovian dynamics) yielding an infinite horizon dynamic program.

4.2 Model Analysis

With the objective of determining an optimal self-enforcing relational contract, we now proceed to the analysis of the model. First, the nomenclature is introduced (see Sect. 4.2.1). Then the discounted expected profits of supplier and buyer are described in Sect. 4.2.2.

Having laid the foundations for the model analysis, we dedicate the remainder of the chapter to the characterization of an optimal relational contract. Section 4.2.3 deals with conditions for self-enforcement of the sought-after contract, while Sects. 4.2.4 and 4.2.5 take a closer look at the total expected discounted profit both in the case of perfect coordination and relational contracting. We will see that the total expected discounted profit under an optimal relational contract can be written in the form of a dynamic programming recursion. Convergence of this underlying dynamic programming recursion is taken care of in Sect. 4.2.6. Finally, we deduce a simple optimal relational contract and explain the managerial implications for the supply chain partners (see Sect. 4.2.7 and Theorem 4.1 in particular).

4.2.1 Nomenclature

The following list summarizes the symbols used to describe and analyze the model. Note that τ_{st} , e_{st} , and a_{st} are the supplier's decision variables and that τ_{bt} , e_{bt} , a_{bt} , ξ_t , and p_t are the buyer's decision variables.

| <i>t</i> : | Period |
|-----------------------------------|---|
| <i>c</i> : | Production cost |
| Q: | Production quantity |
| r: | Retail price |
| ₩ <u>⊿</u> : | Wholesale price of the quantity flexibility contract |
| Δ : | Quantity flexibility |
| ξ_t : | Degree of reduction of exploitable quantity flexibility in period t |
| p_t : | Supplementary transfer payment in period <i>t</i> |
| p_t : δ : | Discount factor |
| D_t : | Demand realization in period <i>t</i> |
| <i>G</i> : | Continuous distribution function of D_t |
| <i>s</i> : | Salvage value |
| <i>g</i> : | Goodwill cost |
| \mathcal{X} : | Finite, discrete state space reflecting quality |
| $X_t \in \mathcal{X}$: | Initial quality level in period <i>t</i> |
| L_t : | Buyer's cost benefit from quality transition in period <i>t</i> |
| F_{xz} : | Continuous distribution function of L_t with support $[\underline{l}_{xz}, \overline{l}_{xz}]$ |
| | where $\underline{l}_{xz} < \overline{l}_{xz}$ |
| L(x,z): | Expected value of L_t given $(X_t, X_{t+1}) = (x, z)$, i.e., $L(x, z) \equiv$ |
| | $E[L_t (X_t, X_{t+1}) = (x, z)] = \int_{l_{x_t}}^{l_{x_t}} ldF_{xz}(l)$ |
| γ_{st} : | Supplier's outside option in period t |
| γ_{bt} : | Buyer's outside option in period <i>t</i> |
| a_{st} : | Supplier's effort for quality in period <i>t</i> |
| a_{bt} : | Buyer's effort for quality in period <i>t</i> |
| $c_s(a_{st}, X_t, \gamma_{st})$: | Supplier's cost from effort in period <i>t</i> |
| $c_b(a_{bt}, X_t, \gamma_{bt})$: | Buyer's cost from effort in period <i>t</i> |
| $P_{xz}(a_s, a_b) = Pr$ | $\{X_{t+1} = z X_t = x; a_s, a_b\}$: Probability for a transition from |
| (a | state $X_t = x$ to state $X_{t+1} = z$, given efforts a_s and a_b |
| | Decision to transact in period <i>t</i> |
| $e_{st}, e_{bt} \in \{0, 1\}$: | Decision to execute the informal transaction at the end of |
| | period t |
| $H^{\iota} = \{X_1, \ldots, X_t;$ | $L_1, \ldots, L_{t-1}; \tau_{s1}, \ldots, \tau_{s(t-1)}; e_{s1}, \ldots, e_{s(t-1)}; \tau_{b1}, \ldots, \tau_{b(t-1)};$ |
| $e_{b1}, \ldots, e_{b(t-1)}\}$: | $H^t \in \mathcal{X}^t \times \mathbb{R}_+^{t-1} \times \{0, 1\}^{4(t-1)}$ is the public history of the game |
| | at the beginning of period t |
4.2.2 Discounted Expected Profits

This subsection specifies discounted expected profits for supplier and buyer starting from the beginning of period T with $0 < \delta < 1$. Discounted expected profits due to collaboration for quality improvement are given as follows:

$$\Pi_{sT} = \sum_{t=T}^{\infty} \delta^{t-T} \tau_{st} \tau_{bt} \Big[e_{st} e_{bt} [(w_{\Delta} - s)\xi_t \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0)) + p_t] - c_s(a_{st}, X_t, \gamma_{st}) \Big],$$
(4.1)

$$\Pi_{bT} = \sum_{t=T}^{\infty} \delta^{t-T} \tau_{st} \tau_{bt} \Big[L_t + e_{st} e_{bt} [(s - w_{\Delta}) \xi_t \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0)) - p_t] - c_b (a_{bt}, X_t, \gamma_{bt}) \Big].$$

$$(4.2)$$

That is, in each period t, supplier and buyer decide whether they want to transact by setting τ_{st} and τ_{bt} to zero or one. Each transaction involves costs $c_s(a_{st}, X_t, \gamma_{st})$ for the supplier and costs $c_b(a_{bt}, X_t, \gamma_{bt})$ for the buyer, depending on the actions a_{st} and a_{bt} taken in period t, the current quality level X_t , and the current outside alternatives γ_{st} and γ_{bt} . Also note that the cost benefit L_t from the current quality level goes to the buyer. If both parties want to transact in period t, they can decide whether to execute the informal transaction $(w_{\Delta} - s)\xi_t \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0)) + p_t$ by setting e_{st} and e_{bt} to zero or one. Here, shifting $(w_{\Delta} - s)\xi_t \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0))$ to the supplier means that the buyer renounces ξ_t of exploitable quantity flexibility. Only if both are willing to do so, the informal transaction actually takes place.

Together with the discounted expected profits from the formal QF contract, this yields cumulative discounted expected profits (starting from the beginning of period T) for supplier and buyer of

$$\Pi_{sT}^{cum} = \sum_{t=T}^{\infty} \delta^{t-T} \tau_{st} \tau_{bt} \Big[-cQ + w_{\Delta} [(1-\Delta)Q + \min(\Delta Q, \max(D_t - (1-\Delta)Q, 0))] \\ + s(Q - [(1-\Delta)Q + \min(\Delta Q, \max(D_t - (1-\Delta)Q, 0))]) \\ + e_{st} e_{bt} [(w_{\Delta} - s)\xi_t \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0)) + p_t] - c_s(a_{st}, X_t, \gamma_{st}) \Big],$$
(4.3)

$$\Pi_{bT}^{cum} = \sum_{t=T}^{\infty} \delta^{t-T} \tau_{st} \tau_{bt} \Big[L_t - w_{\Delta} [(1-\Delta)Q + \min(\Delta Q, \max(D_t - (1-\Delta)Q, 0))] \\ + r \min(Q, D_t) + s \max(0, (1-\Delta)Q - D_t) - g \max(0, D_t - Q) \\ + e_{st} e_{bt} [(s - w_{\Delta})\xi_t \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0)) - p_t] - c_b (a_{bt}, X_t, \gamma_{bt}) \Big].$$
(4.4)

According to the formal QF contract, the supplier earns $w_{\Delta}[(1-\Delta)Q + \min(\Delta Q, \max(D_t - (1-\Delta)Q, 0))]$ from the wholesale payment and $s(Q - [(1-\Delta)Q + \min(\Delta Q, \max(D_t - (1-\Delta)Q, 0))])$ from salvaging leftover units. In addition, he incurs production costs of cQ. Thus, (4.3) combines the supplier's discounted expected profits from the formal QF contract with the supplier's discounted expected profits from collaboration captured in (4.1). The buyer, on the other hand, incurs costs of $w_{\Delta}[(1-\Delta)Q + \min(\Delta Q, \max(D_t - (1-\Delta)Q, 0))]$ for the wholesale payment plus goodwill costs of $g \max(0, D_t - Q)$ in case he cannot fully satisfy market demand. Moreover, he earns $r \min(Q, D_t)$ from selling the product to the market and $s \max(0, (1-\Delta)Q - D_t)$ from salvaging unsold units. Together with the discounted expected profits from collaboration specified in (4.2), this yields the buyer's cumulative discounted expected profits in (4.4).

4.2.3 Self-Enforcing Contract

In the model at hand, the buyer may promise a reduction ξ_t of his quantity flexibility and a supplementary transfer payment p_t . Typically, such informal agreements cannot be enforced by a third party. Consequently, supplier and buyer must have incentives to sustain the relational contract voluntarily or in other words: the relational contract has to be self-enforcing. This is governed by the following equations. In the given framework, a self-enforcing contract must satisfy for every period t = 1, 2, ..., public history H^t , initial state $X_t \in \mathcal{X}$, and quality level L_t :

$$0 \le E[\Pi_{st}|H^t],\tag{4.5}$$

$$0 \le E[\Pi_{bt}|H^t],\tag{4.6}$$

$$a_{st} \in \arg\max_{a} \left\{ -c_s(a, X_t, \gamma_{st}) + \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{X_t z}(a, a_{bt}) E[(w_{\Delta} - s)\xi_t \right\}$$

$$\min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0)) + p_t + \delta \Pi_{s(t+1)} | H^t, X_{t+1} = z] \Big\},$$
(4.7)

$$a_{bt} \in \arg\max_{a} \left\{ -c_b(a, X_t, \gamma_{bt}) + \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{X_t z}(a_{st}, a) \left[L(X_t, z) + E[(s - w_\Delta)\xi_t - \omega_\Delta] \right] \right\}$$

$$\min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0)) - p_t + \delta \Pi_{b(t+1)} | H^t, X_{t+1} = z] \Big] \Big\},$$
(4.8)

$$0 \leq \underbrace{(w_{\Delta} - s)\xi_t \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0)) + p_t}_{\text{benefit from informal transaction}} + \underbrace{\delta E[\Pi_{s(t+1)}|H^t, X_{t+1}, L_t]}_{\text{future profits}}, \quad (4.9)$$

$$0 \leq \underbrace{(s - w_{\Delta})\xi_t \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0)) - p_t}_{\text{loss from informal transaction}} + \underbrace{\delta E[\Pi_{b(t+1)}|H^t, X_{t+1}, L_t]}_{\text{future profits}}, \quad (4.10)$$

where $H^t = \{X_1, \dots, X_t; L_1, \dots, L_{t-1}; \tau_{s1}, \dots, \tau_{s(t-1)}; e_{s1}, \dots, e_{s(t-1)}; \tau_{b1}, \dots, \tau_{b(t-1)}; e_{b1}, \dots, e_{b(t-1)}\}$ represents the public history of the game at the beginning of period *t*. \mathcal{X} is a finite, discrete state space reflecting quality, and $P_{xz}(a_s, a_b) = Pr\{X_{t+1} = z | X_t = x; a_s, a_b\}$ denotes the probability for a transition from quality



Fig. 4.2 State transition from quality level x to quality level z in the finite, discrete state space X

state $X_t = x$ to quality state $X_{t+1} = z$, given efforts a_s and a_b . As illustrated in Fig. 4.2, these system dynamics go as follows:

- In the first period, an initial quality state is given.
- Subsequently, for every state x and every action pair (a_s, a_b) transitions to state z appear with transition probability $P_{xz}(a_s, a_b)$.

If either firm refuses to transact in period *t*, then both supplier and buyer incur zero cost, the cost benefit $L_t = 0$, and the distribution of X_{t+1} is governed by the transition matrix $P_{xz}(0,0)$. Also note that the feasible actions a_s and a_b form real intervals $A_s(x) = [\underline{a}_s(x), \overline{a}_s(x)]$ and $A_b(x) = [\underline{a}_b(x), \overline{a}_b(x)]$ for every quality state $x \in \mathcal{X}$.

According to Abreu (1988), these conditions are sufficient for a relational contract with trigger strategies to be self-enforcing. In particular, (4.5) and (4.6) guarantee positive discounted expected profits for supplier and buyer. Under the assumption that the buyer chooses action a_{bt} in the current period and that both firms stick to the relational contract for the rest of the game, (4.7) specifies that the supplier's action a_{st} maximizes the discounted expected profit. Equation (4.8) states the analogous property for the buyer's action a_{bt} . The last two inequalities (4.9) and (4.10) ensure that executing the informal transaction is more advantageous than terminating the relationship.

4.2.4 Total Expected Discounted Profit with Perfect Coordination

Sections 4.2.4, 4.2.5, and 4.2.6 treat the total expected discounted profit generated by joint effort for quality improvement. The formulae and results presented in these sections are based on work by Plambeck and Taylor (2006). First, the integrated supply chain with perfect coordination will be covered. The remainder of this chapter is devoted to the identification of an optimal relational contract in the case of a decentralized supply chain.

In the case of perfect coordination where a single agent owns and operates the supply chain, the total expected discounted profit starting from state x can be written in the form of a dynamic programming recursion:

$$\begin{split} \bar{V}(x) &= \max\left[\delta \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(0,0)\bar{V}(z); \\ \max_{a_s \in A_s(x), a_b \in A_b(x)} \{-c_s(a_s,x,\gamma_s) - c_b(a_b,x,\gamma_b) \\ &+ \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a_s,a_b)[L(x,z) + \delta \bar{V}(z)]\}\right]. \end{split}$$

We will shortly explore how this is connected to the decentralized system.

4.2.5 Total Expected Discounted Profit under an Optimal Relational Contract

We now take a closer look at the decentralized supply chain. Assume that supplier and buyer have put an optimal relational contract in place. Then, the total expected discounted profit under this relational contract is given by the following dynamic programming recursion:

$$\forall x \in \mathcal{X} \forall v : \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{R}^+$$

$$T(v)(x) = \max \left[\delta \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(0, 0) v(z); \right.$$

$$\max_{a_s \in A_s(x), a_b \in A_b(x)} \left\{ -C(a_s, a_b, v, x) \right.$$

$$\left. + \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a_s, a_b) [L(x, z) + \delta v(z)] \right\} \right]$$

$$(4.11)$$

subject to

$$V_{s}(x,z) \geq 0,$$

$$V_{b}(x,z) \geq 0,$$

$$V_{s}(x,z) + V_{b}(x,z) \leq v(z) \quad \text{for } z \in \mathcal{X},$$

$$a_{s} \in \arg \max_{a \in A_{s}(x)} \left\{ -c_{s}(a,x,\gamma_{s}) + \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a,a_{b})\delta V_{s}(x,z) \right\},$$

$$a_{b} \in \arg \max_{a \in A_{b}(x)} \left\{ -c_{b}(a,x,\gamma_{b}) + \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a_{s},a)[L(x,z) + \delta V_{b}(x,z)] \right\},$$

where

$$C(a_s, a_b, v, x) \equiv c_s(a_s, x, \gamma_s) + c_b(a_b, x, \gamma_b) + \min_{V_s, V_b} \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a_s, a_b) Pr(x, z) \delta v(z),$$
$$Pr(x, z) \equiv \frac{[v(z) - V_s(x, z) - V_b(x, z)]}{v(z)},$$

and where $V_s(x, z)$ and $V_b(x, z)$ are the portions of the total expected discounted profit starting from the next period allocated to the supplier and the buyer respectively.

Here, Tv maximizes the total discounted expected profit under a self-enforcing relational contract, i.e., on condition that each firm has an incentive to execute informal transactions. These incentives are modelled by constraints $V_s(x, z) \ge 0$ and $V_b(x, z) \ge 0$. In this connection, the cost function $C(a_s, a_b, v, x)$ captures two cost components: the direct cost of actions a_s and a_b and the expected cost of possible termination. More specifically, possible termination is characterized by the termination probability Pr(x, z). This is the probability with which the supply chain partners terminate their relationship, conditional on a state transition from quality level x to quality level z. Pr(x, z) is simply needed to allow for termination to occur with positive probability. The definition of Pr(x, z) derives from Plambeck and Taylor (2006) who also provide a detailed analysis of probabilistic termination in the context of relational contracting.

Given this representation of the total expected discounted profit, it is natural to focus on the structural properties of the operator T. We will see that this operator has useful properties that guarantee effective computation of V^* , the total expected discounted profit under an optimal relational contract, and the optimal actions for supplier and buyer as well. These important structural properties of T will be examined in the following subsection.

4.2.6 Convergence

The preceding Sect. 4.2.5 expresses the total expected discounted profit under an optimal relational contract in the form of a dynamic programming recursion. Convergence of this dynamic programming recursion is essential for effective computation of the total expected discounted profit under an optimal relational contract V^* and hence for the computation of the optimal policies for supplier and buyer.

Before going into detail, let's sketch the most important steps and results of the following analysis: Lemmas 4.1 and 4.2 together with Propositions 4.1 and 4.2 ensure that value iteration yields in the limit V^* , primarily due to the presence of a contraction mapping (see Lemma 4.2, p. 64). As stated in Proposition 4.2, the rate of convergence is determined by the discount factor δ .

We will now get granular on the individual results. As already mentioned, the operator T has a special form that permits to obtain convergence. First of all, Lemma 4.1 indicates that the operator T is isotone. We will refer to this useful property, when proving the contraction property of T in Lemma 4.2 later on:

Lemma 4.1 (T is isotone). The operator T is isotone, i.e.,

if $v_1 \ge v_2$ then $Tv_1 \ge Tv_2$.

Proof of Lemma 4.1. If $v_1 \ge v_2$, then for every $x \in \mathcal{X}$, $a_m \in A_m(x)$ and $a_b \in A_b(x)$,

$$-C(a_{s}, a_{b}, v_{1}, x) + \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a_{s}, a_{b})[L(x, z) + \delta v_{1}(x)]$$

$$\geq -C(a_{s}, a_{b}, v_{2}, x) + \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a_{s}, a_{b})[L(x, z) + \delta v_{2}(x)].$$

Hence,

$$T(v_{1})(x) = \max \left[\delta \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(0, 0) v_{1}(z); \\ \max_{a_{s} \in A_{s}(x), a_{b} \in A_{b}(x)} \{ -C(a_{s}, a_{b}, v_{1}, x) \\ + \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a_{s}, a_{b}) [L(x, z) + \delta v_{1}(z)] \} \right] \\ \ge \max \left[\delta \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(0, 0) v_{2}(z); \\ \max_{a_{s} \in A_{s}(x), a_{b} \in A_{b}(x)} \{ -C(a_{s}, a_{b}, v_{2}, x) \\ + \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a_{s}, a_{b}) [L(x, z) + \delta v_{2}(z)] \} \right] \\ = T(v_{2})(x).$$

Next, Lemma 4.1 shows that T is a contraction mapping. This contraction property will be key to establishing convergence:

Lemma 4.2 (**T** is a contraction mapping). *The operator T is a contraction mapping, i.e.,*

$$if \quad v_1 \ge v_2 \quad then \quad \rho(Tv_1, Tv_2) \le \delta\rho(v_1, v_2)$$

with $\rho(v_1, v_2) \equiv \sup_{x \in \mathcal{X}} |v_1 - v_2|.$

Proof of Lemma 4.2. Assume $v_1 \ge v_2$ and define

$$(\bar{a}_s, \bar{a}_b) \equiv \operatorname{argmax}_{(a_s, a_b) \in A_s(x) \times A_b(x)} \{-C(a_s, a_b, v_1, x) + \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a_s, a_b)[L(x, z) + \delta v_1(z)] \}.$$

Case 1. Suppose that $\forall x \in \mathcal{X}$

$$\delta \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(0,0)v_1(z) \le -C(\bar{a}_s, \bar{a}_b, v_1, x)$$
$$+ \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(\bar{a}_s, \bar{a}_b)[L(x,z) + \delta v_1(z)]\}.$$

Then $\forall x \in \mathcal{X}$

$$0 \leq Tv_{1}(x) - Tv_{2}(x) \quad (\text{since T is isotone; see Lemma 4.1})$$

$$\leq -C(\bar{a}_{s}, \bar{a}_{b}, v_{1}, x) + \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(\bar{a}_{s}, \bar{a}_{b})[L(x, z) + \delta v_{1}(z)]$$

$$= Tv_{1}(x)$$

$$-\left[-C(\bar{a}_{s}, \bar{a}_{b}, v_{2}, x) + \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(\bar{a}_{s}, \bar{a}_{b})[L(x, z) + \delta v_{2}(z)]\right]$$

$$\leq Tv_{2}(x)$$

$$= C(\bar{a}_{s}, \bar{a}_{b}, v_{2}, x) - C(\bar{a}_{s}, \bar{a}_{b}, v_{1}, x)$$

$$+\delta \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(\bar{a}_{s}, \bar{a}_{b})[v_{1}(z) - v_{2}(z)]$$

$$\leq \delta \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(\bar{a}_{s}, \bar{a}_{b}) \sup_{z \in \mathcal{X}} [v_{1}(z) - v_{2}(z)]$$

$$\leq \delta \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(\bar{a}_{s}, \bar{a}_{b}) \sup_{z \in \mathcal{X}} [v_{1}(z) - v_{2}(z)]$$

$$\leq \delta \sup_{z \in \mathcal{X}} [v_{1}(z) - v_{2}(z)].$$

Case 2. Suppose that $\forall x \in \mathcal{X}$

$$\delta \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(0,0)v_1(z) \ge -C(\bar{a}_s, \bar{a}_b, v_1, x)$$
$$+ \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(\bar{a}_s, \bar{a}_b)[L(x,z) + \delta v_1(z)]\}.$$

Then $\forall x \in \mathcal{X}$

$$0 \leq Tv_{1}(x) - Tv_{2}(x) \quad (\text{since T is isotone})$$

$$\leq \delta \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(0, 0)v_{1}(z) - \delta \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(0, 0)v_{2}(z)$$

$$= +\delta \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(0, 0)[v_{1}(z) - v_{2}(z)]$$

$$\leq \delta \sup_{z \in \mathcal{X}} [v_{1}(z) - v_{2}(z)].$$

Thus, in both cases, the following inequality holds $\forall x \in \mathcal{X}$:

$$|Tv_1(x) - Tv_2(x)| = Tv_1(x) - Tv_2(x) \quad \text{(since T is isotone)}$$

$$\leq \delta \sup_{z \in \mathcal{X}} [v_1(z) - v_2(z)]$$

$$= \delta \sup_{z \in \mathcal{X}} |v_1(z) - v_2(z)| \quad \text{(since } v_1 \ge v_2\text{).}$$

Therefore, taking the supremum over x yields

$$\rho(Tv_1 - Tv_2) = \sup_{x \in \mathcal{X}} |Tv_1(x) - Tv_2(x)|$$

$$\leq \delta \sup_{z \in \mathcal{X}} |v_1(z) - v_2(z)|$$

$$= \delta \rho(v_1, v_2).$$

The contraction property of T allows for the application of Tarski's fixed point theorem implying that T has a largest fixed point:

Proposition 4.1 (T has a largest fixed point). Existence of a largest fixed point follows from Tarski's fixed point theorem (Tarski 1955): The operator T has a largest fixed point V^* . That is,

$$V^* = TV^*,$$

and for any other fixed point V = TV, $V^*(x) \ge V(x)$ for all $x \in \mathcal{X}$. Furthermore, $V^* \in [0, \overline{V}(x)]$ for all $x \in \mathcal{X}$.

Proof of Proposition 4.1. $\overline{V}(x)$ is defined as the maximal discounted expected profit starting from state x (see Sect. 4.2.4, p. 61). Therefore, for any fixed point of T, $v(x) \in [0, \overline{V}(x)]$ holds for all $x \in \mathcal{X}$. Together with the isotonicity of T asserted by Lemma 4.1, this implies that Tarski's fixed-point theorem (Tarski 1955) is applicable, yielding that the operator T has a largest fixed point.

The following proposition states that value iteration beginning with \bar{V} , the total expected discounted profit with perfect coordination, yields in the limit V^* , the total expected discounted profit under an optimal relational contract. In addition, it specifies the rate of convergence.

Proposition 4.2 (Convergence). Value iteration beginning with \overline{V} (the total expected discounted profit with perfect coordination) converges to the optimal value function V^* :

$$V^* = \lim_{n \to \infty} T^n \bar{V}.$$

Value iteration converges geometrically to the optimal value function at the rate of the discount factor:

$$\sup_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{X}} \{T^n \bar{V}(\mathbf{x}) - V^*(\mathbf{x})\} \le \delta^n \sup_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{X}} \{\bar{V}(\mathbf{x}) - V^*(\mathbf{x})\}.$$

Proof of Proposition 4.2. In strict analogy to Plambeck and Taylor (2006), this is a proof by induction. Because T is isotone from Lemma 4.1, the following can be derived by induction:

$$T^n \bar{V} \le T^{n-1} \bar{V} \quad \text{for } n = 1, 2, \dots$$
 (4.12)

By induction on (4.12) and on the contraction property of *T* established in Lemma 4.2,

$$\rho(T^{n+1}\bar{V}, T^n\bar{V}) \leq \delta\rho(T^n\bar{V}, T^{n-1}\bar{V})$$

$$\leq \delta^n\rho(T\bar{V}, \bar{V})$$

$$\leq \delta^n ||\bar{V}||$$

$$\to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$

i.e., $T^n \overline{V}$ forms a Cauchy sequence, which has a limit

$$\hat{V} = \lim_{n \to \infty} T^n \bar{V} \tag{4.13}$$

satisfying

$$\hat{V} \le T^n \bar{V}. \tag{4.14}$$

To see that \hat{V} is a fixed point of T, choose $\epsilon > 0$ and select $N \ge 0$ such that $n \ge N$ implies $\rho(T^n \bar{V}, \hat{V}) < \epsilon/2$. Then for any $n \ge N$,

$$\begin{split} \rho(\hat{V}, T\hat{V}) &\leq \rho(\hat{V}, T^{n+1}\bar{V}) + \rho(T^{n+1}\bar{V}, T\hat{V}) \\ &\leq \frac{\epsilon}{2} + \rho(T^{n+1}\bar{V}, T\hat{V}) \\ &\leq \frac{\epsilon}{2} + \delta\rho(T^n\bar{V}, T\hat{V}) \\ &\leq \frac{\epsilon}{2} + \delta\frac{\epsilon}{2} \\ &\leq \epsilon \ , \end{split}$$

where the third inequality follows from Lemma 4.2 and inequality (4.14). Therefore we conclude that

$$\hat{V} = T\hat{V}.$$

Let V_2 denote another fixed point of T. From Proposition 4.1 $V_2 \leq \overline{V}$. Because T is isotone,

$$T^{n}\bar{V} \ge T^{n}V_{2} = V_{2} \tag{4.15}$$

for all *n*. Letting $n \to \infty$, we conclude from (4.13) and (4.15) that

$$\hat{V} \ge V_2$$

so \hat{V} must be the largest fixed point of T. That is, $\hat{V} = V^*$.

In summary, the most important results of this subsection are as follows. First, we conclude that T has a largest fixed point V^* due to the contraction property of T and with the help of Tarski's fixed point theorem. Second, one can establish that value iteration beginning with \bar{V} (the total expected discounted profit with perfect coordination) converges geometrically to V^* (the total expected discounted profit under an optimal relational contract) at the rate of the discount factor δ .

4.2.7 A Simple Optimal Relational Contract

To proceed, we introduce an optimal relational contract for the present setting. This self-enforcing contract is optimal in the sense that no other self-enforcing contract generates higher expected joint surplus. More precisely, Theorem 4.1 states two main points: First, a complete plan for the business relationship can be given. Second, a simple contract design can be determined which makes the relational contract more easily applicable in practice.

In the following theorem, for each $x \in \mathcal{X}$, $(a_s^*(x), a_b^*(x))$ denotes the optimal actions obtained by solving the dynamic programming recursion (4.11) on p. 62.

Theorem 4.1 (Simple Optimal Relational Contract). The total expected discounted profit under an optimal relational contract is $V^*(X_1)$, and a simple optimal relational contract is characterized as follows. The firms' strategies for whether or not to transact are

$$\tau_{st} = \begin{cases} \tau_s^*(X_t) & \text{if } t \leq \Psi \text{ and } e_{su} = e_{bu} = 1 \text{ for all } u < t, \\ 0 & \text{if } t > \Psi \text{ or } e_{su} e_{bu} = 0 \text{ for some } u < t; \end{cases}$$

$$\tau_{bt} = \begin{cases} \tau_b^*(X_t) & \text{if } t \leq \Psi \text{ and } e_{su} = e_{bu} = 1 \text{ for all } u < t, \\ 0 & \text{if } t > \Psi \text{ or } e_{su} e_{bu} = 0 \text{ for some } u < t. \end{cases}$$

That is, the firms terminate the relationship at the end of period $\Psi \equiv \inf\{t : L_t < F_{X_t,X_{t+1}}^{-1}(Pr^*(X_t,X_{t+1}))\}$. In each period that the firms transact, the informal transaction depends only on the observed transition to the new quality level, the cost benefit thereof, and the current demand realization. If a fraction $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ of total expected profit was agreed to be allocated to the supplier, the degree of quantity flexibility reduction and supplementary payment should be chosen as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} &(w_{\Delta} - s)\xi_{t} \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_{t}, 0)) + p_{t} \\ &= \begin{cases} [1 - Pr^{*}(X_{t}, X_{t+1})]^{-1}\delta V_{s}^{*}(X_{t}, X_{t+1}) \\ -\sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{X_{t}z}(a_{s}^{*}(X_{t}), a_{b}^{*}(X_{t}))\delta V_{s}^{*}(z) \\ +\alpha[V^{*}(X_{t}) - \delta V^{*}(X_{t+1})] + c_{st} & \text{if } L_{t} \geq F_{X_{t}, X_{t+1}}^{-1}(Pr^{*}(X_{t}, X_{t+1})), \\ 0 & \text{implying } \xi_{t} = 0, \ p_{t} = 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.16)$$

The action strategies depend only on the current quality state:

$$a_{st} = a_s^*(X_t)$$
 $a_{bt} = a_b^*(X_t)$ for $t = 1, 2, ...$

and each firm is willing to execute the informal transaction:

$$e_{st} = e_{bt} = 1$$
 for $t = 1, 2, \dots$

Proof of Theorem 4.1. The proof proceeds in three steps in the style of Plambeck and Taylor (2006). The first step compiles basic properties that have to be met by any relational contract. The second step shows that for any relational contract with these properties, there exists a simple self-enforcing variant that achieves the same total expected discounted profit. Finally, the third step establishes the simple optimal relational contract by solving the dynamic program in Sect. 4.2.5.

Step 1: Characteristics of any Optimal Relational Contract. Let o denote a relational contract with the following terms for the first period: degree of reduction of exploitable quantity flexibility ξ^o , supplementary transfer payment p^o , strategy for the supplier of $\{\tau_s^o, a_s^o\}$, and strategy for the buyer of $\{\tau_b^o, a_b^o\}$, conditional on $(X_1, X_2, L_1) = (x, z, l)$. Define V_1^o as the total expected discounted profit, conditional on $X_1 = x$:

$$V_1^o(x) = E^o[\Pi_{s1}^o + \Pi_{b1}^o | X_1 = x]$$

= $E^o \bigg[\sum_{t=1}^\infty \delta^{t-1} \tau_{st}^o \tau_{bt}^o [L_t - c_s(a_{st}^o, X_t, \gamma_{st}) - c_b(a_{bt}^o, X_t, \gamma_{bt})] | X_1 = x \bigg],$

where the notation E^o indicates that the expectation is taken with respect to the distribution induced by the relational contract. Likewise, define $V_2^o(x, z)$ as the total

expected discounted profit under the optimal relational contract starting from period 2, conditional on $(X_1, X_2) = (x, z)$.

$$V_{2}^{o}(x,z) = E^{o} \bigg[\sum_{t=2}^{\infty} \delta^{t-1} \tau_{st}^{o} \tau_{bt}^{o} [L_{t} - c_{s}(a_{st}^{o}, X_{t}, \gamma_{st}) - c_{b}(a_{bt}^{o}, X_{t}, \gamma_{bt})] | (X_{1}, X_{2}) = (x, z) \bigg]$$

To be considered as a candidate for optimality, the relational contract *o* must satisfy the following two properties.

Property 1: A necessary condition for optimality of the relational contract o is

$$V_2^o(x,z) \le V_1^o(z) \quad \forall x, z \in \mathcal{X}$$

$$(4.17)$$

because if $V_2^o(x, z) > V_1^o(z)$, the firms could achieve a strictly greater total expected discounted profit by starting with the continuation contract from period 2, rather than the initial contract for state *z*. Equation (4.17) may be a strict inequality to create incentives for action in period 1. In the case $\tau_s^o(x)\tau_h^o(x) = 0$, we will obtain

$$V_2^o(x,z) = V_1^o(z) \quad \forall x, z \in \mathcal{X}.$$

Property 2: Another necessary condition for optimality of the relational contract *o* is self-enforcement in the first period, which implies that

$$E^{o}[\Pi_{s1}^{o}|X_{1}=x] \ge 0$$
 and $E^{o}[\Pi_{b1}^{o}|X_{1}=x] \ge 0 \quad \forall x \in \mathcal{X}.$ (4.18)

And for every x such that $\tau_s^o(x) = \tau_b^o(x) = 1$ so that the firms transact in the first period, the contract must satisfy

$$a_{s}^{o} = \arg \max_{a \in A_{s}(x)} \left\{ -c_{s}(a, x, \gamma_{s1}) + \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a, a_{b}^{o}) E^{o}[(w_{\Delta} - s)\xi^{o} \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_{1}, 0)) + p^{o} + \delta \Pi_{s2}^{o} | X_{1} = x, X_{2} = z] \right\},$$
(4.19)

$$a_{b}^{o} = \arg \max_{a \in A_{b}(x)} \left\{ -c_{b}(a, x, \gamma_{b1}) + \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a_{s}^{o}, a) \left[L(x, z) + E^{o}[(s - w_{\Delta})\xi^{o} \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_{1}, 0)) - p^{o} + \delta \Pi_{b2}^{o} | X_{1} = x, X_{2} = z] \right] \right\},$$

$$(4.20)$$

$$0 \le (w_{\Delta} - s)\xi^{o}(x, z, l) \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_{1}, 0)) + p^{o}(x, z, l) + \delta E^{o}[\Pi_{s2}^{o}|(X_{1}, X_{2}, L_{1}) = (x, z, l)],$$
(4.21)

$$0 \le (s - w_{\Delta})\xi^{o}(x, z, l) \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_{1}, 0)) - p^{o}(x, z, l) + \delta E^{o}[\Pi_{b2}^{o}|(X_{1}, X_{2}, L_{1}) = (x, z, l)].$$
(4.22)

Step 2: The Equivalent Simple Relational Contract. The second step constructs a simple, self-enforcing relational contract with the same expected total discounted profit as the relational contract *o*. For this purpose define

$$Pr(x, z) \equiv [V_1^o(z) - V_2^o(z)] / V_1^o(z)$$

$$\Psi \equiv \inf\{t : L_t < F_{X_t, X_{t+1}}^{-1}(Pr(X_t, X_{t+1}))\}.$$

Now, the firms' strategies for whether or not to transact can be written as follows. For t = 1, 2, ...,

$$\tau_{st} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } t \leq \Psi, \ e_{su} = e_{bu} = 1 \text{ for } u < t \text{ and} \\ X_t \in \{x : \tau_s^o(x) = \tau_b^o(x) = 1\}, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise;} \end{cases}$$
$$\tau_{bt} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } t \leq \Psi, \ e_{su} = e_{bu} = 1 \text{ for } u < t \text{ and} \\ X_t \in \{x : \tau_s^o(x) = \tau_b^o(x) = 1\}, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Furthermore, action strategies are, for t = 1, 2, ...,

$$a_{st} = a_s^o(X_t),$$

$$a_{bt} = a_b^o(X_t).$$

The informal adaptation of the contract is $(w_{\Delta} - s)\xi_t \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0)) + p_t = 0$ if $L_t < F_{X_t, X_{t+1}}^{-1}(Pr(X_t, X_{t+1}))$, and otherwise is

$$(w_{\Delta} - s)\xi_t \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0)) + p_t$$

= $(w_{\Delta} - s)\xi(X_t, X_{t+1}) \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0)) + p(X_t, X_{t+1}),$

where for each $(x, z) \in \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{X}$,

$$(w_{\Delta} - s)\xi(x, z) \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_1, 0)) + p(x, z)$$

= $[1 - Pr(x, z)]^{-1} E^o[(w_{\Delta} - s)\xi^o \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_1, 0)) + p^o + \delta \Pi_{s2}^o | X_1 = x, X_2 = z] - \delta E^o[\Pi_{s1}^o | X_1 = z].$

From the definition of the simple relational contract, we get that

$$[1 - Pr(x, z)] \Big[(w_{\Delta} - s)\xi(x, z) \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_1, 0)) + p(x, z) + \delta E^o [\Pi_{s1}^o | X_1 = z] \Big] = E^o [(w_{\Delta} - s)\xi^o \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_1, 0)) + p^o + \delta \Pi_{s2}^o | X_1 = x, X_2 = z]$$
(4.23)

and

$$[1 - Pr(x, z)] \Big[(s - w_{\Delta})\xi(x, z) \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_1, 0)) - p(x, z) + \delta E^o [\Pi_{b1}^o | X_1 = z] \Big] = E^o [(s - w_{\Delta})\xi^o \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_1, 0)) - p^o + \delta \Pi_{b2}^o | X_1 = x, X_2 = z].$$
(4.24)

As shown by (4.23), the simple relational contract achieves the same expected discounted profit for the supplier as the relational contract o, for each initial state $X_1 \in \mathcal{X}$. Equation (4.24) states the analogous result for the buyer.

In the remainder, we will make sure that the simple relational contract is selfenforcing. The two inequalities under (4.18) imply that the simple relational contract satisfies (4.5)–(4.6). Together, (4.19) and (4.23) imply that the simple relational contract satisfies (4.7). Similarly, (4.20) and (4.24) imply that the simple relational contract satisfies (4.8). Inequality (4.21) implies

$$\delta E^{o}[\Pi_{s1}^{o}|X_{1}=z] \ge (s-w_{\Delta})\xi(x,z)\min(\Delta Q,\max(Q-D_{1},0)) - p(x,z),$$

which implies that the simple relational contract satisfies (4.9). In the same way, inequality (4.22) implies

$$\delta E^{o}[\Pi_{b1}^{o}|X_{1}=z] \ge (w_{\Delta}-s)\xi(x,z)\min(\Delta Q,\max(Q-D_{1},0)) + p(x,z),$$

which implies that the simple relational contract satisfies (4.10). Finally, since the contract satisfies (4.5)–(4.10), we demonstrate that the simple relational contract is self-enforcing.

Step 3: The Simple Optimal Relational Contract. In searching for an optimal relational contract, we can restrict attention to self-enforcing relational contracts with the simple structure described in step 2. We can also assume without loss of generality that the supplier is allocated a fraction $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ of the total expected discounted profit. Let V(z) denote the maximal total expected discounted profit that can be achieved with such a relational contract, starting in state z. Suppose that the firms will adopt this relational contract in the second period, and would like to develop an informal adaptation of the formal QF-contract, a supplementary transfer payment, action strategies for the two parties, and a termination function for the first period, that are self-enforcing and maximize expected total discounted profit. Given that the system is initially in state x, this must result in total expected discounted profit of V(x) with

$$V(x) = \max \left[\delta \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(0,0) V(z); \right]$$
$$\max_{\substack{\xi,p,P,r,a_s,a_b}} \{ -c_s(a_s, x, \gamma_s) + c_b(a_b, x, \gamma_b) + \sum_{x \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a_s, a_b) [L(x,z) + \delta[1 - Pr(x,z)] V(z)] \}$$

subject to

$$a_{s} \in \max_{a \in A_{s}(x)} \{-c_{s}(a, x, \gamma_{s}) + \sum_{x \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a, a_{b})[1 - Pr(x, z)] \\ \times [(w_{\Delta} - s)\xi(x, z) \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D, 0)) + p(x, z) + \delta \alpha V(z)]\}, \\ a_{b} \in \max_{a \in A_{b}(x)} \{-c_{b}(a, x, \gamma_{b}) + \sum_{x \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a_{s}, a) \Big[L(x, z) + [1 - Pr(x, z)] \\ \times [(s - w_{\Delta})\xi(x, z) \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D, 0)) - p(x, z) + \delta(1 - \alpha)V(z)] \Big]\},$$

$$\delta \alpha V(z) \ge (s - w_{\Delta})\xi(x, z) \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D, 0)) - p(x, z),$$

$$\delta(1 - \alpha)V(z) \ge (w_{\Delta} - s)\xi(x, z) \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D, 0)) + p(x, z)$$

$$0 \le Pr(x, z) \le 1,$$

$$TV = V$$

According to Proposition 4.1, T has a largest fixed point V^* , and therefore $V = V^*$. Hence, the optimal terms are as given in the statement of Theorem 4.1.

The relational contract presented in Theorem 4.1 is a complete plan for the buyer-supplier relationship. The intuition of the theorem is as follows: As long as the termination period Ψ is not reached, the firms transact in every period and stick to the informal agreement. That is, the buyer shifts an amount of $(w_{\Delta} - s) \xi_t \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0)) + p_t$ to the supplier, giving him a certain fraction of current surplus and compensating him for his cost of action. Their optimal policies, i.e., the optimal effort decisions a_{st} and a_{bt} , are the solutions of the dynamic programming recursion (4.11) on p. 62. Another key point here is that joint surplus can be divided in any way that respects the parties' participation constraints (via the parameter α).

Equation (4.16) shows that the buyer adjusts contractually guaranteed quantity flexibility. In contrast to spot contracting or business relationships with a finite scope, those informal adaptations become possible when there is the prospect of an ongoing business relationship. In our relational contracting framework, adaptability can be regarded as a key feature of a successful long-term buyer-supplier relationship: By adjusting the quantity flexibility to current conditions, the buyer creates incentives for action, thereby creating the prerequisites for a high performance business relationship. Hence – in contrast to spot contracting – actual contract parameters may deviate from contractually agreed ones. This may furnish an explanation why we sometimes observe contract parameters in practice that are different from those predicted by one-period contracting models.

We have seen that the relational contract terminates following poor performance. The essential role of termination is to create incentives for action. By jointly punishing the firms for low performance, the menace of termination provides the contracting parties with stronger incentives to induce effort. This way, the optimal relational contract balances the near-term benefits from opportunistic behavior against future losses resulting from termination.

One implication of Theorem 4.1 is that it may be essential for the maintenance of the relationship to allow for informal payments p_t additional to a reduction ξ_t of quantity flexibility. In fact, the flexibility introduced by quantity flexibility Δ is limited to the amount $(w_{\Delta} - s) \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0))$ per period. Without the possibility to make informal payments p_t , the business relationship may break down earlier. Namely, if the right-hand side of (4.16) exceeds the maximally exploitable quantity flexibility $(w_{\Delta} - s) \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0))$. Interpretations of the additional transfer payment p_t include buyer-specific quality training for the supplier's personnel, process capability studies, corrective action planning, exchange of personnel, direct capital investment (Carr and Pearson 1999), or information systems.

There is an interesting connection between the cost benefit from the current quality level L_t and the termination probability $Pr^*(X_t, X_{t+1})$. To understand the argument, consider Fig. 4.3 as an example. If the termination probability $Pr^*(X_t, X_{t+1})$ increases, the minimal cost benefit necessary to continue the relationship rises accordingly. This result reflects a frequently observed business reality: If a relationship does not generate high performance, expressed by a high quality level and the associated cost benefit, the relationship is more likely to break down. In this case, the continuation of the relationship necessitates higher efforts a_{st} and a_{bt} to improve performance. Minahan (1998) supports this connection. The author reports on a manufacturer and a supplier who will continue to cooperate as long as the supplier observes certain quality standards and the manufacturer pays a good price and provides sufficient volume:



Fig. 4.3 Connection between termination probability and minimal cost benefit from current quality level necessary to maintain the relationship: if the termination probability $Pr^*(X_t, X_{t+1})$ is high, the cost benefit from the current quality level L_t has to be high as well in order to continue the business relationship. [*F*: distribution function of random variable L_t with $l \rightarrow F_{L_t}(l) = P(L_t \leq l)$]

Suppliers who consistently rank poorly in quality measurement are often placed on some type of probation, which can include barring them from participating in any new business. [...] If for some reason quality improvement is not achievable with a particular supplier, PPG is free to let that supplier go.

The dynamic programming formulation in Sect. 4.2.5 opens up the possibility to extend the studied relational contract. By adding supplementary constraints, one can capture richer relational contract environments. One extension proposed by Plambeck and Taylor (2006) is to introduce renegotiation. As discussed in Sect. 3.3, p. 43, one can allow for renegotiation by making the relational contract "immune to renegotiation" (see Laffont and Tirole 1990; and Rey and Salanie 1996). Consequently, if we want to introduce renegotiation into the model, we simply have to modify the operator T such that $V_s(x,z) + V_h(x,z) = v(z)$ instead of $V_s(x,z) + V_h(x,z) = v(z)$ $V_b(x, z) \le v(z)$. Hence, introducing renegotiation into the model means that the termination probability Pr = 0. A second model extension proposed by the authors is to limit the value the firms are willing to destroy in order to punish noncooperation. If firms are willing to destroy at most a fraction $\theta(z)$ of the value that can be created in state z, this can be captured in the dynamic program by adding the constraint $V_{\delta}(x,z) + V_{h}(x,z) \ge [1 - \theta(z)]v(z)$, for $z \in \mathcal{X}$. Introducing a finite punishment length in terms of Atkins et al. (2006), however, will significantly complicate the dynamic program (Plambeck and Taylor 2006).

In Chap.6, we will analyze the optimal relational contract specified in Theorem 4.1 in more detail. Especially (4.16), which determines the informal transaction per period, will be investigated. For equivalent coordinating QF and buy-back contracts, we will show that QF and buy-back contracts differ significantly as regards the leeway they provide for informal contract adaptation and the necessity for additional transfer payments.

Chapter 5 Relational Contracts and Optimal Buy-Back Price

In Chap. 4, we considered a contracting problem where two firms interact repeatedly on the basis of a QF contract. In particular, the long-term buyer-supplier relationship was geared towards quality improvement and allowed for informal adaptations of contract parameters. The goal of the analysis was to determine an optimal relational contract specifying optimal policies for supplier and buyer. In this chapter, we shall keep the previous setup, but replace the QF contract by a buy-back contract. That is, we consider a price-based returns mechanism instead of a quantity-based one. The objectives are to identify an optimal relational contract for this setting, to examine the effect on the optimal buy-back price, and to lay the ground for the comparison of QF and buy-back contract in the context of relational contracting.

5.1 The Buy-Back Model

Consider a two-firm supply chain where supplier and buyer contract on the basis of a buy-back contract with relational aspects influencing buyer-supplier interactions. Figure 5.1 describes the sequence of events. Suppose that the two firms negotiate a formal buy-back contract at the beginning of the business relation. This long-term contract specifies that the buyer purchases Q units for the price w_b per unit at the start of the period and may return up to Q units at the end of the period for a refund of b per unit. Also note that this contract is court-enforceable. In the course of their business relationship, buyer and supplier both induce effort for quality improvement. But their efforts for quality are unobservable and uncontractible. To induce effort from the supplier's side, the buyer holds out the prospect of reducing the buy-back price. In addition, the buyer can offer a supplementary transfer payment. Unlike the parameters of the formal buy-back contract, these promises are informal and cannot be enforced by court.

During the business relationship, the stage game (i.e., steps 2-5 in Fig. 5.1) is repeated infinitely often:

- In step 2, both firms decide whether to transact in the current period.
- In step 3, the supplier produces Q units. Knowing the history of the game H^t including the current quality level X_t , supplier and buyer decide how much effort a_{st} and a_{bt} to induce for quality.



Fig. 5.1 Succession of events for the buy-back model

- In step 4, both parties observe the impact of their effort decisions, i.e., the transition to the new quality level X_{t+1} . Furthermore, they learn the associated cost benefit L_t for the buyer.
- In step 5, the buyer observes the actual demand and chooses the degree of buyback price reduction $\zeta_t \in [0, 1]$ and the amount of the supplementary transfer payment p_t .

Hence, we essentially keep the framework presented in the previous chapter, but substitute the QF contract for a buy-back contract.

Again – like in the QF framework – assume that both parties employ trigger strategies, as is standard in the Economics literature on relational contracts (Baker et al. 2001, 2002; Levin 2003). Remember that a trigger strategy is to adhere to the relational contract in every period until the other firm does not stick to its promise for the first time, and then to refuse to transact for the rest of the game. All the other model assumptions made in the QF framework apply in the buy-back model as well (see Sect. 4.1, p. 55).

5.2 Model Analysis

This paragraph is meant to give an overview of the remainder of the chapter. To begin with, the nomenclature can be found in Sect. 5.2.1. The actual model analysis starts on p. 80 and comprises the following steps. First, the discounted expected profits of supplier and buyer are given in Sect. 5.2.2. Second, conditions for self-enforcement of the relational contract are developed in Sect. 5.2.3. Then, this chapter is structured in the same way as Chap. 4, studying the firms' total expected discounted profit both in the case of perfect coordination and the case of relational contracting in a decentralized system (see Sects. 5.2.4 and 5.2.5). Again, the total expected discounted profit under an optimal relational contract can be written in

the form of a dynamic programming recursion. Convergence of this underlying dynamic programming recursion can be deduced in analogy to the QF framework (see Sect. 5.2.6). Finally, Sect. 5.2.7 presents a simple optimal relational contract for the current model. In particular, Theorem 5.1 gives the details of the relational contract. Its direct implications for the action strategies of supplier and buyer as well as immediately resulting differences to the QF framework are discussed.

5.2.1 Nomenclature

The following symbols are used to describe and analyze the buy-back model. Compared to the quantity flexibility model presented in Chap. 5, the symbols w_b and bare introduced to model the wholesale price and the buy-back price of the formal buy-back contract. In analogy to ξ_t , the reduction of quantity flexibility in period t, ζ_t now denotes the degree of buy-back price reduction in period t. Similar to the quantity flexibility model, τ_{st} , e_{st} , and a_{st} are the supplier's decision variables and τ_{bt} , e_{bt} , a_{bt} , ζ_t , and p_t are the buyer's decision variables.

| <i>t</i> : | Period |
|-----------------------------------|--|
| <i>c</i> : | Production cost |
| Q: | Production quantity |
| <i>r</i> : | Retail price |
| wb: | Wholesale price |
| <i>b</i> : | Buy-back price |
| ζ_t : | Degree of buy-back price reduction in period t |
| p_t : | Supplementary transfer payment in period t |
| δ: | Discount factor |
| D_t : | Demand realization in period t |
| <i>G</i> : | Continuous distribution of D_t |
| <i>s</i> : | Salvage value |
| g: | Goodwill cost |
| \mathcal{X} : | Finite, discrete state space reflecting quality |
| $X_t \in \mathcal{X}$: | Initial quality level in period t |
| L_t : | Buyer's cost benefit from quality transition in period t |
| F_{xz} : | Continuous distribution function of L_t with support $[\underline{l}_{xz}, \overline{l}_{xz}]$ |
| | where $\underline{l}_{xz} < \overline{l}_{xz}$ |
| L(x,z): | Expected value of L_t given $(X_t, X_{t+1}) = (x, z)$, i.e., $L(x, z) \equiv$ |
| | $E[L_t (X_t, X_{t+1}) = (x, z)] = \int_{l_{x_x}}^{\bar{l}_{x_z}} l dF_{xz}(l)$ |
| γ_{st} : | Supplier's outside option in period t |
| γ_{bt} : | Buyer's outside option in period <i>t</i> |
| a_{st} : | Supplier's effort for quality in period t |
| a_{bt} : | Buyer's effort for quality in period t |
| $c_s(a_{st}, X_t, \gamma_{st})$: | Supplier's cost from effort in period <i>t</i> |
| $c_b(a_{bt}, X_t, \gamma_{bt})$: | Buyer's cost from effort in period <i>t</i> |
| | |

$$P_{xz}(a_s, a_b) = Pr\{X_{t+1} = z | X_t = x; a_s, a_b\}$$
: Probability for a transition from
state $X_t = x$ to state $X_{t+1} = z$, given efforts a_s and a_b
 $\tau_{st}, \tau_{bt} \in \{0, 1\}$: Decision to transact in period t
 $e_{st}, e_{bt} \in \{0, 1\}$: Decision to execute the informal transaction at the end of
period t

$$H^{t} = \{X_{1}, \dots, X_{t}; L_{1}, \dots, L_{t-1}; \tau_{s1}, \dots, \tau_{s(t-1)}; e_{s1}, \dots, e_{s(t-1)}; \tau_{b1}, \dots, \tau_{b(t-1)}; e_{b1}, \dots, e_{b(t-1)}\} H^{t} \in \mathcal{X}^{t} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}^{t-1} \times \{0, 1\}^{4(t-1)} \text{ is the public history of the game at the beginning of period } t$$

5.2.2 Discounted Expected Profits

This subsection specifies discounted expected profits for supplier and buyer starting from the beginning of period T with $0 < \delta < 1$. Discounted expected profits due to collaboration for quality improvement are given as follows:

$$\Pi_{sT} = \sum_{t=T}^{\infty} \delta^{t-T} \tau_{st} \tau_{bt} \Big[e_{st} e_{bt} [\zeta_t b \max(Q - D_t, 0) + p_t] \\ -c_s(a_{st}, X_t, \gamma_{st}) \Big],$$
(5.1)

$$\Pi_{bT} = \sum_{t=T}^{\infty} \delta^{t-T} \tau_{st} \tau_{bt} \Big[L_t + e_{st} e_{bt} [-\zeta_t b \max(Q - D_t, 0) - p_t] - c_b(a_{bt}, X_t, \gamma_{bt}) \Big].$$
(5.2)

Hence, in each period t, supplier and buyer decide whether they want to transact by setting τ_{st} and τ_{bt} to zero or one. Each transaction implies costs $c_s(a_{st}, X_t, \gamma_{st})$ for the supplier and costs $c_b(a_{bt}, X_t, \gamma_{bt})$ for the buyer, contingent on the actions a_{st} and a_{bt} taken in period t, the current quality level X_t , and the current outside options γ_{st} and γ_{bt} . In each period the firms transact, the cost benefit L_t from the current quality level goes to the buyer. If both parties want to transact in period t, they can decide whether to execute the informal transaction $\zeta_t b \max(Q - D_t, 0) + p_t$ by setting e_{st} and e_{bt} to zero or one. Here, shifting $\zeta_t b \max(Q - D_t, 0)$ to the supplier means that the buyer renounces a fraction ζ_t of the contractually agreed on buy-back price. Only if both are willing to do so, the informal transaction actually takes place.

Together with the discounted expected profits from the formal buy-back contract, this yields cumulative discounted expected profits (starting from the beginning of period T) for supplier and buyer of

$$\Pi_{sT}^{cum} = \sum_{t=T}^{\infty} \delta^{t-T} \tau_{st} \tau_{bt} \Big[-c Q + w_b Q - b \max(Q - D_t, 0) \\ + e_{st} e_{bt} [\zeta_t b \max(Q - D_t, 0) + p_t] - c_s(a_{st}, X_t, \gamma_{st}) \Big], \quad (5.3)$$

$$\Pi_{bT}^{cum} = \sum_{t=T}^{\infty} \delta^{t-T} \tau_{st} \tau_{bt} \Big[L_t - w_b Q + r \min(Q, D_t) + (b+s) \max(Q - D_t, 0) \\ -g \max(D_t - Q, 0) + e_{st} e_{bt} [-\zeta_t b \max(Q - D_t, 0) - p_t] - c_b(a_{bt}, X_t, \gamma_{bt}) \Big].$$
(5.4)

Like in the QF framework, (5.3) and (5.4) combine the discounted expected profits from the formal buy-back contract with the discounted expected profits from collaboration specified by (5.1) and (5.2). In (5.3), cQ are the supplier's production costs. According to the formal buy-back contract, w_bQ is the wholesale payment and $b \max(Q - D_t, 0)$ the supplier's costs associated with units returned by the buyer. On the other hand, the buyer pays the wholesale payment w_bQ , earns $r \min(Q, D_t)$ from serving the market, incurs goodwill costs of g per unit of unsatisfied demand, and receives a payment $b \max(Q - D_t, 0)$ for unsold units from the supplier. As denoted by the term $(b + s) \max(Q - D_t, 0)$ in (5.4), it is assumed without loss of generality that the buyer still collects the salvage revenue per unit returned.

5.2.3 Self-Enforcing Contract

In the given framework, a self-enforcing contract must satisfy for every period t = 1, 2, ..., public history H^t , initial state $X_t \in \mathcal{X}$, and quality level L_t :

$$0 \le E[\Pi_{st}|H^t] , \qquad (5.5)$$

$$0 \le E[\Pi_{bt}|H^t] , \qquad (5.6)$$

$$a_{st} \in \arg\max_{a} \left\{ -c_{s}(a, X_{t}, \gamma_{st}) + \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{X_{t}z}(a, a_{bt}) E[\zeta_{t} b \max(Q - D_{t}, 0) + p_{t} + \delta \Pi_{s(t+1)} | H^{t}, X_{t+1} = z] \right\},$$
(5.7)

$$a_{bt} \in \arg\max_{a} \left\{ -c_{b}(a, X_{t}, \gamma_{bt}) + \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{X_{t}z}(a_{st}, a) \Big[L(X_{t}, z) + E[-\zeta_{t}b\max(Q - D_{t}, 0) - p_{t} + \delta\Pi_{b(t+1)}|H^{t}, X_{t+1} = z] \Big] \right\}, \quad (5.8)$$

$$0 \leq \underbrace{\xi_t b \max(Q - D_t, 0) + p_t}_{\text{benefit from informal transaction}} + \underbrace{\delta E[\Pi_{s(t+1)} | H^t, X_{t+1}, L_t]}_{\text{future profits}}, \quad (5.9)$$

$$0 \leq \underbrace{-\zeta_t b \max(Q - D_t, 0) - p_t}_{\text{loss from informal transaction}} + \underbrace{\delta E[\Pi_{b(t+1)} | H^t, X_{t+1}, L_t]}_{\text{future profits}} .$$
 (5.10)

Here, (5.5) and (5.6) assure that the firms' discounted expected profits are positive. Under the assumption that the buyer chooses action a_{bt} in the current period and that both firms stick to the relational contract for the rest of the game, (5.7) specifies that the supplier's action a_{st} maximizes the discounted expected profit. The analogous property for the buyer is stated by (5.8). Executing the informal transaction should always be more advantageous than terminating the relationship. This condition is expressed by inequalities (5.9) and (5.10).

According to Abreu (1988), these conditions are sufficient for a relational contract with trigger strategies to be self-enforcing.

5.2.4 Total Expected Discounted Profit with Perfect Coordination

In the case of perfect coordination, the total expected discounted profit from joint effort for quality improvement can be written in the form of a dynamic programming recursion. If the initial quality level is *x*, the recursion looks as follows:

$$\begin{split} \bar{V}(x) &= \max \left[\delta \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(0,0) \bar{V}(z); \\ \max_{a_s \in A_s(x), a_b \in A_b(x)} \{ -c_s(a_s,x,\gamma_s) - c_b(a_b,x,\gamma_b) \\ &+ \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a_s,a_b) [L(x,z) + \delta \bar{V}(z)] \} \right]. \end{split}$$

5.2.5 Total Expected Discounted Profit under an Optimal Relational Contract

Now, let's consider putting an optimal relational contract in place. The total expected discounted profit under an optimal relational contract is given by the following dynamic programming recursion:

$$\forall x \in \mathcal{X} \forall v : \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{R}^+$$

$$T(v)(x) = \max \left[\delta \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(0, 0) v(z); \right.$$

$$\max_{a_s \in A_s(x), a_b \in A_b(x)} \{ -C(a_s, a_b, v, x)$$

$$+ \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a_s, a_b) [L(x, z) + \delta v(z)] \} \right]$$

$$(5.11)$$

subject to

$$V_s(x,z) \ge 0 ,$$

$$V_b(x,z) \ge 0 ,$$

$$V_{s}(x,z) + V_{b}(x,z) \leq v(z) \quad \text{for } z \in \mathcal{X} ,$$

$$a_{s} \in \arg \max_{a \in A_{s}(x)} \left\{ -c_{s}(a,x,\gamma_{s}) + \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a,a_{b})\delta V_{s}(x,z) \right\} ,$$

$$a_{b} \in \arg \max_{a \in A_{b}(x)} \left\{ -c_{b}(a,x,\gamma_{b}) + \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a_{s},a)[L(x,z) + \delta V_{b}(x,z)] \right\} ,$$

where

$$C(a_s, a_b, v, x) \equiv c_s(a_s, x, \gamma_s) + c_b(a_b, x, \gamma_b) + \min_{V_s, V_b} \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a_s, a_b) Pr(x, z) \delta v(z),$$
$$Pr(x, z) \equiv \frac{[v(z) - V_s(x, z) - V_b(x, z)]}{v(z)},$$

and where $V_s(x, z)$ and $V_b(x, z)$ are the portions of the total expected discounted profit starting from the next period allocated to the supplier and the buyer respectively.

5.2.6 Convergence

The lemmas and propositions developed in Chap. 4 also apply in the buy-back setting. For the sake of completeness, we cite the core propositions constituting convergence again below.

Due to the contraction property of the operator T, Lemmas 5.1 and 5.2 together with Propositions 5.1 and 5.2 ensure that the dynamic programming recursion presented in Sect. 5.2.5 converges to V^* , the total expected discounted profit under an optimal relational contract.

Lemma 5.1 (T is isotone). The operator T is isotone, i.e.,

if
$$v_1 \ge v_2$$
 then $Tv_1 \ge Tv_2$.

Lemma 5.2 (**T** is a contraction mapping). *The operator T is a contraction mapping, i.e.,*

if
$$v_1 \ge v_2$$
 then $\rho(Tv_1, Tv_2) \le \delta\rho(v_1, v_2)$

with $\rho(v_1, v_2) \equiv \sup_{x \in \mathcal{X}} |v_1 - v_2|$.

Proposition 5.1 (T has a largest fixed point). Existence of a largest fixed point follows from Tarski's fixed point theorem (Tarski 1955): The operator T has a largest fixed point V^* . That is,

$$V^* = TV^*,$$

and for any other fixed point V = TV, $V^*(x) \ge V(x)$ for all $x \in \mathcal{X}$. Furthermore, $V^* \in [0, \overline{V}(x)]$ for all $x \in \mathcal{X}$.

Proposition 5.2 (Convergence). Value iteration beginning with \overline{V} (the total expected discounted profit with perfect coordination) converges to the optimal value function V^* :

$$V^* = \lim_{n \to \infty} T^n \bar{V}.$$

Value iteration converges geometrically to the optimal value function at the rate of the discount factor:

$$\sup_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{X}} \{T^n \bar{V}(x) - V^*(x)\} \le \delta^n \sup_{x\in\mathcal{X}} \{\bar{V}(x) - V^*(x)\}.$$

5.2.7 A Simple Optimal Relational Contract

We are now able to state the optimal relational contract in the case where the firms contract on the basis of a buy-back contract:

Theorem 5.1 (Simple Optimal Relational Contract). The total expected discounted profit under an optimal relational contract is $V^*(X_1)$, and a simple optimal relational contract is characterized as follows. The firms' strategies for whether or not to transact are

$$\tau_{st} = \begin{cases} \tau_s^*(X_t) & \text{if } t \leq \Psi \text{ and } e_{su} = e_{bu} = 1 \text{ for all } u < t, \\ 0 & \text{if } t > \Psi \text{ or } e_{su}e_{bu} = 0 \text{ for some } u < t; \end{cases}$$

$$\tau_{bt} = \begin{cases} \tau_b^*(X_t) & \text{if } t \leq \Psi \text{ and } e_{su} = e_{bu} = 1 \text{ for all } u < t, \\ 0 & \text{if } t > \Psi \text{ or } e_{su}e_{bu} = 0 \text{ for some } u < t. \end{cases}$$

That is, the firms terminate the relationship at the end of period $\Psi \equiv \inf\{t : L_t < F_{X_t,X_{t+1}}^{-1}(Pr^*(X_t,X_{t+1}))\}$. In each period that the firms transact, the informal transaction depends only on the observed transition to the new quality level, the cost benefit thereof, and the current demand realization. If a fraction $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ of total expected profit was agreed to be allocated to the supplier, the degree of buyback price reduction and supplementary payment should be chosen as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta_t b \max(Q - D_t, 0) + p_t \\ &= \begin{cases} [1 - Pr^*(X_t, X_{t+1})]^{-1} \delta V_s^*(X_t, X_{t+1}) \\ -\sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{X_t z}(a_s^*(X_t), a_b^*(X_t)) \delta V_s^*(z) \\ +\alpha [V^*(X_t) - \delta V^*(X_{t+1})] + c_{st} & \text{if } L_t \ge F_{X_t, X_{t+1}}^{-1} (Pr^*(X_t, X_{t+1})), \\ 0 & \text{implying } \zeta_t = 0, \ p_t = 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{aligned}$$
(5.12)

The action strategies depend only on the current quality state:

$$a_{st} = a_s^*(X_t)$$
 $a_{bt} = a_b^*(X_t)$ for $t = 1, 2, ...$

and each firm is willing to execute the informal transaction:

$$e_{st} = e_{bt} = 1$$
 for $t = 1, 2, ...$

Proof of Theorem 5.1. We proceed as specified in the proof of Theorem 4.1 for the QF framework, emphasizing the parts of the proof that have to be changed when considering a buy-back instead of a QF contract.

Step 1: Characteristics of any Optimal Relational Contract. This part is organized in analogy to step 1 of the proof of Theorem 4.1; only properties (4.19)–(4.22) ensuring self-enforcement of the relational contract change to

$$a_{s}^{o} = \arg \max_{a \in A_{s}(x)} \left\{ -c_{s}(a, x, \gamma_{s1}) + \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a, a_{b}^{o}) E^{o}[\zeta^{o}b \max(Q - D_{1}, 0) + p^{o} + \delta \Pi_{s2}^{o}] X_{1} = x, X_{2} = z] \right\},$$

$$\begin{aligned} a_b^o &= \arg \max_{a \in A_b(x)} \left\{ -c_b(a, x, \gamma_{b1}) \right. \\ &+ \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a_s^o, a) \Big[L(x, z) + E^o[-\zeta^o b \max(Q - D_1, 0) \\ &- p^o + \delta \Pi_{b2}^o | X_1 = x, X_2 = z] \Big] \Big\}, \\ 0 &\leq \zeta^o(x, z, l) b \max(Q - D_1, 0) + p^o(x, z, l) \\ &+ \delta E^o[\Pi_{s2}^o|(X_1, X_2, L_1) = (x, z, l)], \\ 0 &\leq -\zeta^o(x, z, l) b \max(Q - D_1, 0) - p^o(x, z, l) \\ &+ \delta E^o[\Pi_{b2}^o|(X_1, X_2, L_1) = (x, z, l)]. \end{aligned}$$

Step 2: The Equivalent Simple Relational Contract. The beginning of step 2 of the proof of Theorem 4.1 also holds in the buy-back framework. However, the informal adaptation of the contract now changes to $\zeta_t b \max(Q - D_t, 0) + p_t = 0$ if $L_t < F_{X_t, X_{t+1}}^{-1}(Pr(X_t, X_{t+1}))$, and otherwise is

$$\zeta_t b \max(Q - D_t, 0) + p_t = \zeta(X_t, X_{t+1}) b \max(Q - D_t, 0) + p(X_t, X_{t+1}),$$

where for each $(x, z) \in \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{X}$,

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta(x,z)b \max(Q-D_1,0) + p(x,z) \\ &= [1-Pr(x,z)]^{-1} E^o[\zeta^o b \max(Q-D_1,0) + p^o \\ &+ \delta \Pi_{s2}^o | X_1 = x, X_2 = z] - \delta E^o[\Pi_{s1}^o | X_1 = z]. \end{aligned}$$

Equations (4.23) and (4.24) now take the form:

$$[1 - Pr(x, z)] \Big[\zeta(x, z)b \max(Q - D_1, 0) + p(x, z) + \delta E^o[\Pi_{s1}^o | X_1 = z] \Big]$$

= $E^o[\zeta^o b \max(Q - D_1, 0) + p^o + \delta \Pi_{s2}^o | X_1 = x, X_2 = z]$

and

$$[1 - Pr(x, z)] \Big[-\zeta(x, z)b \max(Q - D_1, 0) - p(x, z) + \delta E^o [\Pi_{b_1}^o | X_1 = z] \Big]$$

= $E^o [-\zeta^o b \max(Q - D_1, 0) - p^o + \delta \Pi_{b_2}^o | X_1 = x, X_2 = z].$

Similar to the QF framework, we get

$$\delta E^{o}[\Pi_{s_{1}}^{o}|X_{1}=z] \geq -\zeta(x,z)b\max(Q-D_{1},0) - p(x,z)$$

and

$$\delta E^{o}[\Pi_{b1}^{o}|X_{1}=z] \geq \zeta(x,z)b\max(Q-D_{1},0) + p(x,z),$$

which implies that the simple relational contract satisfies (5.9) and (5.10). We conclude that the contract satisfies conditions (5.5)–(5.10), i.e., the simple relational contract is self-enforcing.

Step 3: The Simple Optimal Relational Contract. In contrast to the proof of Theorem 4.1, the dynamic program specifying the simple optimal relational contract now looks as follows:

$$V(x) = \max \left[\delta \sum_{z \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(0, 0) V(z); \right]$$
$$\max_{\xi, p, Pr, a_s, a_b} \left\{ -c_s(a_s, x, \gamma_s) + c_b(a_b, x, \gamma_b) + \sum_{x \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a_s, a_b) [L(x, z) + \delta[1 - Pr(x, z)] V(z)] \right\}$$

subject to

$$a_s \in \max_{a \in A_s(x)} \{ -c_s(a, x, \gamma_s) + \sum_{x \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a, a_b) [1 - Pr(x, z)] \\ \times [\zeta(x, z)b \max(Q - D, 0) + p(x, z) + \delta \alpha V(z)] \},$$

$$a_{b} \in \max_{a \in A_{b}(x)} \{-c_{b}(a, x, \gamma_{b}) + \sum_{x \in \mathcal{X}} P_{xz}(a_{s}, a) \Big[L(x, z) + [1 - Pr(x, z)] \\ \times [-\zeta(x, z)b \max(Q - D, 0) - p(x, z) + \delta(1 - \alpha)V(z)] \Big] \}, \\ \delta \alpha V(z) \ge -\zeta(x, z)b \max(Q - D, 0) - p(x, z), \\ \delta(1 - \alpha)V(z) \ge \zeta(x, z)b \max(Q - D, 0) + p(x, z), \\ 0 \le Pr(x, z) \le 1.$$

This is equivalent to

$$TV = V.$$

According to Proposition 5.1, we know that T has a largest fixed point V^* , and therefore $V = V^*$. Hence, the optimal terms are as given in the statement of Theorem 5.1.

As Theorem 5.1 highlights, there are a lot of similarities to the QF framework. First, as long as the termination period Ψ is not reached, the firms exert effort. That is, both firms induce effort for quality, and the buyer sticks to the informal promise of reducing the buy-back price in every period. In particular, the buyer reduces the buy-back price according to condition (5.12), voluntarily shifting an amount of $\zeta_t b \max(Q - D_t, 0) + p_t$ to the supplier in all periods $t \leq \Psi$. Again, actual contract parameters may deviate from contractually agreed ones. Like in the QF case, the optimal effort strategies a_{st} and a_{bt} for supplier and buyer are the solutions of the dynamic programming recursion (5.11) on p. 82.

Also the contract specifications regarding the cost benefit from quality improvement are alike: If the termination probability is low, the cost benefit from quality improvement does not need to be elevated to continue the relationship. In case the termination probability is high, both parties have to make greater qualityimprovement efforts to maintain the business relation. For an illustration of this connection between cost benefit from the current quality level and termination probability see Fig. 4.3 on p. 74. As previously discussed in the QF framework, joint surplus from collaboration for quality improvement can be divided in any way that respects the parties' participation constraints.

As before, it may be essential for the maintenance of the relationship to allow for informal payments p_t additional to a reduction ζ_t of buy-back price. Since the flexibility introduced by the buy-back price is limited to the amount $b \max(Q - D_t, 0)$ per period, a supplementary transfer payment may be necessary to satisfy condition (5.12).

We close our discussion of the optimal relational contract with an outlook on the following chapter. The objective of the prior discussion was to highlight immediate similarities between buy-back and QF contract in the context of relational contracting. We have seen that one can derive optimal relational contracts for both frameworks that ultimately only differ in the left-hand sides of (4.16), p. 69, and (5.12), p. 84, which specify the adaptation of actual quantity flexibility and buy-back price respectively. These differences derive from the different returns mechanisms inherent in buy-back and QF contracts. Accordingly, the next chapter will extend the comparison of the optimal relational contracts by investigating the left-hand sides of (4.16) and (5.12). The results of this analysis will be illustrated by numerical examples.

Chapter 6 QF vs. Buy-Back Contract in Buyer-Supplier Relationships

In Chaps. 4 and 5, we are able to determine optimal relational contracts in the case where repeated transactions between supplier and buyer are governed by a supply chain contract. We distinguish QF and buy-back contracts and find out that the respective relational contracts only differ in the returns mechanisms. This observation raises the question which type of contract is better with respect to relational contracting. First, we characterize how much leeway for adaptation QF and buyback contract sgrant to the supply chain parties and how the two contract types differ in this sense. Second, we analyze the implications of contract choice for the need for extra transfer payments in the course of business relationships. Finally, we illustrate by the help of numerical examples how the amount of supplementary transfer payments depends on the share of expected supply chain profit, realized demand, and market characteristics.

6.1 Construction and Analysis of Equivalent Contracts

To elaborate differences between QF and buy-back contracts in the context of relational contracting, we have to make sure that the contracts we are comparing are in a sense equivalent. This is done in Sect. 6.1.1. Later on, in Sect. 6.1.2, we use the results to contrast the leeway for contract adaptation offered by (equivalent) QF and buy-back contracts.

6.1.1 Construction of Equivalent Contracts

The objective of this subsection is to construct equivalent supply chain contracts that achieve channel coordination. Before we proceed to the actual analysis, some remarks on the notation: In this chapter, coordinating supply chain contracts are regarded as equivalent if they shift the same fraction of total expected supply chain profit to the buyer. The buyer's share will be referred to as η later on. Also recall that c stands for the production cost per unit and that r denotes the retail price per unit.

For the construction of a coordinating buy-back contract, we fall back on the well-known theorem by Pasternack (1985) in which the author characterizes a coordinating buy-back contract. The proof can be found in Pasternack (1985) as well.

Theorem 6.1 (Buyer's Share under a Coordinating Buy-Back Contract). Suppose the supplier offers $\{w_{\epsilon}, b_{\epsilon}\}$ for $0 \le \epsilon < r - c$ where

$$w_{\epsilon} = c + \epsilon$$
 and $b_{\epsilon} = \epsilon \frac{r}{r-\epsilon}$

Then the buyer orders the integrated channel quantity, i.e., $Q^* = Q^I$. The buyer profit is $\Pi_b^*(w_{\epsilon}, b_{\epsilon}) = (1 - \frac{\epsilon}{r-c})\Pi^I$, where Π^I denotes integrated system profit. The supplier profit is $\Pi_s^*(w_{\epsilon}, b_{\epsilon}) = \frac{\epsilon}{r-c}\Pi^I$.

We see from the theorem that the buyer's share of total expected supply chain profit amounts to $1 - \frac{\epsilon}{r-c}$.

We now turn to coordinating QF contracts. In order to determine a coordinating QF contract, we have to make assumptions on the demand distribution. This particularity already stated in Chap. 2 represents a main difference between coordinating buy-back and QF contracts: Whereas the demand distribution does not appear in the description of a coordinating buy-back contract, it is required in the characterization of a coordinating QF contract. Hence, it is not surprising that in contrast to the buy back, one cannot always give a simple expression for the buyer's share under a coordinating QF contract. However, the case of power function demand is feasible as illustrated in the following theorem (Lariviere 2002).

Theorem 6.2 (Buyer's Share under a Coordinating QF Contract). Let demand random variable D_k have a power function distribution with parameter k > 0. Then the integrated system profit is $\Pi_k^I = E[D_k](1 - c/r)^{1/k}$. The coordinating wholesale price is $w_{\Delta}(k) = r[1 + (1 - \Delta)^{k+1} \frac{(r-c)}{c}]^{-1}$. If the supplier offers the QF contract $\{w_{\Delta}(k), \Delta\}$, the resulting buyer profit is

$$\Pi_k^* = \frac{r}{c(1-\Delta)^{-k-1} + (r-c)} \Pi_k^I.$$

According to Theorem 6.2, the buyer's share of total expected supply chain profit can be stated as $\frac{r}{c(1-\Delta)^{-k-1}+(r-c)}$. One observes that the buyer's share is decreasing in quantity flexibility Δ and in the power function parameter k. We will make use of this result by assuming a power function distribution in our analysis.

To summarize, the buyer's share is $\eta_b = 1 - \frac{\epsilon}{r-c}$ under the coordinating buyback contract presented in Theorem 6.1 and amounts to $\eta_{\Delta} = \frac{r}{c(1-\Delta)^{-k-1}+(r-c)}$ under the coordinating QF contract of Theorem 6.2. Hence, to construct equivalent contracts, it suffices to set cost parameter *c* and retail price *r*, to make assumptions on the demand distribution, to fix the buyer's share, and then to determine the respective coordinating contract parameters of QF and buy-back contract.

6.1.2 The Leeway for Contract Adaptation: A Comparison

Having laid the foundations for constructing equivalent coordinating QF and buy-back contracts, we can calculate how much leeway for adaptation is offered by the respective contracts contingent on realized demand D_t . Here, the term *leeway* for adaptation denotes the full flexibility that the buyer has to adapt the supply chain contract.

Before we take a closer look at the formulae, let's bring together direct implications of Theorems 4.1 and 5.1 describing the optimal relational contracts in the QF and buy-back framework. Figure 6.1 illustrates the leeway for contract adaptation provided by a QF contract $\{w_{\Delta}, \Delta\}$ and a buy-back contract $\{w_b, b\}$ with production quantity Q. As regards the buy-back contract, the leeway for contract adaptation decreases linearly in realized demand D_t on the interval [0, Q]. It is at its maximum bQ, when actual demand is zero and reaches its minimum zero as soon as demand is equal to the production quantity Q. As regards the QF contract, the leeway for adaptation also decreases in realized demand, but in a non-linear manner. The leeway for contract adaptation is constant at $(w_{\Delta} - s)\Delta Q$ for $D_t \leq (1 - \Delta)Q$ and then decreases linearly until $D_t = Q$. Hence, one difference between QF and buy-back contract is that the relation between realized demand and leeway for contract adaptation is linear on the interval [0, Q] in the buy-back case and non-linear in the QF case.

Let's get back to the coordinating contracts of the previous subsection. If we compare the returns mechanisms of Theorems 4.1 and 5.1 [i.e., the left-hand sides of (4.16), p. 69, and (5.12), p. 84] for equivalent coordinating contracts, we get a clearer picture. Let's first consider the coordinating QF contract introduced in Sect. 6.1.1.



Fig. 6.1 Leeway for contract adaptation: a comparison of QF and buy-back contract

Leeway for Adaptation Under a Coordinating QF Contract

According to Theorem 4.1, the maximal leeway for adaptation of a general QF contract is $w_{\Delta} \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0))$ in period *t*. Now, let's consider the coordinating QF contract introduced in Sect. 6.1.1 and determine the associated leeway for contract adaptation L_{Δ} . Without loss of generality, assume that s = 0. If we insert the coordinating wholesale price in the expression above, we get the leeway for adaptation for the mentioned QF contract:

$$L_{\Delta} = w_{\Delta} \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0))$$

= $r \Big[1 + (1 - \Delta)^{k+1} \frac{(r - c)}{c} \Big]^{-1} \min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0)).$ (6.1)

It remains to calculate the leeway for contract adaptation for the equivalent coordinating buy-back contract.

Leeway for Adaptation Under the Equivalent Coordinating Buy-Back Contract

Assume that the parameters Δ and k of the coordinating QF contract are fixed and therewith the buyer's share of expected supply chain profit. Then the leeway for contract adaptation L_b offered by the equivalent coordinating buy-back contract can be expressed as follows:

$$L_{b} = b \max(Q - D_{t}, 0)$$

= $\epsilon \frac{r}{r - c} \max(Q - D_{t}, 0)$
= $\left[1 - \frac{r}{c(1 - \Delta)^{-k - 1} + r - c}\right] r \max(Q - D_{t}, 0).$ (6.2)

Hence, when considering coordinating supply chain contracts, the differences between QF and buy-back contract regarding the intrinsic flexibility to adapt are abounding more clearly.

For the closing analysis, we distinguish two cases. First, assume that min $(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0)) = \Delta Q$, i.e., D_t is relatively low. This implies that the right part $\max(Q - D_t, 0)$ of (6.2) is greater or equal to the right part of (6.1) amounting to $\min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0)) = \Delta Q$. This explains why – with respect to the leeway for contract adaptation – the buy-back contract is often superior to the QF contract, when realized demand D_t is relatively low.

In the second case where $\min(\Delta Q, \max(Q - D_t, 0)) = \max(Q - D_t, 0)$, i.e., where D_t is relatively high, the situation changes. We can directly determine which contract offers a greater leeway for contract adaptation by comparing the left parts of (6.1) and (6.2). If the term $r \left[1 + (1 - \Delta)^{k+1} \frac{(r-c)}{c} \right]^{-1}$ is greater than $\left[1 - \frac{r}{c(1-\Delta)^{-k-1}+r-c} \right] r$, the QF contract offers more leeway than the buy-back contract and vice versa.

We conclude that the leeway for contract adaptation decreases in realized demand D_t with outstanding differences between QF and buy-back contracts. The immediate difference between the two contract types is that the relation between realized demand and leeway for contract adaptation is linear on the interval [0, Q] in the buy-back case and non-linear in the QF case. A comparison of equivalent coordinating QF and buy-back contracts shows that the buy back tends to offer more leeway for contract adaptation than the equivalent QF contract, when realized demand D_t is relatively low. For higher values of D_t , the QF contract tends to perform better than the buy back.

6.2 Numerical Results

To illustrate how QF and buy-back contracts differ in the context of relational contracting, this section provides numerical results for a range of contract parameters and market conditions.

Equivalent coordinating contracts are constructed according to the results of Sect. 6.1.1 on p. 89. Like in Lariviere (2002), suppose that demand in market *i* for i = 1, 2 follows a power function distribution with parameter k_i and assume that $k_1 = 0.5$ and $k_2 = 2$, $G_i(x) = x^{k_i}$ for $0 \le x \le 1$. The salvage value *s* is assumed to be zero, the production cost per unit is c = 3, and the retail price is r = 8. The latter values are borrowed from Pasternack (1985).

Table 6.1 summarizes the numerical results. A look at the table reveals that Δ and k are fixed in the beginning, therewith the buyer's share η of system profit. For the resulting equivalent coordinating supply chain contracts (which both offer the same share $\eta_b = \eta_\Delta = \eta$ to the buyer), the leeway for contract adaptation is compared, depending on the actual demand realization D_t with $t \leq \Psi$.

One observes that the leeway for adaptation increases in contractually agreed on quantity flexibility Δ and decreases in the buyer's share η of total expected supply chain profit. This result is not surprising. On the one hand, if quantity flexibility is high, the flexibility to adapt is high as well. On the other hand, a QF contract induces that the firm's profit increases in the responsibility it takes for excess inventory. That is, if quantity flexibility is high, the buyer's share is correspondingly low.

Another implication is that the leeway for adaptation increases in the parameter k of the demand distribution. This connection can be directly verified on the basis of (6.1) and (6.2), describing the leeway for contract adaptation for equivalent coordinating QF and buy-back contracts.

Concerning the effect of realized demand D_t , the numerical results confirm the findings of Sect. 6.1.2. In the array where the demand realization D_t is low, the

| Δ | k | η | D_t | L_{Δ} | L_b |
|-----|-----|-------|-------|--------------|-------|
| 0.1 | 0.5 | 0.94 | 0 | 0.13 | 0.19 |
| 0.1 | 0.5 | 0.94 | 0.9Q | 0.13 | 0.02 |
| 0.1 | 2.0 | 0.88 | 0 | 0.29 | 0.77 |
| 0.1 | 2.0 | 0.88 | 0.9Q | 0.29 | 0.08 |
| 0.5 | 0.5 | 0.59 | 0 | 0.98 | 1.27 |
| 0.5 | 0.5 | 0.59 | 0.9Q | 0.20 | 0.13 |
| 0.5 | 2.0 | 0.28 | 0 | 2.62 | 4.58 |
| 0.5 | 2.0 | 0.28 | 0.9Q | 0.52 | 0.46 |
| 0.9 | 0.5 | 0.08 | 0 | 2.67 | 2.87 |
| 0.9 | 0.5 | 0.08 | 0.9Q | 0.30 | 0.30 |
| 0.9 | 2.0 | 0.003 | 0 | 5.68 | 6.31 |
| 0.9 | 2.0 | 0.003 | 0.9Q | 0.63 | 0.63 |

 Table 6.1
 Leeway for contract adaptation: QF vs. buy-back contract

 η : Buyer's share of total expected supply chain profit as guaranteed by the formal supply contract

 L_{Δ} : Leeway for contract adaptation with coordinating QF contract

 L_b : Leeway for contract adaptation with equivalent coordinating buy-back contract

buy-back contract offers more leeway than the QF contract. In the array where the demand realization D_t is high, the QF contract performs better than the buy back.

In summary, the numerical results show that the share of expected supply chain profit granted by the respective contracts, the current realization of demand, and market characteristics influence the extent of flexibility the buyer has to adapt the supply chain contract. Accordingly, the difference between QF and buy-back contract can be significant. With a parameter choice of $\Delta = 0.1$, k = 0.5, and $D_t = 0$ for instance, the leeway granted by the buy-back contract is twice as high as under the equivalent QF contract. These relationships and especially the impact on the extent of supplementary transfer payments will be described in more detail in the following subsections.

6.2.1 Impact of Buyer's Profit Share

This subsection refers to Figs. 6.2–6.7 on pp. 95 and 96. Figures 6.2–6.4 illustrate how the leeway for contract adaptation decreases in the buyer's share η of total supply chain profit and in the same way increases in quantity flexibility Δ . Figures 6.5–6.7 treat the extent of supplementary transfer payments.

Let's take a closer look at Figs. 6.2–6.4 first. While the leeway for contract adaptation is rather limited in the case where $\Delta = 0.1$ (and $\eta = 0.94$), it is much higher when $\Delta = 0.9$ (and $\eta = 0.08$). The explanation for this is rather simple, since η and Δ are directly interlinked: The buyer's share η of total expected supply chain profit increases in the responsibility he takes for excess inventory, thus decreases in quantity flexibility Δ , and: The higher the quantity flexibility, the higher the flexibility the buyer has to adapt the contract.



Fig. 6.2 Leeway for contract adaptation when Δ takes a low value ($r = 8, c = 3, k = 0.5, \Delta = 0.1$)



Fig. 6.3 Leeway for contract adaptation when Δ takes a medium value (r = 8, c = 3, k = 0.5, $\Delta = 0.5$)

As already mentioned in Sect. 6.1.2, the leeway for contract adaptation depends linearly on realized demand D_t under a buy-back contract, which is not the case under a QF contract. Another interesting observation is that the buy-back contract offers more leeway than the QF contract for small values of realized demand D_t and offers less leeway for higher values of D_t .

Let's turn to Fig. 6.5–6.7 which show the extent of the supplementary transfer payment for increasing values of quantity flexibility Δ (or similarly for decreasing


Fig. 6.4 Leeway for contract adaptation when Δ takes a high value ($r = 8, c = 3, k = 0.5, \Delta = 0.9$)



Fig. 6.5 Supplementary transfer payment when Δ takes a low value ($r = 8, c = 3, k = 0.5, \Delta = 0.1, D_t = 0$)

values of the buyer's share η). To be more precise, the abscissa depicts the adaptation claimed by the optimal relational contracts of Theorems 4.1 and 5.1. The ordinate displays the supplementary transfer payment needed under a QF contract on the one hand and the equivalent buy-back contract on the other hand.

Recall from Chaps. 4 and 5 that a supplementary transfer payment may be necessary to maintain the business relationship in the case where the flexibility provided by the QF or buy-back contract has already been fully utilized. In other words, the



Fig. 6.6 Supplementary transfer payment when Δ takes a medium value ($r = 8, c = 3, k = 0.5, \Delta = 0.5, D_t = 0$)



Fig. 6.7 Supplementary transfer payment when Δ takes a high value ($r = 8, c = 3, k = 0.5, \Delta = 0.9, D_t = 0$)

optimal relational contract calls for a nonzero supplementary transfer payment only when the required adaptation exceeds the current leeway for contract adaptation. Consistently, the figures show that the supplementary transfer payment depends on Δ and η in the following way: The extent of the supplementary transfer payment is higher in the case where quantity flexibility Δ is low, and it is lower when Δ is high. Similarly, the extent of the supplementary transfer payment is higher in the case where the buyer's share η is high, it is lower when η is low.

The discussion of the numerical examples leads to the conclusion that the buyer's share of total expected system profit has a major impact both on the leeway for contract adaptation and on the extent of the supplementary transfer payment. In the remainder of the chapter, we will address the impact of realized demand and market characteristics by means of numerical examples.

6.2.2 Impact of Realized Demand

This subsection refers to Figs. 6.8–6.10 on p. 98. Since the impact of the demand realization on the leeway for contract adaptation has already been discussed in Sect. 6.2, we will focus on the supplementary transfer payment in the case where the buyer-supplier relationship is still ongoing.

The three figures reveal that the need for a supplementary transfer payment increases according to realized demand D_t . A central purpose of this example is to illustrate that the graph moves from right to left for $D_t < Q$ with $D_t \rightarrow Q$ and finally reaches the origin for $D_t \ge Q$. In the former case, there is still leeway for contract adaptation implying that a supplementary transfer payment is not necessary at all events. In the latter case, there is no leeway for contract adaptation at all. Hence, a supplementary payment is definitely needed to continue the business relationship (as long as the adaptation required by the relational contract is non-zero, of course).



Fig. 6.8 Supplementary transfer payment when D_t takes a low value ($r = 8, c = 3, k = 2, \Delta = 0.5, D_t = 0$)



Fig. 6.9 Supplementary transfer payment when D_t takes a high value with $D_t < Q$ (r = 8, $c = 3, k = 2, \Delta = 0.5, \mathbf{D_t} = \mathbf{0.9Q}$)



Fig. 6.10 Supplementary transfer payment when D_t takes a high value with $D_t \ge Q$ (r = 8, $c = 3, k = 2, \Delta = 0.5, \mathbf{D}_t \ge \mathbf{Q}$)

6.2.3 Impact of Market Characteristics

The purpose of this subsection is to illustrate how the supplementary transfer payment depends on market characteristics. Again, suppose that demand in market *i* for i = 1, 2, 3 follows a power function distribution with parameter k_i , $G_i(x) = x^{k_i}$



Fig. 6.11 Supplementary transfer payment when k takes a low value ($r = 8, c = 3, k=0.5, \Delta = 0.9, D_t = 0$)



Fig. 6.12 Supplementary transfer payment when k takes a medium value ($r = 8, c = 3, k=1, \Delta = 0.9, D_t = 0$)

for $0 \le x \le 1$ and $k_i > 0$. Assume that $k_1 = 0.5$, $k_2 = 1$, and $k_3 = 2$. Hence we move from a small market, where demand concentrates around zero (market 1), to a bigger market, where demand concentrates around 1 (market 3).

Figures 6.11–6.13 on p. 100 demonstrate that the amount of the supplementary transfer payment decreases in the parameter k, as already suggested by (6.1)



Fig. 6.13 Supplementary transfer payment when k takes a high value ($r = 8, c = 3, k=2, \Delta = 0.9, D_t = 0$)

and (6.2), i.e., the buyer's supplementary transfer payments are greater in smaller markets and lower in bigger markets. Thus, the demand distribution the buyer is facing plays an important role with respect to the extra payments he has to grant to the supplier in order to maintain the business relationship.

6.3 Summary

We commenced this chapter with the objective to clarify which contract is better in the context of relational contracting, the QF or the buy-back contract. We observe that the algebraic analyses and the numerical studies carried out in this chapter do not advocate exclusively one type of contract in any circumstance. Instead, looking at the results of this chapter, a differentiated picture emerges. Be it the leeway for contract adaptation offered by the respective contracts or the need for supplementary transfer payments, the dimensions of these quantities do not only depend on the buyer's share of total expected supply chain profit ensured by QF and buy-back contract, but are also influenced by the actual demand realization. So, how can we support managerial decision making in this context?

First of all, the use of QF and buy-back contracts in the context of a buyersupplier relationship differs due to the different returns mechanisms. A buyer should be aware that the leeway for contract adaptation decreases linearly in realized demand in the buy-back case, whereas it decreases in a non-linear way under a QF contract. This entails that the buy back tends to offer more leeway than the QF contract when actual demand is low and that the QF contract tends to be better for higher values of the demand realization. Directly connected to the leeway for contract adaptation, the supplementary transfer payment which is necessary to maintain the buyer-supplier relationship has to be higher when the leeway for adaptation is limited and reads lower when the leeway is elevated.

The parameters of the formal supply chain contract negotiated at the beginning of the business relation have further implications on the continuity of this relationship. Assume that supplier and buyer have agreed on a coordinating supply chain contract in the beginning. Then, the amount of the buyer's share of total expected supply chain profit determined by the respective contract is crucial for the flexibility the buyer has to adapt the supply chain contract later on. For the QF contract, where the buyer's share of system profit is decreasing in quantity flexibility Δ and the market parameter k, this has the following implication: For higher values of Δ and a greater market, the buyer has more leeway for adaptation and consequently has to resort to supplementary transfer payments more rarely.

Hence, when negotiating a QF or buy-back contract, the contracting parties should already keep an eye on the compensation mechanisms required in the course of an ongoing buyer-supplier relationship. If they enter a contract where the buyer's share of expected system profit is high, this may necessitate more frequent and higher transfer payments due to the restricted leeway for contract adaptation. This is in sharp contrast to the case where the buyer's share of system profit is low.

Chapter 7 Case Study: Supplier Relationship Management at Volkswagen Group

On the occasion of the VW Group Supplier Awards in 2005, Mr. Garcia Sanz, Member of the Board of Management of Volkswagen AG responsible for procurement, honored the award winning suppliers, saying: "Partnership is a key element of our long-term strategy. In these turbulent times, the Volkswagen Group Award recognizes successful cooperation" (BNET 2005). This declaration made us curious, how Volkswagen Group manages supplier relationships. The case study at hand stems from interviews with experts in procurement at Volkswagen Group, Wolfsburg, Germany, in August 2008. Given our model approach, we were particularly interested in the management of buyer-supplier relationships, the contracts employed and the handling of quality issues. In the following, we will document Volkswagen Group's current approach to Supplier Relationship Management including the different models for supplier management.

7.1 Volkswagen Group

Volkswagen AG is a growing global corporation with eight car brands, ca. $\in 105$ billion sales revenue, over 5.7 million vehicles produced per year, ca. 325,000 employees, and 42 production facilities located in Europe, Asia, Africa, and America (Garcia Sanz 2007). Based in Wolfsburg, Germany, Volkswagen Group is Europe's largest and one of the world's leading car manufacturers: As regards sales volume, Volkswagen Group is the fourth largest automaker worldwide (2006). The purchase quota is around 60–70%.

7.2 Key Elements of Supplier Relationship Management

Volkswagen Group has developed a vision for 2015, "Together – Best in Class in Customer Value and Cost", which defines the aims, the essential elements, and the guidelines for the group's strategy in purchasing. The primary goal of this strategy is long-term maximization of customer value regarding costs, quality, and innovation.

As part of an integrated supply chain management, called "Value Net Management" at Volkswagen Group, the firm integrates suppliers more and more in the purchasing process and tries to combine its own innovation strength with suppliers to gain best results on the market. On the matrix depicted in Fig. 1.2, p. 11, the group is moving to the right (i.e. towards bargaining through technology and process analysis), which was also confirmed by our contacts at Volkswagen Group.

7.2.1 Supplier Collaboration Platform

The intensive integration of the suppliers in the core processes of the firm is effected in the form of a holistic approach concerning costs, quality, and innovation. For this purpose, dedicated platforms fostering more intensive collaboration with suppliers are established. Figure 7.1 depicts the key aspects of collaboration (Garcia Sanz 2007):

1. Cost Optimization

Supplier workshops in the scope of the "Material Costs Forum".

2. Quality Improvement

Start-up Management and a special "Supplier Quality Forum" as part of the "Quality Forum".

3. Innovative Strength

"Innovation Forum" for the brand Volkswagen and "Audi Value Management" for the brand Audi.



Fig. 7.1 Volkswagen group's supplier collaboration platform (adapted from Garcia Sanz 2007)

Through supplier workshops alone, saving potentials of over half a billion euros could be identified and have already been realized in large part. At the same time, field quality was fundamentally improved, while incidents in the production hall were halved. Currently, Volkswagen Group establishes a program named "Excellence in the Value Chain". The goal of this initiative is to achieve long-term efficiency gains for Volkswagen Group and its suppliers by simultaneously optimizing internal and external value-adding processes (Automobil-Produktion 2007).

7.2.2 Supplier Management Models

As regards supplier relationships, Volkswagen Group covers the whole range of governance modes as depicted in Fig. 1.1, p. 5. The depth of the OEM–supplier relationship depends on the complexity of the product and the structure of the supplier market. Bulk material, for instance, falls in the category of transactional procurement, while complete seats are an example for relationship-based procurement. Volkswagen Group essentially distinguishes three models of supplier management (Garcia Sanz 2007):

1. Central Control

This supplier management model is geared towards transparency and effective process control. Selection and coordination of partners is effected by the OEM. Since central control limits the leeway for suppliers, Volkswagen Group uses additional forms of supplier collaboration.

- 2. *Modularization* This model shifts more responsibility to the supplier and is supposed to shorten time-to-market processes and synergies within modules.
- 3. Strategic Partnership

The concept of strategic partnerships with suppliers is even more far-reaching. The supplier assumes extensive responsibility for development and/or value creation. Basic prerequisites for successful implementation of this model are a detailed target agreement, binding rules, and mutual trust. Since this model provokes strong dependencies between OEM and supplier, this form of collaboration is used very selectively.

7.2.3 Incentives and Breach of Trust

During the interview, we asked for the motivation to enter a strategic partnership with a supplier and how Volkswagen Group incentivizes effort and commitment from the supplier's side. The answers are summarized in Table 7.1. For both parties, the major reason for entering long-term relationships seems to be cost reduction. The supplier is incentivized through planning reliability, turnover increase, follow-up projects, and reputation building. We also asked the experts how they deal with

| Volkswagen group | Supplier |
|---|---|
| Long-term cost reduction, quality improvement and innovative strength | Long-term cost reduction, quality improvement and innovative strength |
| Sustainable supply relations in light of | Planning reliability |
| increasing supplier consolidation | Turnover increase |
| | Follow-up projects (if competitive) |
| | - Reputation (e.g., "VW Group Supplier |
| | Award") |

 Table 7.1
 Incentives for maintaining long-term buyer-supplier relationships

breach of trust from the supplier's side. Following breach of trust, a supplier may indeed be suspended from negotiations for a longer time. But it is also observed that trust can be rebuilt.

7.2.4 Contracts

At Volkswagen Group, the standard contract for production material with a contract volume of ca. €60 billion is essentially the quantity flexibility contract. The quantity flexibility contract employed allows for an adjustment of order quantity of typically 15% upwards and downwards.

Contracts are as standardized as possible, but may be supplemented with additional agreements. The leeway for contract adaptations is relatively low, because adaptations would be associated with high transaction costs. Nevertheless, price adaptations may be effected in case of increasing commodity prices. Additional to contractual agreements, the OEM may make concessions to a supplier in the context of so-called strategy meetings. The outcome of such a meeting may be the suspension of global sourcing over a certain period of time, for example.

7.2.5 Quality

As regards quality, Supplier Relationship Management follows a systematic approach. The concretion of the supplier strategy is based on key performance indicators from the departments Procurement, Technical Development, Quality and Logistics. Supplier quality rating systems, e.g. balanced scorecards, are employed. The performance of a supplier can be tracked over a certain period of time and comparisons between several suppliers are possible. Moreover, suppliers get valuable feedback via a supplier scorecard, meant to improve communication and relationship quality (Garcia Sanz 2007).

Although Volkswagen Group views quality rather as a contract parameter (whereas our model assumes that quality is uncontractible), our interviews confirmed that relationship maintenance strongly depends on the success the supplier has in delivering quality (which coincides with the results of our model approach). The supplier quality rating system supports this direct connection between quality and relationship maintenance: If a supplier gets an unacceptable quality rating for a certain site, this site will be blocked across the whole Volkswagen Group.

7.2.6 VWGroupSupply.com

Cooperation with the suppliers is enhanced by the private B2B supplier platform VWGroupSupply.com. In 2001, the portal was founded under the domain VWGroupSupply.com. It started with seven online applications. Today, more than 30 applications and many information services connect Volkswagen Group with its global suppliers. The most important components of the platform, which are used by all brands and regions of the Volkswagen Group, are "Online Catalogs", "Online Inquiries", "Online Negotiations", and "Capacity Management". That way, the Volkswagen Group already manages nearly its complete procurement volume of more than \in 72 billion via the Internet (VWGroupSupply.com 2008).

Volkswagen Group perceives the platform as "a dynamic tool that we will continually align to our needs and to those of our suppliers" (VWGroupSupply.com 2008). The overall goal is to optimize business processes to become more economic, efficient, and transparent. Main advantages of the platform are indeed bundling of all international sourcing activities, the reduction of administrative tasks, the acceleration of processes, improved planning accuracy, and improved transparency in the collaboration with the suppliers.

7.2.7 Sustainable Development

Naturally, Volkswagen Group's activities for sustainable development are part of the supplier relations. With the concept "Sustainability in Supplier Relations", the group aims at improving production and plant-related environmental and social standards together with its suppliers. Essentially, this concept resides on six pillars (Volkswagen AG 2006):

- 1. Supplier requirements for sustainability
- 2. Early detection to minimize risks
- 3. Contact point for sustainability
- 4. Monitoring and supplier development
- 5. Communication via VWGroupSupply.com
- 6. Supplier program "Priority A"

The concept involves the exchange of environmental data, certificates, and reports. Material recommendations, for instance, are incorporated in the product-related specifications for components and modules as quality standards for all parts. The supplier program "Priority A" fosters efforts for sustainability via supplier training courses, symposia, and an award for green innovations at product or plant level.

7.3 Outlook

We conclude the case study with an outlook on Volkswagen Group's future approach towards Supplier Relationship Management. According to Mr. Schmidt, Group Purchasing, Head of Department Supplier Management, SRM will continue to play a central role at Volkswagen Group. This is demonstrated by the fact that SRM is part of the group's "Strategy 2018". Mr. Schmidt especially highlights the importance of the "Innovation Forum", concept competitions, the annual supplier award, and the newly-established initiative "Excellence in the Value Chain" as key elements of SRM at Volkswagen Group.

Chapter 8 Conclusion and Outlook

A number of contracts have been identified that coordinate the supply chain in a newsvendor setting, but it is often observed that non-coordinating contracts or non-optimal contract parameters are chosen in practice. A standard argument is that complex coordinating contracts are more expensive to administer. Thus, one potentially fruitful research direction to understand contract choice better is the quantification of administration costs in practice (Cachon 2003). Another important research area is the refinement of existing models to incorporate important business realities such as long-term relationships. Those may include buyer-supplier networks, the need for renegotiation or the interaction with spot markets. Recent papers on relational contracts have investigated the interaction of formal contracts and relational aspects of an arrangement, suggesting that a relational perspective of buyer-supplier interaction may provide new insights. The model presented in this treatise puts a quantity flexibility contract between two parties in a relational contracting framework. We are able to characterize an optimal relational contract, i.e., to develop policies for supplier and buyer that structure investments in quality and flexibility in a way that no other self-enforcing contract generates higher expected joint surplus. A first observation is that the dynamics introduced by repeated interaction and joint responsibility for quality improvement may change contractually agreed parameters of the quantity flexibility contract. As long as the business relationship is still ongoing and the current quality level is sufficiently high, the buyer will incentivize the supplier to induce effort by informally offering an adaptation of contract parameters, possibly supplemented by an additional transfer payment. Hence, our game-theoretic model confirms the common observation that formal contract parameters are exposed to change, given the scope of the supply chain relationship is long-term.

This work designs buyer-supplier relationships and supply chain contracts in a way that is efficient for the whole value chain. In the light of increasing consolidation of the supplier base in many industries and the simultaneously growing emphasis on Supplier Relationship Management, our approach aims at providing insights to supply chain practice. Especially in quality-driven industries, there is a particular need to reconcile shaping a long-term supply relation with setting the right incentives. Our model provides a framework for determining optimal investments in quality and flexibility in this context, but also allows for general conclusions. In line with best practices in the automotive industry, our research shows that continuously improving performance necessitates joint commitment by supplier and buyer and underlines the importance of continuous supplier development. The model predicts that buyers will incentivize their suppliers if quality suffers, for example in the form of contract adaptations or transfer payments (Baker et al. 2001, 2002 have already emphasized that firms may shape their relational contracts through transfer payments). In the case where quality issues cannot be resolved, the relationship will be more likely to break down.

Moreover, our work shows that contract choice may have several implications on the design and continuance of buyer-supplier relationships: choosing a quantity flexibility contract or a buy-back contract may influence the leeway for contract adaptation as well as the need for supplementary transfer payments. When comparing equivalent OF and buy-back contracts, the different returns mechanisms entail that the buy back tends to offer more leeway for adaptation than the QF contract, when actual demand is low, and that the QF contract tends to be better for higher values of demand realization. Directly connected to the leeway for contract adaptation is the supplementary transfer payment necessary to maintain the buyer-supplier relationship. This additional payment will be higher when the leeway for adaptation is limited and will be lower when the leeway is elevated. In general, the contracting parties should already keep an eye on the compensation mechanisms required in the course of an ongoing buyer-supplier relationship, when negotiating a QF or buy-back contract. The buyer's share of total supply chain profit typically increases in the responsibility the firm takes for excess inventory. Hence, if the contracting parties enter a contract where the buyer's share of expected system profit is high, this may necessitate more frequent and higher transfer payments due to a restricted leeway for contract adaptation.

The approach of our model formulation is unique because it introduces supply chain contracts and demand uncertainty in the relational contracting model of Plambeck and Taylor (2006), which combines Levin's moral hazard model (Levin 2003) with Markovian dynamics. A standard simplifying assumption in these types of dynamic game-theoretic models with an infinite time horizon is that demands are independent and identical across periods. Still, it would be of interest to consider buyer-supplier relationships in an environment where stochastic properties adjust over time. Another natural extension to the model would be the introduction of inventory transitions from period to period. Our approach opens up the possibility to study numerous variations of the model by introducing additional constraints in the dynamic program, which preserve the overall structure of the optimal relational contract. In our view, the presented model is both general and sufficiently rich to demonstrate effects of relational contracting on optimal contract parameters of QF and buy-back contracts and to highlight differences of the two returns mechanisms in this context.

References

- Abreu, D. (1988): On the theory of infinitely repeated games with discounting, *Econometrica*, **56**(3), 386–396.
- Abreu, D., Pearce, D. G. (1991): A perspective on renegotiation in repeated games, in *Game Equilibrium Models II: Methods, Moral, and Markets*, edited by Reinhard Selten, Springer.
- Anupindi, R. M., Bassok, Y. (1999a): Supply contracts with quantity commitments and stochastic demand, in *Quantitative Models for Supply Chain Management*, edited by Sridhar Tayur, Ram Ganeshan and Michael Magazine, Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Anupindi, R. M., Bassok, Y. (1999b): Centralization of stocks: Retailers vs. manufacturer, Management Science, 45(2), 178–191.
- Anupindi, R. M., Bassok, Y., Zemel, E. (2001): Centralization of stocks: Retailers vs. manufacturer, Manufacturing and Service Operations Management, 3(4), 349–368.
- Atkins, D., Krishnan, H., Zhao, X. (2006): Renegotiation-proof relational contracts in supply chains, Working Paper, Sauder School of Business, University of British Columbia, Vancouver.
- Aumann, R. J. (1959): Acceptable points in general cooperative n-person games, in *Contributions to the Theory of Games*, Vol. IV, edited by Albert William Tucker and Robert Duncan Luce, Princeton University Press.
- Automobil-Produktion (2007): Auf schlanken Wegen zum Erfolg, 12, 16-20.
- Automobilwoche (2008): Unternehmen Sisyphus: Die Sanierung von BMW wird immer schwieriger – Der Einkaufschef soll's richten, Issue 12, Munich.
- Baker, G., Gibbons, R., Murphy, K. J. (1994): Subjective performance measures in optimal incentive contracts, *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 109(4), 1125–1156.
- Baker, G., Gibbons, R., Murphy, K. J. (2001): Bringing the market inside the firm?, American Economic Review, 91(2), 212–218.
- Baker, G., Gibbons, R., Murphy, K. J. (2002): Relational contracts and the theory of the firm, *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, **117**(1), 39–84.
- Barnes-Schuster, D., Bassok, Y., Anupindi, R. M. (2002): Coordination and flexibility in supply contracts with options, *Manufacturing and Service Operations Management*, 4(3), 171–207.
- Bassok, Y., Anupindi, R. M. (1997): Analysis of supply contracts with total minimum commitment, *IIE Transactions*, 29(5), 373–381.
- Bassok, Y., Anupindi, R. M. (2008): Analysis of Supply Contracts with Commitments and Flexibility, *Naval Research Logistics*, 55(5), 459–477.
- Bensaou, M., Anderson, E. (1999): Buyer-supplier relations in industrial markets: When do buyers risk making idiosyncratic investments?, *Organization Science*, 10(4), 460–481.
- Bergen, M., Dutta, S., Walker, O. C. (1992): Agency relationships in marketing: A review of the implications and applications of agency and related theories, *Journal of Marketing*, 56(3), 1–24.
- Bernstein, F., Federgruen, A. (2005): Decentralized supply chains with competing retailers under demand uncertainty, *Management Science*, **51**(1), 18–29.
- Bertsekas, D. P. (1987): Dynamic Programming: Deterministic and Stochastic Models, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey.

- Bertsekas, D. P., Castanon D. A. (1989): Adaptive aggregation methods for infinite horizon dynamic programming, *IEE Transactions*, 34(6), 589–598.
- Beschaffung aktuell (2008): *Porsche Supplier Award 2008: Zulieferer tragen Verantwortung*, Issue 5, Konradin Mediengruppe.
- Black, F., Scholes, M. (1973): The pricing of options and corporate liabilities, *Journal of Political Economy*, 81(3), 637–654.
- BNET (2005): VW Sees Suppliers as Partners, CNET Networks Inc., CBS, URL: http://www.bnet.com as at May 1, 2005.
- Bolton, P., Dewatripont, M. (2005): Contract Theory, The MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Boyaci, T., Gallego, G. (1997): *Coordination Issues in Simple Supply Chains*, Working Paper, Columbia University, New York.
- Bresnahan, T., Reiss, P. (1985): Dealer and manufacturer margins, *RAND Journal of Economics*, **16**(2), 253–268.
- Brown, M., Falk, A., Fehr E. (2004): Relational contracts and the nature of market interactions, *Econometrica*, 72(3), 747–780.
- Bull, C. (1987): The existence of self-enforcing implicit contracts, *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, **102**(1), 147–159.
- Cachon, G. P. (1999): Competitive supply chain inventory management, in *Quantitative Models for* Supply Chain Management, edited by Sridhar Tayur, Ram Ganeshan and Michael Magazine, Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Cachon, G. P., Lariviere, M. A. (2001): Contracting to assure supply: How to share demand forecasts in a supply chain, *Management Science*, 47(5), 629–646.
- Cachon, G. P. (2003): Supply chain coordination with contracts, in *Handbooks in Operations Research and Management Science: Supply Chain Management*, edited by Steve Graves and Ton de Kok, Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Cachon, G. P., Netessine, S. (2004): Game theory in supply chain analysis, in *Handbook of Quantitative Supply Chain Analysis: Modeling in the E-Business Era*, edited by David Simchi-Levi, S. David Wu and Zuo-Jun Shen, Springer.
- Cachon, G. P., Lariviere, M. A. (2005): Supply chain coordination with revenue-sharing contracts: Strengths and limitations, *Management Science*, 51(1), 30–44.
- Cachon, G. P., Terwiesch, C. (2005): Matching Supply with Demand: An Introduction to Operations Management, McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Cachon, G. P., Zhang, F. (2006): Procuring fast delivery: Sole sourcing with information asymmetry, *Management Science*, 52(6), 881–896.
- Carr, A. S., Pearson, J. N. (1999): Strategically managed buyer-supplier relationships and performance outcomes, *Journal of Operations Management*, 17(5), 497–519.
- Chen, F. (2003): Information sharing and supply chain coordination, in *Handbooks in Operations Research and Management Science: Supply Chain Management*, edited by Steve Graves and Ton de Kok, Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Chen, F. (2007): Auctioning supply contracts, Management Science, 53(10), 1562–1576.
- Cheng, F., Ettl, M., Lin, G. Y., Schwarz, M., Yao, D. D. (2008): Designing flexible supply chain contracts via options, in *Planning in the Extended Enterprise: A State of the Art Handbook*, edited by Karl G. Kempf, Pinar Keskinocak, and Reha Uzsoy, Springer.
- Connors, D., An, C., Buckley, S., Feigin, G., Levas, A., Nayak, N., Petrakian, R., Srinivasan, R. (1995): *Dynamic modeling for re-engineering supply chains*, IBM Research Report, T. J. Watson Research Center, Yorktown Heights, New York.
- Corbett, C. J., Tang, C. S. (1999): Designing supply contracts: Contract type and information asymmetry, in *Quantitative Models for Supply Chain Management*, edited by Sridhar Tayur, Ram Ganeshan and Michael Magazine, Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Corbett, C. J., Zhou, D., Tang, C. S. (2004): Designing supply contracts: Contract type and information asymmetry, *Management Science*, 50(4), 550–559.
- Crocker, K. J., Masten, S. E. (1991): Pretia ex machina? Prices and process in long-term contracts, Journal of Law and Economics, 34(1), 69–99.

- Cui, T. H., Raju, J. S., Zhang Z. J. (2007): Fairness and channel coordination, *Management Science*, 53(8), 1303–1314.
- DaimlerChrysler (2006): Increased Cooperation within DaimlerChrysler Generates Global Business Opportunities for Top Performing Suppliers, Press release, July 26, 2006, Stuttgart.
- Dana, J. D., Spier, K. E. (2001): Revenue sharing and vertical control in the video rental industry, *The Journal of Industrial Economics*, 59(3), 223–245.
- Debo, L., Sun, J. (2004): Repeatedly selling to the newsvendor in fluctuating markets: the impact of the discount factor on supply chain coordination, Working Paper, Carnegie Mellon University.
- Dolan, R., Frey, J. B. (1987): Quantity discounts: Managerial issues and research opportunities/commentary/reply, *Marketing Science*, 6(1), 1–24.
- Donohue, K. (2000): Efficient supply contracts for fashion goods with forecast updating and two production modes, *Management Science*, **46**(11), 1397–1411.
- Dyer, J. H. (1996): Specialized supplier networks as a source of competitive advantage: Evidence from the auto industry, *Strategic Management Journal*, **17**(4), 271–291.
- ECR Europe (2008): *Jointly Agreed Growth (JAG)*, Study in cooperation with McKinsey & Company, URL: http://www.ecrnet.org as at July 1, 2008.
- Emmons, H., Gilbert, S. (1998): Returns policies in pricing and inventory decisions for catalogue goods, *Management Science*, 44(2), 276–283.
- Farlow, D., Schmidt, G., Tsay, A. (1996): Supplier Management at Sun Microsystems, Case Study, Stanford University Graduate School of Business, Harvard Business School Cases.
- Friedman, J. W. (1986): Game Theory with Applications to Economics, Oxford University Press.
- Fudenberg, D., Tirole J. (1991): Game Theory, The MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Gambetta, D. (1988): Can we trust trust?, in *Trust: Making and Breaking Cooperative Relations*, edited by Diego Gambetta, Basil Blackwell, New York.
- Garcia Sanz, F. J. (2007): Ganzheitliche Beschaffungsstrategie als Gestaltungsrahmen der globalen Netzwerkintegration in der Automobilindustrie, in Die Automobilindustrie auf dem Weg zur globalen Netzwerkkompetenz: Effiziente und flexible Supply Chains erfolgreich gestalten, edited by Francisco J. Garcia Sanz, Klaus Semmler and Johannes Walther, Springer.
- Gerchak, Y., Cho, R. K., Ray, S. (2006): Coordination of quantity and shelf-retention timing of video movie rentals, *IIE Transactions*, 38(7), 525–536.
- Gibbons, R. (1992): Game Theory for Applied Economists, Princeton University Press.
- Gibbons, R. (1997): An introduction to applicable game theory, *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, **11**(1), 127–149.
- Gibbons, R. (2005): Incentives between firms (and within), Management Science, 51(1), 2–17.
- Gibbons, R. (2008): Relational contracts, in *Corporate Strategy and Extended Enterprises*, MBA Course 15.903, Sloan School of Management, MIT, URL: http://web.mit.edu/rgibbons/www/LN_2_Relational_Contracts.pdf as at February 1, 2008.
- Global Commerce Initiative (GCI) (2006): 2016: The Future Value Chain, Study in cooperation with Capgemini and Intel, URL: http://www.gci-net.org as at February 1, 2008.
- Grey, W., Olavson, T., Shi, D. (2005): The role of e-marketplaces in relationship-based supply chains: A survey, *IBM Systems Journal*, 44(1), 109–123.
- Grossman, S. J., Hart, O. (1986): The costs and benefits of ownership: A theory of vertical and lateral integration, *Journal of Political Economy*, 94(4), 691–719.
- Håkansson, H. (ed.) (1982): International Marketing and Purchasing of Industrial Goods. An Interaction Approach, edited by the IMP Group, John Wiley and Sons, New York.
- Handfield, R. (2006): Supply Market Intelligence: A Managerial Handbook for Building Sourcing Strategies, APICS Series on Resource Management, Auerbach Publications.
- Heide, J. B. (1994): Interorganizational governance in marketing channels, *Journal of Marketing*, **58**(1), 71–85.
- Helper, S. (1991): Strategy and irreversibility in supplier relations: The case of the US automobile industry, *Business History Review*, 65(4), 781–824.
- Huchzermeier, A., Loch, C. H. (2001): Project management under risk: Using the real options approach to evaluate flexibility in R&D, *Management Science*, 47(1), 85–101.
- Hull, J. C. (2008): Options, Futures, and Other Derivatives, 7th ed., Prentice Hall, New York.

- Ireland, R., Bruce, R. (2000): CPFR: Only the beginning of collaboration, Supply Chain Management Review, 4(4), 80–88.
- Jacoby, D. (2005): *The New Face of Purchasing*, edited by The Economist Intelligence Unit, London, UK.
- Jaillet, P., Ronn, E. I., Tompaidis S. (2004): Valuation of commodity-based swing options, *Mana-gement Science*, 50(7), 909–921.
- Jeuland, A. P., Shugan, S. M. (1983): Managing channel profits, *Marketing Science*, 2(2), 239–272.
- Kamrad, B., Siddique, A. (2004): Supply contracts, profit sharing, switching, and reaction options, *Management Science*, **50**(1), 64–82.
- Kandel, E. (1996): The right to return, Journal of Law and Economics, 39(1), 329-356.
- Katz, M. L. (1989): Vertical contractual relations, in *Handbook of Industrial Organization*, Vol. I, edited by Richard Schmalensee and Robert D. Willig, Elsevier, New York.
- Kester, W. C. (1984): Today's options for tomorrow's growth, *Harvard Business Review*, 62(2), 153–160.
- Klein, B., Leffler, K. B. (1981): The role of market forces in assuring contractual performance, *Journal of Political Economy*, 89(4), 615–641.
- Klein, B. (1996): Why holdups occur: The self-enforcing range of contractual relationships, *Economic Inquiry*, 34(3), 444–463.
- Klein, B. (2002): The role of incomplete contracts in self-enforcing relationships, in *The Economics of Contracts: Theories and Applications*, edited by Eric Brousseau and Jean-Michel Glachant, Cambridge University Press.
- Kleindorfer, P. R., Wu, D. J. (2003): Integrating long- and short-term contracting via businessto-business exchanges for capital-intensive technologies, *Management Science*, 49(11), 1597–1615.
- Kranton, R. E., Minehart, D. F. (2001): A theory of buyer-seller networks, American Economic Review, 91(3), 485–508.
- Kreps, D. (1990): Corporate Culture and Economic Theory, in *Perspectives on Positive Political Economy*, edited by J. Alt and K. Shepsle, Cambridge University Press.
- Krishnan, H., Kapuscinski, R., Butz, D. (2004): Coordinating contracts for decentralized supply chains with retailer promotional effort, *Management Science*, **50**(1), 48–63.
- Kuhn, H. W. (1953): Extensive games and the problem of information, in *Contributions to the Theory of Games*, Vol. II, edited by Harold William Kuhn and Albert William Tucker, Princeton University Press.
- Laffont, J. J., Tirole, J. (1990): Adverse selection and renegotiation in procurement, *Review of Economic Studies*, 57(4), 597–625.
- Lafontaine, F., Slade, M. E. (2001): Incentive contracting and the franchising decision, in *Game Theory and Business Applications*, edited by Kalyan Chatterjee and William F. Samuelson, Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Lariviere, M. A. (1999): Supply chain contracting and coordination with stochastic demand, in *Quantitative Models for Supply Chain Management*, edited by Sridhar Tayur, Ram Ganeshan and Michael Magazine, Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Lariviere, M. A., Porteus, E. L. (2001): Selling to the newsvendor: An analysis of price-only contracts, *Manufacturing and Service Operations Management*, 3(4), 293–305.
- Lariviere, M. A. (2002): Inducing forecast revelation through restricted returns, Working Paper, Northwestern University, URL: http://www.kellogg.northwestern.edu/faculty/lariviere/research/ForecastRevelation.htm as at February 1, 2008.
- Lariviere, M. A. (2006): A note on probability distributions with increasing generalized failure rates, *Operations Research*, 54(3), 602–604.
- Lee, H. (1987): A multi-echelon inventory model for repairable items with emergency lateral transshipments, *Management Science*, **33**(10), 1302–1316.
- Lee, H., Padmanabhan, P., Whang S. (1997): The bullwhip effect in supply chains, *Sloan Management Review*, 38(3), 93–102.
- Lee, H., Padmanabhan, P., Taylor, T., Whang S. (2000): Price protection in the personal computer industry, *Management Science*, 46(4), 467–482.

- Lee, H., Whang, S. (2002): The impact of the secondary market on the supply chain, *Management Science*, **48**(6), 719–731.
- Lee, H. (2004): The triple-a supply chain, Harvard Business Review, 82(10), 102-113.
- Lee, H., Duda, S., James, L., Mackwani, Z., Munoz, R., Volk, D. (2007): Starbucks Corporation: Building a Sustainable Supply Chain, Case Study, Stanford University Graduate School of Business, Harvard Business School Cases.
- Levin, J. (2003): Relational incentive contracts, The American Economic Review, 93(3), 835–857.
- Lewicki, R. J., Bunker, B. B. (1996): Developing and maintaining trust in work relationships, in *Trust in Organizations: Frontiers of Theory and Research*, edited by Roderick Moreland Kramer and Tom R. Tyler, Sage Publications, London, UK.
- Li, Z. G., Dant, R. P. (1997): An exploratory study of exclusive dealing in channel relationships, Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 25(3), 201–213.
- Li, C., Kouvelis, P. (1999): Flexible and risk-sharing supply contracts under price uncertainty, Management Science, 45(10), 1378–1398.
- Li, L., Whang, S. (2001): Game theory models in operations management and information systems, in *Game Theory and Business Applications*, edited by Kalyan Chatterjee and Larry Samuelson, Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Liker, J. K., Fruin, M., Adler, P. S. (1999): Remade in America: Transplanting and Transforming Japanese Management Systems, Oxford University Press.
- Liker, J. K., Hoseus, M. (2008): Toyota Culture, McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Lovejoy, W. S. (1999): Integrated Operations, Southwestern College Publishing, Cincinatti, OH.
- MacLeod, W. B., Malcomson, J. M. (1988): Purchasing needs to do more than measure, *Purchasing*, 124(1), 59–63.
- MacNeil, I. R. (1978): Contracts: Adjustment of long-term economic relations under classical, neoclassical, and relational contract law, *Northwestern University Law Review*, 72(6), 854–905.
- Magee, J. F., Boodman, D. M. (1967): Production Planning and Inventory Control, McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Martínez-de-Albéniz, V., and Simchi-Levi, D. (2007): Competition in the Supply Option Market, Working Paper, IESE Business School, University of Navarra, URL: http://wwwapp.iese.edu/ research/res_detail2.asp?ident=8334&fuente=2&lang=en&langDoc=I as at February 1, 2008.
- Marvel, H. P., Peck, J. (1995): Demand uncertainty and returns policies, *International Economic Review*, 36(3), 691–714.
- Masten, S. E., Crocker K. J. (1985): Efficient adaptation in long-term contracts: Take-or-pay provisions for natural gas, *American Economic Review*, 75(5), 1083–1093.
- Mathewson, G. F., Winter, R. A. (1984): An economic theory of vertical restraints, RAND Journal of Economics, 15(1), 27–38.
- McEvily, B., Perrone, V., Zaheer A. (2003): Trust as an organizing principle, *Organization Science*, 14(1), 91–103.
- McIvor, R. T., Humphreys, P. K., McAleer, W. E. (1998): European car makers and their suppliers: Changes at the interface, *European Business Review*, **98**(2), 87–99.
- Mercer Management Consulting and Fraunhofer IPA (2004): Future Automotive Industry Structure (FAST) 2015 – die neue Arbeitsteilung in der Automobilindustrie, Materialien zur Automobilindustrie 32, Verband der Automobilindustrie, Frankfurt am Main.
- Milner, J. M., Kouvelis, P. (2007): Inventory, speculation, and sourcing strategies in the presence of online exchanges, *Manufacturing and Service Operations Management*, 9(3), 312–331.
- Minahan, T. (1998): Purchasing needs to do more than measure, *Purchasing*, **124**(1), 59–63.
- Mitra, S., Singhal, V. (2008): Suply chain integration and shareholder value: Evidence from consortium based industry exchanges, *Journal of Operations Management*, 26(1), 96–114.
- Monzka, R., Trent, R., Handfield, R. (2005): Purchasing and Supply Chain Management, 3rd ed., South-Western, Thomson, USA.
- Moorthy, K. S. (1987): Managing channel profits: Comment, Marketing Science, 6(4), 375–379.
- Mortimer, J. H. (2008): Vertical contracts in the video rental industry, *The Review of Economic Studies*, **75**(1), 165–199.

Nahmias, S. (2008): Production and Operations Analysis, 6th ed., McGraw-Hill, New York.

- Narayanan, V. G., Raman, A. (2004): Aligning incentives in supply chains, *Harvard Business Review*, 82(11), 94–103.
- Nash, J. F. (1950): Equilibrium points in n-person games, Proceedings of National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 36(1), 48–49.
- Nishiguchi, T. (1994): *Strategic Industrial Sourcing: The Japanese Advantage*, Oxford University Press.
- Padmanabhan, V., Png, I. P. L. (1995): Returns policies: Make money by making good, *Sloan Management Review*, 37(1), 65–72.
- Padmanabhan, V., Png, I. P. L. (1997): Manufacturer's returns policy and retail competition, *Marketing Science*, 16(1), 81–94.
- Pasternack, B. A. (1985): Optimal pricing and return policies for perishable commodities, *Marketing Science*, 4(2), 166–176.
- Pasternack, B. A. (2002): Using revenue sharing to achieve channel coordination for a newsboy type inventory model, *Supply Chain Management: Models, Applications and Research Directions*, edited by Joseph Geunes, Panos M. Pardalos and H. Edwin Romeijn, Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Perakis, G., Roels, G. (2007): The price of anarchy in supply chains: Quantifying the efficiency of price-only contracts, *Management Science*, 53(8), 1249–1268.
- Plambeck, E. L., Zenios, S. A. (2000): Performance-based incentives in a dynamic principal-agent model, *Manufacturing and Service Operations Management*, 2(3), 204–263.
- Plambeck, E. L., Taylor, T. A. (2006): Partnership in a dynamic production system with unobservable actions and noncontractible output, *Management Science*, 52(10), 1509–1527.
- Plambeck, E. L., Taylor, T. A. (2007a): Implications of breach remedy and renegotiation design for innovation and capacity, *Management Science*, 53(12), 1859–1871.
- Plambeck, E. L., Taylor, T. A. (2007b): Implications of renegotiation for optimal contract flexibility and investment, *Management Science*, 53(12), 1872–1886.
- Ren, Z. J., Cohen, M. A., Ho, T. H., Terwiesch, C. (2006): Sharing forecast information in a long-term supply chain relationship: The role of customer review strategy, Working Paper, University of Pennsylvania, URL: http://faculty.haas.berkeley.edu/hoteck/PAPERS/Ren.pdf as at June 1, 2008.
- Reuters (2008): Bose Automotive Systems Division Awarded 2008 Supplier of the Year by Porsche AG, Thomson Reuters, URL: http://www.reuters.com/article/pressRelease/idUS157799+25--Apr-2008+BW20080425 as at April 25, 2008.
- Rey, P., Salanie, P. (1996): On the value of commitment with asymmetric information, *Econometrica*, 64(6), 1395–1414.
- Ring, P. S., van de Ven, A. H. (1994): Developmental processes of cooperative interorganizational relationships, *The Academy of Marketing Review*, **19**(1), 90–118.
- Ro, Y. K., Liker, J. K., Fixson, S. K. (2008): Evolving models of supplier involvement in design: The deterioration of the Japanese model in U.S. auto, *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, 55(2), 359–377.
- Rode, J. (2008): Metro will Zusammenarbeit mit mehr System, Lebensmittel Zeitung, May 22, 2008.
- Rotter, J. B. (1967): A new scale for the measurement of trust, *Journal of Personality*, **35**, 651–665.
- Rudi, N., Kapur, S., Pyke, D. (2001): A two-location inventory model with transshipment and local decision making, *Management Science*, 47(12), 1668–1680.
- Schramm-Klein, H., Morschett, D. (2006): International supplier relationship management: From transactional to relational purchasing, in *Strategic Management New Rules for Old Europe*, edited by Christian Scholz and Joachim Zentes, Gabler, Wiesbaden.
- Schweitzer, M. E., Hershey, J. C., Bradlow, E. T. (2006): Promises and Lies: Restoring Violated Trust, Working Paper, Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania, URL: http://knowledge.wharton.upenn.edu/papers/1321.pdf as at September 1, 2008.
- Selten, R. (1965): Spieltheoretische Behandlung eines Oligopolmodells mit Nachfrageträgheit, Zeitschrift für die gesamte Staatswissenschaft, **121**(2), 301–324.

- Shapiro, C., Stiglitz, J. E. (1984): Equilibrium unemployment as a worker discipline device, American Economic Review, 74(3), 433–444.
- Shapiro, C. (1985): Towards effective supplier management: International comparisons, Harvard Business School Working Paper 9-785-062.
- Shubik, M. (1962): Incentives, decentralized control, the assignment of joint costs and internal pricing, *Management Science*, 8(2), 325–343.
- Silver, E. A., Pyke, D. F., Peterson, R. (1998): *Inventory Management and Production Planning and Scheduling*, John Wiley and Sons, New York.
- Slobodow, B., Abdullah, O., Babuschak, W. C. (2008): When supplier partnerships aren't, *Sloan Management Review*, 42(2), 77–83.
- Spekman, R. E., Kamauff, J. W., Myhr, N. (1998): An empirical investigation into supply chain managment: A perspective on partnerships, *International Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics*, 28(8), 630–650.
- Spengler, J. J. (1950): Vertical integration and antitrust policy, *Journal of Political Economy*, 58, 347–352.
- Spinler, S. (2003): Capacity Reservation for Capital-Intensive Technologies: An Options Approach, Springer.
- Tagaras, G., Cohen, M. A. (1992): Pooling in two-location inventory systems with non-negligible replenishment lead times, *Management Science*, 38(8), 1067–1083.
- Tarski, A. (1955): A lattice-theoretical fixpoint theorem and its applications, *Pacific Journal of Mathematics*, 5, 285–309.
- Taylor, T. (2001): Channel coordination under price protection, midlife returns and end-of-life returns in dynamic markets, *Management Science*, **47**(9), 1220–1234.
- Taylor, T. (2002): Supply chain coordination under channel rebates with sales effort effects, *Management Science*, 48(8), 992–1007.
- Taylor, T. A., Plambeck, E. L. (2007a): Simple relational contracts to motivate capacity investment: Price only vs. price and quantity, *Manufacturing and Service Operations Management*, 9(1), 94–113.
- Taylor, T. A., Plambeck, E. L. (2007b): Supply chain relationships and contracts: The impact of repeated interaction on capacity investment and procurement, *Management Science*, 53(10), 1577–1593.
- Terwiesch, C., Ren, Z. J., Ho, T. H., Cohen, M. A. (2005): An empirical analysis of forecast sharing in the semiconductor equipment supply chain, *Management Science*, 51(2), 208–220.
- The Boston Consulting Group (2004): Beyond Cost Reduction: Reinventing the Automotive OEM-Supplier Interface, Study, URL: http://www.bcg.com as at July 1, 2008.
- The Boston Consulting Group (2007): Getting to Win-Win: How Toyota Creates and Sustains Best-Practice Supplier Relationships, Study, URL: http://www.bcg.com as at July 1, 2008.
- Thomson, V., Manjappa, S., Sánchez Del Angel, C., Shan, Z., Zhao, Y. (2008): Supply Chain of the Future, Research Paper, McGill, URL: http://www.mcgill.ca/files/mmm/SupplyChain-Future.pdf as at March 1, 2008.
- Tirole, J. (1990): *The Theory of Industrial Organization*, The MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Tomlin, B. (2003): Capacity investments in supply chains: Sharing the gain rather than sharing the pain, *Manufacturing and Service Operations Management*, **5**(4), 317–333.
- Trigeorgis, L. (1995): *Real Options in Capital Investments Models, Strategies, and Applications,* Praeger, Westport (Conn.).
- Tsay, A. A. (1999): The quantity flexibility contract and supplier-customer incentives, *Management Science*, 45(10), 1339–1358.
- Tsay, A. A., Lovejoy, W. (1999a): Quantity flexibility contracts and supply chain performance, Manufacturing and Service Operations Management, 1(2), 89–111.
- Tsay, A. A., Nahmias, S., Agrawal, N. (1999b): Modeling supply chain contracts: A review, in *Quantitative Models for Supply Chain Management*, edited by Sridhar Tayur, Ram Ganeshan and Michael Magazine, Kluwer Academic Publishers.

- Tunca, T. I., Zenios, S. A. (2006): Supply auctions and relational contracts for procurement, Manufacturing and Service Operations Management, 8(1), 43–67.
- van Ackere, A. (1993): The principal/agent paradigm: Its relevance to various functional fields, *European Journal of Operations Research*, **70**(1), 83–103.
- van Doorn, J., Verhoef, P. C. (2008): Critical incidents and the impact of satisfaction on customer share, *Journal of Marketing*, 72(4), 123–142.
- Vickrey, W. (1961): Counterspeculation, auctions, and competitive sealed tenders, *The Journal of Finance*, **16**(1), 8–37.
- Volkswagen AG (2006): Sustainability in Supplier Relations, Group Research, Environment, URL: http://www.volkswagenag.com as at July 1, 2008.
- von Neumann, J., Morgenstern, O. (1944): *Theory of Games and Economic Behavior*, Princeton University Press.
- VWGroupSupply.com (2008): B2B Supplier Platform, Web site, URL: http://www.vwgroupsupply.com as at September 9, 2008.
- Whang, S. (1995): Coordination in operations: A taxonomy, *Journal of Operations Management*, 12, 413–422.
- Williamson, O. E. (1985): *The Economic Institutions of Capitalism: Firms, Markets, Relational Contracting*, The Free Press, New York.
- Williamson, O. E. (1993): Opportunism and its critics, Managerial and Decision Economics, 14(2), 97–107.
- Wilson, R. (1993): Nonlinear Pricing, Oxford University Press.
- Wu, D. J., Kleindorfer, P. R., Zhang, J. (2002): Optimal bidding and contracting strategies for capital-intensive goods, *European Journal of Operational Research*, 137(3), 657–676.
- Zhu, K., Zhang, R. Q., Tsung, F., (2007): Pushing quality improvement along supply chains, Management Science, 53(3), 421–436.

Index

A

adaptability, 1 administrative costs, 25 adversarial approach, 4, 13 allocation rules, 22 arm's-length negotiation, 4 auctions, 44 automotive industry, 7, 10

B

Big Three, 12 BMW, 11 buy-back contract, 27, 32, 33, 77, 84, 87, 90 buyer-supplier networks, 43 buyer-supplier partnership, 4 buyer-supplier relationship, 3

С

central control, 105 channel coordination, 21 collaboration, 4, 55, 59, 104 collaborative business planning, 8 consumer goods industry, 8 contract adaptation, 73, 87, 89, 91, 101 cooperation, 4 coordination, 4 cost sharing, 6 court-enforcement, 2

D

DaimlerChrysler, 10 discrete exchange, 4 double marginalization, 20 DP algorithm, 51 dynamic game, 50, 57 dynamic programming, 50 deterministic, 51 stochastic, 51

Е

e-marketplace, 16, 44 electronics industry, 7 enforceability, 2 exchange episodes, 4

F

Ford, 12 formal contract, 1, 35 franchise contract, 30

G

game theory, 46, 49 global sourcing, 16 GM, 12

H

high-tech industries, 7 history of the game, 48, 58 Honda, 12

I

incentives, 5, 73, 105 incomplete contract, 40 Incomplete Contract Theory, 39 infinite horizon dynamic program, 52, 57, 62, 82 infinitely repeated game, 47, 50 information asymmetry, 20 information sharing, 8, 20, 44 innovation, 7, 8, 16, 104

J

Johnson & Johnson, 9 joint planning, 4 Jointly Agreed Growth, 8

L

linear pricing, 22

M

market characteristics, 99 market governance, 4 Markov decision process, 50 Markov game, 50 Metro Group, 9 minimum purchase commitment, 22 modularization, 105

N

new adversarial approach, 4 newsvendor model, 23 non-market governance, 4

0

OEM, 10 open market negotiation, 4 outsourcing, 19

P

partnership programs, 16 Excellence in the Value Chain, 105 Partner Process Optimization, 12 Supplier Cost Reduction Effort, 13 Supplier Relationship & Collaboration Management Program, 9 Supplier Relationship Management Program, 9 Team Value Management, 12 performance measurement, 9 Porsche, 11 price pressure, 12 price-discount contract, 30 pricing, 22 Principal Agent Theory, 39 procurement relational, 3, 7 transactional, 3 product development, 7 PSA Peugeot Citroën, 12 punishment, 38, 74

Q

quality, 16, 42, 56, 61, 74, 78, 106 quality improvement, 2, 74, 87, 104 quantity discount contract, 29 quantity flexibility contract, 28, 31, 33, 55, 68, 73, 90, 106

R

relational contract, 1, 35, 43, 56, 68, 77, 84 relational exchange, 4 relationship, 4 Renault, 12 renegotiation, 43, 45, 75 repeated game, 39, 47 returns mechanism, 2, 33 revenue-sharing contract, 27 rewards, 6 risk reduction, 5 risk sharing, 21

S

sales-rebate contract, 29 self-enforcement, 35, 60 semiconductors industry, 7 stage game, 47 Starbucks Corporation, 9 strategic partnership, 105 strategy, 48 supplier base, 6 supplier consolidation, 7, 15, 106 Supplier Relationship Management, 8, 103 supply chain centralized, 19 contracts, 20 coordination, 19, 25, 89 decentralized, 19 integrated, 19 integration, 4 profit, 25 structure, 21 Supply Chain Management, 19, 43, 49 supply options, 30 sustainability, 9, 107

Т

technology sharing, 4 termination, 69, 74, 84 Toyota, 12, 14 Transaction Cost Economics, 39 Index

transaction costs, 6 transfer payment, 56, 74, 77, 101 transition matrix, 60 trigger strategy, 37, 45, 48, 61 trust, 5, 106 trust game, 36 two-part tariff, 30 two-way scorecard, 9 V Volkswagen, 12, 103 VWGroupSupply.com, 107

\mathbf{W}

wholesale price contract, 26, 43